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LIAPIS, etal., vs

KENNETH CALLAHAN, D.D.S

ADELE CARAVELLA, et al.

1 3
1 IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS °l T
2 CUYAHOGA COUNTY, OHIO 2 (Thereupon, Plaintiff's Exhibit 1
3 MARIE LIAPIS, et al., 3 Notice of Deposition Duces Tecum, was mark’d for
4 Plaintiffs, 4 purposes of identification.)
"JUDGE GALLAGHER
5 -V§- CASE NO. 254818 5 0T
6 ADELE CARAVELLA, et al., [ MS. McCARTHY Puton recordthat a
7 Defendants. i notice of deposition with duces tecum was
8 TTT 3 issued to Dr. Callahan through counsel, Bill
9 Deposition of KENNETH R. CALLAHAN, D.D.S., ] Rider, which requested the doctor to produce
10 taken as if upon cross-examination before Sandra 13 a number of items, 1through 6, attached to
11 L. Mazzola, a Registered Professional Reporter 11 the notice, including all 1099'’s for a
12 and Notary Public within and for the State of 12 variety of insurance companies, journals,
13 Ohio, at the offices of Kenneth R. Callahan, 13 calendars and that kind of thing, and that
14 D.D.S., 21100 Southgate Park Boulevard, Suite 14 they weren'‘t produced today and they are not
15 212, Maple Heights, Ohio, at 4:05 p.m. on Monday, 15 going to be produced and that no other
16 January 19,1998, pursuantto notice and/or 16 reason was given for their non-production.
17 stipulations of counsel, on behalf of the 17 Would that be fair?
18 Plaintiffs in this cause. 1a MR. RIDER: I'll give the reason
19 .- 19 that they are not being produced. They're
20 20 not being produced for several reasons. One
BARBERIC &ASSOCIATES, INC. .
21 COURT REPO 21 reason IS some records requested do not
14237 DETROIT AVENUE, SUITE THREE . R
22 CLEVELAND OHIO 44107 22 exist. Another reason is some of the
21.% 221-1970
23 FAX (216) 221-9171 23 records requested can not be located because
24 24 they’re comingled with other records of the
25 25 same nature.
2 4
1 APPEARANCES: 1 Another reason is that they can not readily
2 Ellen M. McCarthy, Es 2 be produced and certainly, if they were
Nurenberg Plevin, Heller & McCarthy .
3 F37?|9nta”° Street 3 available, they couldn‘t have been produced
irs - . .
4 Cleveland, Ohio 44113 4 within the time frame of the discovery
(216) 621-2300, - . .
5 . 5 deposition since lgot the notice of
On behalf of the Plaintiffs; .
6 6 deposition duces tecum on Thursday and lwas
William R. Rider, Esq. S . .
7 gaw Ofgces of Finchard J. Hartman 7 intrial on Friday and we are here taking
uit
a 113 St. Clair Bmldm? a the doctor’s discovery deposition on
Cleveland, Ohio 44114
9 (216) 771-3336, 9 Monday.
10 On behalf of the Defendant 10 And finally, perhaps most importantly,
Richard Harkins; .
11 11 had I hadthe opportunity, lwould have
Thomas J. Downs, Es ) . .
12 Lakeside Place - Sulte 410 12 filed a motion for protective order anyway
323 Lakeside Avenue, West . .
13 Cleveland, Ohio 44113 13 because | believe the request is really
14 (216) 6231155, 14 simply for the purposes of ann
oyance,
On behalf of the Defendant Py ) purp y
15 Adele Caravella. 15 oppression --
16 16 MS. McCARTHY: And harassment?
17 17 MR. RIDER: And harassment, thank
18 18 you. And Iwas unable to file the motion
19 19 for protective order because | was in fact
20 20 intrial on Friday and the Courts were
21 21 closed on Monday.
22 22 MS. McCARTHY Which ones are not
23 23 available and which ones do not exist?
24 24 MR. RIDER: 1099’'s may exist, but
25 25 are comingled with other 1099's for patients
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5 7
1 who may have had insurance with the carriers 1 dentists who send me patients.
2 who you request. Those that don’t exist at 2 Q. Any other way they find you outside of the
3 all - No. 1, and 2, are comingled with all 3 medicolegal context?
4 other payments from insurance companies for 4 A Patients speak well of our treatments and they
5 patients that the doctor sees andtreats. 5 refer other friends or relatives or other
6 The doctor’s library is available if you 6 patients to the office.
7 want to look at the medical texts that are 7 Q. Doyou diagnose patients with disorders of the
8 contained therein. Office calendars do not 8 temporomandibular joint?
9 exist. They are destroyed at the end of the 9 A ldo.
10 year. There are no copies of reports or 0 Q. Do you treat those patients whom you diagnose
11 depositions from medical examinations 1 with TMJ disorders?
12 requested in No. 5. The doctor has no list 2 A. Onoccasion | will treat patients. Otherwise |
13 of other cases in which he’s testified, 3 will direct treatment.
14 which you requested in No. 6. 4 Q. What does direct treatment mean?
15 MS. McCARTHY Okay. Will you swear 5 A. That means | will send them to a doctor close by
16 the doctor? 6 here in the same building for a bite splint, or
17 KENNETH R. CALLAHAN, D.D.S., of lawful 7 if they require surgery, Iwill take them to
18 age, called by the Plaintiffs for the purpose of 8 University Hospital where | practice and have
19 cross-examination, as provided by the Rules of 9 that surgery done bythe head of the department
20 Civil Procedure, being by me first duly sworn, as '0 there.
21 hereinafter certified, deposed and said as 1 Q. And who isthat?
22 follows: 2 A Dr. Goldberg.
23 CROSS-EXAMINATION OF KENNETHR. CALLAHAN, D.D.S. '3 Q. And what is his first name?
24 BY MS. McCARTHY 4 A Gerald.
25 Q. Doctor, my name is Ellen McCarthy, and | along ’5 Q. When you do treat patients on occasion whom you
6 a
1 with Leon Plevin represent Mrs. Liapis in this 1 diagnose with temporomandibular joint disorders,
2 case. I'm here for the purposes of determining 2 under what circumstances do you provide them
3 what yaur opinions are with respectto 3 treatment?
4 Mrs. Liapis and the basis of each of those 4 A Ifit's amild disorder that can be treated with
5 opinions, especially the ones you intend on 5 medicines and habit control and diet control.
6 discussing at the time of trial. 6 Q. Do you send your patients who need surgical
7 If 1ask you a question which you don’t 7 managementstrictly to Dr. Goldberg or do you
8 understand, stop me, tell me, and I'll rephrase 8 send themto any other place?
9 the question so that is clear to you. Okay? 9 A Oh, occasionally Dr. Hauser.
10 A Yes. 10 Q. Dr. Michael Hauser?
11 Q. Ifyou answer one of my questions, | will assume 11 A Uh-huh.
12 you understood it and I will rely on the answer {2 Q. And he s at Mt. Sinai?
13  thatyou provided in the trial of this case, is {3 A Uh-huh.
14 that clear to you? 14 Q. Isthat ayes?
15 A Yes. 15 A Yes.
16 Q. Where do you practice your profession? 16 Q. Sowould it be fair to say that you personally
17 A Southgate Medical Arts Building in Maple Heights, 7 know Dr. Hauser?
18 Ohio. 18 A. Yes.
19 Q. And what is your profession? 19 Q. And do you know him byway of his involvement in
20 A Oral and maxillofacial surgery. 20 various organizations which you participate in?
21 Q. Howlong have you been engaged inthat practice? >t A. Yes.
22 A Fortyyears. 2 Q. What is his reputation as an oral and
23 Q How do patients find you for treatment or 23 maxillofacial surgeon inthis community?
24 evaluation outside of the medicolegal context? 24 A | think he has afine reputation, Ms. McCarthy.
25 A Well, I have a referral base among physicians and %5 Q. Is he qualified to diagnose and treat
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1 temporomandibular joint disorders? 1 which is temporomandibular joint disorder.
2 A Yes. 2 Q. And when you say the clinic, you are referringto
3 Q. And inthe pasthe has performed surgery on 3 what?
4 patients of yours, is that fair? 4 A. The Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Clinic at Case
5 A. He has operated On patients of mine, perhaps not 5 Western Reserve University School of Dentistry.
6 through direct referral by me, but perhaps by my 6 Q. Do you have privileges at any of the other
7 partner. W hospitals?
8 Q. Andthat's Dr. Bell? 8 A l|do.
9 A Dr. Bell 8 Q. Okay. Where s that?
10 Q. Doyou performsurgeryon temporomandibular 10 A. Privileges at University. Ibringa primary
11 joints? 11 number of cases there. Also at Marymountwhere |
12 A. Notany longer, Ms. McCarthy. Although Idid for 12 see trauma cases. At South Pointe I have
13 manyyears. | was one of the primary pioneers in 13 privileges and occasionally at Bedford.
14 TMJ surgery inthe late '50's. 14 Q. Doyou lecture to any other individuals outside
15 Q. When was the last time before May 1993that you 15 of medical students about temporomandibular joint
16 performed surgery on the temporomandibular joints 16 management?
17 as the lead surgeon as opposedto as an assistant 17 A No, but Idon‘t know who else would be interested
18 physician? 18 in that.
19 A On, it's been manyyears. | don‘t know how long. 19 Q. Well, | suppose insurance representatives and
20 Q. Wouldthat be inthe 1960's? 20 defense lawyers may be interested in that type of
21 A. Perhaps. 21 thing. Have you had occasion to lecture to those
22 Q. Canyouthink of anytime inthe 1970’s when you 22 individuals?
23 performed surgery on the temporomandibular joints 23 A Iputonaseminar out at Colorado Springs. |
24 as anything other than an assistant surgeon? 24 was one -- excuse me. 1 didn‘t puton a
25 A. No. 25 seminar. lwas one of the participants in a
10 12
1 Q. Do youteach in a classroom setting about the 1 seminar. And that was for attorneys.
2 surgical management of temporomandibular joint 2 Q. And when was that?
3 disorders? 3 A. Thatwas in July of 1992 at the Broadmoor.
4 A lteach ina clinic setting about 4 Q. Andwas that at the invitation of some individual
5 temporomandibular joint disorders. 5 or company?
6 Q. Sowould that be the surgical management? 6 A Invitation from a group of attorneys, but I'm
7 A Surgical management. 7 sorry, | can not remember what they are -- it had
8 Q. Andwhen you say -- 8 an acronym. lcould probablygo look itup if
9 A Management generally. Not specifically surgical, 9 you want.
10 no. 10 Q. Haveyou ever published inthe area of TMD
11 Q. Would it be fair to say that there are two ways 11  diagnosis?
12 to manage it, clinically and surgically? 12 A Well, to that group | did. Otherwise, no.
13 A. Yes. 13 Q. When you say to that group, would that be an
14 Q. Allright. Soyou don't getinvolvedinthe 14 outline that you published in a textbook that was
15  classroomteaching of the surgical management of 15 used or some sort of handout that was used for
16 temporomandibular joint disorders? 16 purposes of that seminar?
17 A. Thatis correct. 17 A. Syllabus, yes.
18 Q. Butyou do getinvolvedin a clinical setting 18 Q. And ldon’twant to mix up terms when I'm
19 with the management of TMJ disorders, is that 19 referring to TMJ and TMD, but for my purposes
20 correct? 20 when | say TMD, Imeantemporomandibular joint
21 A Yes, with students when I’'m asked. 21 dysfunction.
22 Q. How does that work? 22 A Yes.
23 A. We have discussions in the clinic in the morning 23 Q. As opposed to TMJ which is just the joint itself,
24 when | teach and the students come and bring 24 correct?
25 questions about a varied number of things, one of 25 A Samething as saying like, The patient has knee.
221-1970 BARBERIC & ASSOCIATES Page 9 to Page /2
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Yes, of course, it's TMD. TMD is what I'd rather
it be called.

Q. All right. Have you ever diagnosed a patient of
yours with traumatically-induced internal
derangement of the temporomandibular joint in the
absence of direct trauma to the head, face or
jaw?

A. Ican notthink of having ever done so.

Q. Can a person sustain a whiplash type of injury
without direct trauma to the head, face or jaw
and develop temporomandibular joint disorder as a
result?

A Myview is in the lack of very high speed
collision, no.

Q. And very high speed meanswhat?

A. More than 70 miles an hour. More than 60 miles
an hour perhaps.

Q. Have you reviewed some articles or some data or
materials that indicate that a speed lower than
60 with no direct trauma will not produce any
kind of internal derangement or dysfunction to
the temporomandibular joint?

A. lhave.

Q. Canyou refer me to atext that published such a
statement or such aview?

14

A. 1will refer you to the March 1995 Journal of
Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, authors Howard,
et al., who ran a number of experiments using
live dummies -- and that is really the correct
term --who were involved in moving vehicle
accidents and they measured the impact at the
joint.

Q. And determined what?

A. That that impact is less than the stress put on
the joint in the normal act of chewing.

Q. The impact at what speed?

A. Produced in the absence of cuts, lacerations,
bruising, in the absence of a direct injury.

Q. Well, I'mtalking about, you made a statement
that you needed a very high speed in order to
produce an internal derangement. |s that your
statement?

A. Yes, because at high speed you are bound to
strike something on the inside of the automobile.

Q. Would that be true inthe presence of an air bag?

A. Well, Idon’t know. ldon’t have any experience
with air bags. ldon’t know of any reading
materials on air bags. Idon’t know.

Q. ljust want to understand what your opinion is in
terms of awhiplash type injury where there’s no

© 0O N O R WN R
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15
directtrauma. And when | say directtrauma, I'm
talking about the head, the jaw andthe face.

A. It is myview that in the absence of direct
trauma, whiplash injuries, while they may produce
cervical, flexion-extension injuries do not
produce temporomandibular joint injuries.

Q. Soto phrase it another way, an individual who
sustains awhiplash type injurywithout direct
traumato the head, jaw or face can not develop
traumatically-induced internal derangement of the
temporomandibular joint?

A Thatis correct.

Q. Haveyou ever seen literature to the contrary?

A. lhave.

Q. Tell mewhere you've seen it.

A. Only place where I have seen such literature is
in articles which Isuspect are advocational,
literature by an advocate.

Q. Advocate of what?

A Of a particular view.

Q. Okay. Have you ever seen any of those articles
appear in the Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial
Surgery?

A. lcan not remember one.

Q. Do you subscribe to that journal?

16

A. ldo.

Q. And would it be fair to say that for a number of
years you have been a subscriber and reader of
that journal?

A. Yes. Thereis one that was by LaPointe. That
was in the August 1986 or ‘87, I'm not sure. |
think inthe 1987journal. Inwhich it cited 28
whiplash injuries that produced flexion-extension
injury. LaPointe and Weinberg. However, they
were all reported within a short period of time
after the report at the emergency room.

Q. Well, when you say flexion-extension injury, |
assume you are talking about the neck, or are you
talking about something else?

A. Whiplash which producesjaw injury.

Q. Now, did Mrs. Liapis have TMD prior to the first
automobile accident that is at issue in this
case?

A. lbelieve she did.

Q. Did she have internal derangement of the disks
prior to the first accident that is the subject
of that lawsuit?

A. We don’t know that, Ms. McCarthy, because nobody
examined her for TMD.

Q. When did the TMD develop?

Page 13 o Page 16
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1 A. Well, | suspectthat developed back in 1986 after 1 Q. Haveyou seen any dental records that were
2 her first accident. 2 generated prior to May of 1993 which indicated
3 Q. Andwhy do you say that? 3 shewas making any complaints of TMD?
4 A. Becauseshe had maxillary pain at that time. 3 A No.
5 Q. And maxillary pain is what? 5 Q. Are there génerally récognized ¢aises of TMD?
6 A. Paininthe maxilla, the upper jaw. 6 A Thereare. ‘
7 Q. kityour belief that the cause of her TMD in 7 Q. What are they?
8 1986 was the automobile accident on, | think it 8 A Thereis a common belief among authors and
9 was -- | don‘t know what date. Some time in 9 lecturers on the subject that TMD arises
10 '86. 13 primarilyfrom €tréss, externil stresses and
11 MR. DOWNS: Labor Day of ‘86, 11 social stresses, which prodiic¢e a parafinctional
12 think itwas. 12 habit of bruxing and clenching.
13 Q. Okay. 13 Q. isthatit?
14 A. |don’t know what caused it. |think -- 14 A. Oh, there are a number of other habits that can
15 Q. Does it have any -- excuse me. ldon’t want to 15 produces chronic temporomandibul&f diserder.
16 interrupt you. 16 Q. And what are those?
17 A Ithink it had - it also has to do with, as 17 A Gum chewing, hand --chin to shoulder telephone
18 Dr. Betor pointed out, the osteoarthritic 18 conversations, singing, violin playing, and
19 changes. Butasto what causedit, | don’t know. 19 occasionally sudden uncontrolled traumatic
20 Q. Didthe 1986 automobile accident have any 20 injuries such as a sneeze or a sudden
21 relationship to the development of TMD at that 21 uncontrolled yawn, & number of things; opening
22 time? 22 too wide to eat a sub sandwich are some of the
23 A. | suspectitdid. 23 things that set it off.
24 Q. Andwhy do you say that? 24 Q. Anything else that causes TMD?
25 A. Because she struck her face. 25 A. Directinjuries to the jaws.
18 20
1 Q. What did she strike her face on? 1 Q. Anything else?
2 A ldon't know. It's inthe record. 2 A No.
3 Q. What happened in that collision? 3 Q. Arethere generally recognized symptoms of TMD?
4 MR. RIDER: Ifyou recall. 4 A. There are.
5 A {don‘t. 5 Q. And what are those?
6 Q. What speeds were the vehicles going at that time? 6 A Ithurtsto open. Ithurtsinthe ear. Patients
7 A ldon't know. 7 have headaches. They have painto chew. Facial
8 Q. Was itarear-end collision? 8 pain. Tinnitus.
9 A I'msorry. Ms. McCarthy, I've only seen this 9 Q. kthatringinginthe ears?
10 report very recently. | don’t know whether it 10 A Yes.
11 was a rear-end collision or not. 11 Q Anything else?
12 Q. When did you see the report? 12 A There are subset symptoms, hurtsto yawn, hurts
13 A Today. 13 to laugh, not always present. Hurts to open very
14 Q. Would it be fair to say that you reviewed those 14 wide.
15 records within a half hour or an hour of my 15 Q. Anything else?
16 appearing here today for your deposition? 16 A Inthe cluster of symptoms, if the other symptoms
17 A That's correct. 17 or a number of those others that belong in the
18 Q. And in spite of that, you can’t recall on what 18 cluster are present, clicking can be an added
19 she struck her face, what caused the accident or 19 symptom, but clicking by itself is not
20 the speeds of the vehicles involved? 20 pathognomonic for TMD.
21 MR. RIDER: Objection. It's notin 21 Q. Anything else?
22 spite of that. It’sbecause of that. 22 A No.
23 Q. Whattreatment did she have as aresult of her 23 Q. How about popping?
24 maxillary pain at that time? 24 A, lthink clicking and popping fall under the same
25 A lhave noidea. 25 aegis, Ms. McCarthy.
221-1970 BARBERIC & ASSOCIATES Page 17 to Page 20
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Q. I'm sorry? Fall under the same aegis, is that
what you said?

A Yes.

Q. So you can have popping, but you can have the
other symptoms that you have listed, including
facial pain, complaints of pain inthe ears,
headaches pain on chewing or tinnitus?

A Or asignificant number of those. Noteveryone
has all the symptoms.

Q. Sure. Could a person have clicking and one of
the six cluster symptoms that you gave me and
have TMD?

A. That's too nebulous a question to answer. |
don't know.

Q. Let me ask you this way, doctor. Can a person
have clicking, audible clicking and, say, ear
pain and be symptomatic of TMD?

A. Clicking and ear pain?

Q. Right.

A. Yes.

Q. Can a person have clicking and facial pain and
have TMD?

A Yes.

Q. Have you reviewed Dr. Betor's records?

A Yes. Therewasn't much inthere.

22

Q. Okay. So canyou and | agree that there's no
reference in Dr. Betor's prior records, at least
those generated before May 1993, that indicate
that she had any of the generally recognized
symptoms of TMD?

A Yes.

Q. DidDr. Betor misdiagnose Mrs. Liapis?

A. No.

Q. Ifyou believe Mrs. Liapis had TMD prior to May
of 1993 and Dr. Betor treated her for the three
years prior to that, how did he fail to recognize
this disease entity?

A. Perhaps she did not complain about those symptoms
at thattime to him.

Q. Are you an expert in disorders of the
temporomandibular joint?

A. Ms. McCarthy, there are no experts in this area.
There are those of us who read a lot and studya
lot, but Idoubt if anyone is really an expert
because there's so much still to be learned.

Q. Would it be fair to say that you do not consider
yourself to be an expert in the surgical
management of temporomandibular joint disorders?

A. lhave been, but I no longer am. Isimply don't
want to stand at a table for seven, six hours at

23
1 atime.
Q. Do you know Dr. James Moodt?
A. ldo.
Q. And how do you know him?

= ow N

A. I have met him on occasion and I know of his
work, and he doubtless knows of mywork.

Q. What is his reputation in the dental community?

A Fine reputation.

Q Is he qualified to diagnose and conservatively
manage temporomandibular joint dysfunction?

A Yes.

Q. Youwrote a report inthis case dated November7?

A. Thatis correct.

Q. Didyou write any other reports?

A. No.

Q. Andthat is a seven-page report, is that correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. What records did you have prior to writing this
report or at the time you wrote this report?

A. Ihad avoluminous set of charts, progress notes,
narrative letters and dental records, all of

N B O © 00 N o 0o WN pp O ww N w u

which pertained to Miss Liapis, including my own
3 panorex x-rays.

'4 Q. Well, specifically, what records did you have at
'5 the time or just before you wrote this report?

24

A. The records and narrative reports of Dr. James
Moodt, the Fairview General Hospital emergency
room report.

Q. Datedwhen?

A. 5-9-93. The medical charts of physician Fitch,
the personality assessment of psychologist Robert
Goldberg.

Q. When isthat dated?

A. 7-2-87. Charts of St. John's West Shore

10 Hospital, 7-24-87; more charts that come from St.

11 John West Shore which are partially illegible.

2 Q. Canyoutell the date from those?

© 00 N O 0o~ WDN B

A | can not. Physicaltherapist report from
1] Fairview Hospital, including myriad numbers of
visit entries.
16 Q. Over what period of time?
I7 A lbelieve it's the middle of '93 through '94. A
18 narrative letter from Richard Betor, B-E-T-O-R,
19 D.D.S.
Q. What's the date of that?
1 A August 16, 1993. And the dental records from
2 Dr. Betor dated from 3-22-90 until 5-20-94;
3 reports from a weight loss clinic.
4 Q. Datedwhen?
%5 A I'msorry. | don't havethe date for those. St.
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John's West Shore.

Q. Thatwould bethe weight loss clinic from St.
John West Shore?

A Yes. Areportof Michael Hauser.

Q. Datedwhen?

A 11-10-94.

Q. I'mjust interested in what you had before you
wrote your November 7, 1994 report.

© 0o N O N WN R

A. There is no reports since that time except the
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one which we previously touched on.
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Q. You meanthe Southwest General records?

A. Yes.

Q. Well, Dr. Hauser's report is dated November 10th
of '94. Your report is dated November 7th of
'94.

A. Well, that is a fax copy so perhaps that was sent

e I
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to me prior to my letter, but perhaps itwas sent

=
(o]

after my letter, neither one of which | know.

=
©

Then there are some radiologic

N
o

interpretations from Plaza South One.

Q. Datedwhen?

A. 11-19-93. Reports from Health South, which
believe is also physical therapy.

NN NN
A W N B

Q. Over what period of time?
A Itappears to be in the middle of 1994.

N
4]

26

1 Q. bthatit?
2 A Itmay not be, Ms. McCarthy, if you can wait for
3 a minute. And an MRI report April 1994 for the
4 TM joints. Thatisitas far as | can tell.
5 Q. Soyou did not havethe office notes of
6 Dr. Hauser, is that correct?
7 A |didnothavethe office notes of Dr. Hauser.
8 Q. Haveyou ever received the office notes of

9 Dr. Hauser?

10 A |don't know. | don'trecall. 1 don't see them
11 in here.

12 Q. All right. Have you ever received the operative
13 note from the Mt. Sinai Hospital with respectto
14 the arthroscopic surgery performed by Dr. Hauser?
15 A. No.

16 Q. Have you ever seen office notes from Dr. Thomas
17 Murphy?
18 A No.

19 Q. Do you know Dr. Thomas Murphy?
20 A | know him.
21 Q Howdo you know him?
22 A |usedto do some surgery at Metro and he was
23 training there atthat time.
24 Q. What's his reputation?
25 A He has afine reputation.

27
1 Q. Didyou ever see any of the operative notes
2 dictated by Dr. Murphywith respectto the
3 surgeries he performed?
4 A No.
5 Q. Have you seen any emergency room records with
6 respect to any other automobile accidents in
7 which Mrs. Liapis was involved after May 9, 19937

8 A I'msorry. I'mgoingto haveto go off the
&) record. Look, | don't know whether | havethose

13 or not. DO | have those?

11 MR. RIDER: | don't believe you do.

12 I believe all the records that you reviewed

13 prior to rendering your report are the

14 recordsthat you referred to today. And |

15 don't believe | forwarded you any additional

16 materials, nor do | think anyone else has.

17 A The answer is | don't believe | have them here.

18 If you have a copy, you might show me a copy and
19 I would recognize it.

20 Q. Sure, butthe stack that you have sitting in

21  front of you right now which you've looked

22 through, you have not read off any emergency room
23 treatment other than the Fairview Hospital

24 emergency room treatment of May 9, 1993, and I'm
25 wondering simply interms of what records were

28
1 providedto you --
2 MS. McCARTHY And maybe we can
3 stipulate that he was not provided those
4 records and then | can move on.
5 MR. RIDER: | didn't bring that part
6 of the file with me, but | don't believe any
7 other records were sentto the doctor other
a than what he's testified to today.
9 Q. Allright. And the records that you reviewed in
10 anticipation of your discovery deposition
11 included Southwest General Hospital records dated
12 in 1986 with respectto an automobile accident
13 that same year?
14 A. Repeatthe question, please.

15 MS. McCARTHY Would you read back
16 the question for him, Sandy?
18 A No.

1 Q. Didyou review any other records interms of your
19 testimony today that we haven't talked about?
20 A No.

21 MR. RIDER: How did the doctor
22 answer that question about the review of his
23 records today?

28 A Itwas in preparation for the discovery dep. So

z therefore, | saw those records from Southwest.
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MR. RIDER: And those records, just
for the record, were records supplied by
Dr. Randt. However, those records contain
more than just his office notes. They
contain records from Southwest-- I'msorry
--from St. John West Shore, and I’'m not
sure what else they may contain, but they
were records supplied by Dr. Randt.

Q. Have you since the time of your report reviewed
any records, office notes or operative notes or
hospital records, generated with respect to the
treatment of Drs. Hauser and Murphy?

A. Other than the narrative written by Dr. Hauser to
which we have already referred, no.

Q. Have you reviewed any records of Dr. Robert Zaas?

A No.

Q. How about Dr. Sheehan?

A Was he a physical therapist? If he is a physical
therapist, | probably have, but otherwise, no.

Q. | believe is endocrinologist at the Cleveland
Clinic.

A No, then | did not.

Q. Now, do you have your report in front of you
dated November 7, 1994, is that correct?

A. Yes, I have.

30

Q. And you saw Mrs. Liapis only one time on
October 7,1994, is that correct?

A That’scorrect.

Q. Now, in your report under history, Roman Numeral
No. |, first paragraph --

A. Yes.

Q. --you have the first accident she was involved
in was May 9, 1991. kthatan error?

A That is atypo made by the secretarial service, a
typographical error. That should be 1993.

Q. It’syour understanding based on your review of
the records that Mrs. Liapis did not make any
complaints of jaw pain or discomfort or jaw

symptoms until she was seen by Dr. Moodt a couple
of months after the accident, is that correct?

A That is not correct.

Q. All right. kthat what is contained in your
report?

A Yes.

Q. All right. And sothe report is in error in that
regard?

A. Actually, she did complain earlier than two
months.

Q. All right. Sothe reportis in error on that
point?

RBRNRRBE B
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A. Just on that point, yes.

Q. Okay. Clear up the error for me then, doctor.

A I think the first mention of jaw discomfort
occurs on June 16, five weeks after the accident.

Q. All right. And where do you get that
information?

A. This is contained in a seriesof progress notes,
| believe belonging to Dr. Fitch, which on June
16say, When patient opens mouth, jaw pops.

Now, perhaps my report -- in that case my
report Is not in error because | did not consider
that as diagnostic of temporomandibular joint
disorder.

Q. Does that note mention anything else that would
be significant in terms of the symptomatology
associated with TMD?

A Left-sided face pain, but of course, she’s had
face pain many other times prior to this.

Q. Does your report talk about that, doctor?

A No.

Q. Whynot?

A Well, inasmuch asthe report was made more than
three years ago, | don’trecall why not. It
either was because | did not see that entry, A,
or B, because | did not consider that as

32
diagnostic of temporomandibular joint disorder.

Q. Incidentally, do you know what has happened to
this woman since you wrote this report in terms
of her medical care?

A Ido not.

Q. Soyou have no idea about subsequent surgeries?

A I donot. Mr. Rider has indicated to me prior to
the time he met you today that she has had
secondary surgeries.

Q. Well, let me ask you this then. You’re not going
to render any opinions in terms of any care she
received after you saw her in October of 1994, is
that fair?

MR. RIDER In regard to what?
MS. McCARTHY: Anything. Any
opinions he may have on that stuff.

A Ithink | maintain opinions vis-a-vis nonspecific
temporomandibular joint disorder. Specificto
some incident that Mrs. Liapis had -- specific
experiencesshe has had, no, | will not, but
otherwise, | would still make generalities about
temporomandibular joint disorder.

Q. Well, let me ask you this. Is it your opinion
thatthe care and treatment that she had up to
the point in time when you saw her in October of
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1 1994 was medically necessary? 1 11 find it right now. ldidfindit. Thisis
2 A Yes. 2 dated 9-14-86. This is poorly copied and it’s
3 Q. Allright. #at you understand interms of her 3 very difficultto read. It’'sjust that she hada
4 treatment since you saw her in October 1994 is 4 sensation, dot, dot, dot, of numbness, and Ican
5 that Dr. Murphy has performed surgeryon both 5 not read the rest.
6 sides of her temporomandibular joint and removed 6 Q Whyisthat significant?
7 the disks, is that your understanding? 7 A Because she talks of numbness later many times.
8 A. Thatwas not my understanding, butthat maywell 8 Q. Well, where was the numbness that you are
9 bethe case. Q referring to inthe September 14, 1986 St. John
10 Q. All right. You don't take issue with the 10 West Shore record?
11 necessity of that treatment, do you? 11 A. lcan't read where itis.
12 A No. | was notthere for that treatment. 12 Q. So itcan be numbness in her toe for all we know,
13 Q. Your sort of -- | don'twant to characterize it 13 correct?
14 a5 a dispute, butwhere you part company with the 14 A Yes.
15 treating physicians is with the causation issue, 15 Q. And that would have nothing to do with the
16 is that fair? 16 temporomandibular joints, is that fair?
17 A. That isfair. 17 A | think numbness has nothing to do with
18 Q. All right. Your opinion is that all of the care 18 temporomandibular joints at any time.
19 and treatment to the temporomandibular joints 19 Q. Sothat note wouldn’t be important interms of
20 that she has had since May 19, 1993 s related in 20 our discussion, would it?
21 some fashion to the 1986 automobile accident, 21 A No.
22 correct? 22 Q. Allright. Any other stressors after 1987 that
23 A. Ortothe longstanding osteoarthritic changes to 23 you are aware of, doctor?
24 which Dr. Moodt referred. 24 A. Noneto which | can specifically refer at this
25 Q. Canyou think of any other cause? 25 time.
34 36
1 A. | know she has had considerable stress in her 1 Q. And I'd like to make it clear that itis your
2 life and this she has mentioned a number of 2 opinion that stress causes temporomandibular
3 times. 3 joint dysfunction?
4 Q. What is the stress that she has had in her life 4 A Itis generally accepted as one of the primary
5 that you consider to be considerable? 5 causes fromwhich TMD arises, yes.
6 A lwill qguote Dr. Goldberg's report first. 6 Q. As opposed to an aggravating event with
7 Q. Allright. 7 underlying conditions?
8 A Patienthas had--this is dated 3-2-87. The 8 A. Yes.
9 patient has had two significant stressors in past 9 Q. Doyou know how these stresses resolved after
10 months. Her daughter has beentreated at 10 19877
11 Glenbeigh for drug and alcohol use and there has 11 A Idonot.
12 been family counseling. The patient stated that 12 Q. Haveyou ever diagnosed sinusitis?
13 family factors were -- not significant. 13 A Yes.
14 Paragraph. 14 Q. What are the signs and symptoms of sinusitis?
15 The patient’s adult son went into personal 15 A. Pain and swelling over the infraorbital area.
16 therapyand Mrs. Liapis said that she lost weight 16 Q. And where isthat located?
17 secondary to worry initially. And the second 17 A It'sright underneath the eye. Tenderness to tap
18 stressor is the car accident afew months ago in 18 underneath the eye, pain inthe anterior teeth, a
19  which she was injuredwhen they were hitbya 19 feeling of heaviness on that side of the face and
20 drunk driver. This is 3-2-87. Continuing on. 20 headaches which tend to be frontal only.
21 The patient also has had a sister illwith a 21 Q. Nottemporal?
22 braintumor andthis has been a constant stress 22 A. No.
23 to the patient over some months. 23 Q. How about dizziness?
24 There is another mention of stress in 24 A. Dizzinessis one, too.
25 another St. John’s West Shore report. [ doubt if 25 Q. Howabout pain inthe ears?
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A No. | lookedthat up inthe Merck Manual last
night, M-E-R-C-K, and they do not list pain in
the ears as being one.

Q. Is the Merck manual authoritative on sinusitis?

A | believe so.

Q. bthe diagnosis of sinusitis and treatment of
sinusitis something that you do in your practice
on a routine basis?

A I make the diagnosis of it on occasion. Idon't
treat it unless it’s dentally caused as, for
example, a roottip in the sinus.

Q. How about drainage, is that also a symptom of
sinusitis?

A Yes.

Q. When were Mrs. Liapis’s osteoarthritic changes
first picked up?

A. July 27, 1994.

Q. By way of what study?

A Correctedtomograms. InJulyof 1993. I'm
sorry. The letter is written July 27. In July
of 1993 according to Dr. Moodt.

Q. All right. Had Mrs. Liapis ever had panorex
x-rays done before May of '93?

A These are not panorex x-rays. These are
tomograms.

38

Q. lunderstandthat. I'masking you if she ever
had panorex x-rays done before May of '93.

A 1 have no record of any.

Q. Youtook x-rays of her, is that fair?

A. Yes, Idid.

Q. For what purpose?

A For myindependent medical examination,

Ms. McCarthy.

Q. Well, the x-rays that you took are not going to
tell you anything about the interior of the
joint, isthat fair?

A. They don'ttell you about the interior of the
joint. They teil you about the bone.

Q. Was there some suspicion that she had a fracture
of any of the bone around the TMJ?

A. No.

Q. You understood that the issue was whether the
disks were internally deranged, is that right?

A There was also the issue of whether she has
osteoarthritic changes, whether she has a closed
bite, because that can produce the
temporomandibular joint disorder. Certain
chewing discrepancies produce that. X-ray shows
whether the person has a closed bite or not.

Q. Which are a better diagnostic tool, the tomograms

39
or the panorex x-rays?

A. Tomograms.

MR. RIDER: For what diagnosis?

MS. McCARTHY Temporomandibular
joint dysfunction.

MR. RIDER: Okay.

Q. Doctor, when did you learnthat Mrs. Liapis had

made complaints consistent with symptoms of
temporomandibular joint disorder before today?

A. | learned that on November 7,1994, when | took

her history.

Q. Why didn’t you put that in her report then?
A. I'msorry. Put what?

Q. Well, as | understand it, there is an error in
your reportwhere on at leastthree or four
occasions you mention that she made no complaints
of symptomatologyassociated with TMD for two and
a half months, and we know today that that is
incorrect.

A. Itwas one and a half months.

Q. When did you learn that that was incorrect is my
question.

A. Oh, Isee.

Q. Didyou learn that today?

A. Oh, perhaps reviewing the chart, yes, recently,

40
but it's of very little importance, one and a
half or two and a half.

Q. Well, as lunderstandit, in reading page 5 of
your report, the last full paragraph, last
sentence where it says, My doubts vis-a-vis
causality arise from two separate and distinct
areas. Andthen your report goes on to talk
about the two separate and distinct areas, one
beingthe lack of complaints for a two and a half
month period of time --

A. I'msorry. What page?

Q. Pageb.

A. Whatparagraph?

Q. The last full paragraph starting with Drs. Moodt,
Murphy and Hauser.

A. All right.

Q. All right. The last sentence that says, My
doubts vis-a-vis causality arise from two
separate and distinct areas.

A Yes.

Q. And as Iread your report, the first being the

2 lack of complaints within the first two and a

3 half months ofthe accident, and the second being
24 the lack of direct trauma?

% A. Right.
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1 Q. Sowhen you wrote this report, your view was that
itwas important she did not make any complaints
of symptoms associated with TMD for two and a
half months, is that a fair statement?

A. No, butthat is not germane. One and a half
months, if you readthe rest of the report, still
istoo longto make a complaint.

Q. Where inthis report do you say one and a half

© 00 N O U~ wWw N

months is too long?
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A. ldon't say.
Q. Okay.
A Isaythatinjury to the jaw joint is rather like

=
N

13 interior injury to any other joint. When you're
14 injured it hurts right away. Whether it's one
15 and a half months or two and a half months is not
16 germane.
17 Q. Inretrospect, doctor, did Mrs. Liapis have a
18 permanent injuryto the temporomandibular joints?
19 MR. RIDER: At what pointintime?
20 MS. McCARTHY At any pointin
21 time.
22 A. | believe she had permanent changes in her
23 temporomandibular joints. Those are the
24 osteoarthritic changes.
25 Q. And the motor vehicle accident of 1986 --
42
1 A. I'msurethatwas -- | believethat was a
2 contributor.
3 &. Allright. Your statement on page 7 of your
4 report second paragraph, paragraphthat begins,
5 As for Mrs. Liapis’ prognosis. Do you see that
6 paragraph?
7 A. ldo.
8 Q. Midsection of the paragraph, where you say, Ido
9 not believe her injuries are permanent. Then you
10 make a statement, TMD is a self-limiting
11 disorder?
12 A. Yes.

13 Q. What does that mean?

14 A. That with or without treatment it eventually

15 dissipates.

16 Q. Isthattrue in her case?

17 A. No. She hadtreatment so we don‘t know.

18 Q. We don't know if it dissipated in her case?

19 A. No. Because she hadtreatment for it. The jaws
20 remodel, generally speaking.

21 Q. What does that mean?

22 A. They remodel to accommodate dysfunctions of the
23 TM joint.

24 Q. Isthattrue in a hundred percent of the cases?
25 A. Ms.MccCarthy, | don't know if anything istrue in

43
a hundred percent of the cases. | can’t answer
that.
Q. So-—
A. |just -- the statistics tell usthat old people

1
2
3
4
5 no longer have --whether they had them before or
6 not, they do not have it. A number of people

7 have temporomandibular joint disorder, and older
8 people, for example, in nursing homes do not have
9 complaints vis-a-vis temporomandibular joint

10 disorder. Indicatingthat at the end people

11 would go out and commit suicide butthat rather,
12 they get better.

13 Q. Interms of jaw remodeling, doctor, let's get

14 backto that. How does that happen anatomically?
15 A Ithink there’s bone organization and bone

16 change, and occasionally patients will learn not

17 to do certain things, and over a period of time

18 pain seems to --the symptoms seem to dissipate.
18 Q. Soit's notjust anatomical; it’s also functional

20 interms of patient input?

21 A. Yes.

22 Q. Sothe patient has to learn to adapt with the

23 dysfunction?

24 A Yes.

25 Q. All right. In other words, if one has an

44
anterior displaced disk that causes a number of
painful symptoms, a person has to stay away from
chewing hardfoods, from putting things in their
mouth, those type of things that will limit the
amount of painthey’re going to have because of
that displacement?

A. Ms. McCarthy, itis not myrole to lecture to you
about temporomandibular joint disorder. However,
let me say that about 38 percent of the adult
populationwho are totally asymptomatic, have no
previous injury, no symptoms of any sort, when

© © N O U~ WN R
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they are examined with an MRI, anterior displaced
disks. So anterior displaced disks does not
14 dictate that the patient has pain. People,

-t
W

15 probably you and |, one of us, 38 percent, has

16 anterior displaced disks and without symptoms.
‘7 Q. Well, let's talk about the people who do have

18 symptoms. Okay? Those people have to modify
19 their behavior and conduct to accommodate those
20 symptoms, is that right?

21 A. Ifthey have symptoms, yes.

22 Q. Okay. And there are times or occasions when

23 those modifications are of a permanent nature,

24 right?

25 A. Perhapsyou could give me an analogy or a
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specific instance.
Q Well, if a person has signs and symptoms of
temporomandibular joint disorder and they have
popping and clicking and jaw pain, they have

deal of pain, they have problems chewing hard
foods without a great deal of pain, andthey
continue to get medical treatment directly
related to temporomandibular joint disorder, they
10 never get any better, and ultimately that person
11 needs surgery, would that person fall under the

12 category of sel-limiting?”
13 A_No, because they've had surgéry.
J% Allright. Thank you. Did Mrs. Liapis have >\

15 malocclusion? N
16%\5 Yes. /}
17 @, Was that a contributing factor to her TMD? /
18 A \I“don’t believe so. We usedto believe that bu

19 we (}ﬁﬁt\a@re. -

20 Q The medical EommUtity G564 to Believe that

21 malocclusion was a contributing cause of TMD and
22 itis no longer the case?

23 A Thatis true of me, yes, and | think it's true

24 generally of the researchers 0n the subject,

25 too. With the exception of,as Itold you,

1
2
3
4
5 trouble opening their mouth fully without a great
6
7
8
9

el
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missing posterior teeth and closed bite.
Q. Did she have any of those problems?
A No =
Q Isittrue that a person can have arthritic
changes and not be plagued with any problems

ga bW N

6~  associated with arthritic changes?
7 A It's adifficult question. I would think that if
8 you have arthritic changes, you would have some
é -- some pain inthe moving of ajoint. Ithink
10 if you have arthritic changes, you must have
11 \ symptoms with that.
12 @ So the same wouldn't be true of, say, a patient,
13 /;3 the 38 percent of population that you talked
14 / aboutwho have displaced disks and no
15/ symptomatology associated with that, it's not
1§ true of people who have osteoarthritic changes
17 who don't know it but have no symptoms. The same
18 analogy can not be drawn in terms of arthritis?
19 A No, no.

20 Q. Isthat a generally accepted principle of

jA

21 medicine as far as you know?
22™A. lcan not speak for the general medical opinion.
23 | don't know.

24 Q. Doctor, what other opinions do you intend 0n
25 rendering at the time of trial in this case?
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A Well, Ithink that's all contained in my report.

Q. Soyou don't intend on rendering any other
opinions that are not contained in your report
dated November 7,1994, is that correct?

A With the exception of what little --what
material Iwill have to --that still came from
the Southwest Community Hospital.

Q. So you do notintend on reviewing any records
generated after, say, November of 1994 before you
testify, is that right?

A That's correct.

Q. Doctor, how manytimes per month do you examine
patients on what you call an independent medical
evaluation?

A. That's a perjorative remark and | will accept it
as such. What ! call independent medical exams
are indeed independent medical exams.

Q. Yes.

A. | have done it for the plaintiff and I've done it
for the defendant manytimes. The answer is
probably about -- in a month, is that your

question? . 4
Q. That was my question. = J

A. About three. %f’?
1

Q. And how long has it been the,éase that you do

48
three per month?

A. Since about 1985.

Q. Hadyou been doing independent medical
evaluations prior to 19857

A. | might have done a few, but notvery many.
Maybe in the '83, '84 area | did one or two a
year but I started getting more and more involved
in doingthem in '85.

Q. Interms of doing an independent medical
examination, would you agree that it is important
to be thorough in your review of the medical
records that you are presented with?

A. Yes.

Q. Eitfair to saythat in terms of doing an IME,
itis important for you to be objective in your
evaluation of the medical data and the complaints
made bythe person when they come to see you?

A Yes.

Q. Ekitfair to saythat itis important to be
accurate interms of the facts contained inthe
medical records?

A. Yes.

Q. Why is itimportant to be accurate in terms of
the facts inthe medical records?

A. Ithink that is evident to both of us,
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Ms. McCarthy.
. Will you answer my question anyway?

No.
. You won't answer that question, doctor?

No.
. Whynot?

Because it's evident to both of us, to everyone

>0 >0 >0

here inthe room, why it’s important to be
accurate.

Q. It's not evident to me. So | would appreciate it
if you would answer my question. Educate me, if
youwould.

A. Accuracy is a fundamental virtue.

Q. Afundamental virtue? Ali right. And isthat
your answer?

A Yes.

Q. Is itimportant in terms of citing and quoting
authors of medical literature to be accurate?

A Yes.

Q. Haveyou inthe past been accused of not being
accurate in your quotation of authors and various
publications?

MR. RIDER: Objection. You can
answer.

A. Onone occasion when Ifirst started out doing

50
this work.
Q. And what were the circumstances?
MR. RIDER: Note mycontinuing
objection. You can answer.
A. ldon't recall the specific one to which you
refer, Ms. McCarthy. If you're referringto one
involving your office, that is correct.
Q. Oh, actually I'm unaware of that one. Sothere’s
been more than one?
A Well, Idon’t know of any other one. There was
one in --with a Mr. Spero in 1981.
Q. 1981, is that what you said?
A 81, ‘82,yes. About one of the first ones |
ever did.
Q. So you have been doing IME's at least back to '81
as opposedto ‘83 and '84?
A. Everypractitioner does some. Every practitioner

writes reports at one time or another. | think |
probably started, yes, inthe '80s.

Q. On anindependent basis, is that what we are
talking about?

A. Yes, yes.

Q. So what were the circumstances of the 1981
misquotation involving Mr. Spero?

A. Ithadto do with interpretation of a paragraph

N RN N NN N & =k b ed ad ed el —d el b
A R WON O © 0 N6 00 b WN b ©® W

© 00 N O g b~ WN -~

[ S S U YU U T U Sy
OO ONoO N~ WNRA O

21
22
23
24
25

51
and the two separate editions of a book, and1
had one but Ididn’t --the second edition of the
book had exactly what Ihad said, but| cited the
page number in the first page of the book in the
first edition.

Q. And how was the misquotation brought to your
attention?

A. By plaintiff's counsel.

Q. Didyou ever receive correspondence from the
author about the misquotation?

A. You are referring to another -- another case
which involved Mr. Paris in your office in which
there was a dispute over an article which says in
very plain language exactly what | had quoted it
as saying. And | had not misquoted the article,
but the author says that is not what he meant.

Q. Okay. What is your charge for the independent
medical evaluation?

A Theyvary. If Ispend several nights writing a
paper, and | suppose it's around $100 an hour, so
that would come to about $500. Butthen there is
the cost of the examination and the panorex x-ray
andthen there is the typing costs.

Q. Well, what isthe cost of the examination then?

A. Ithink the examinations, countingthe panorex

52
x-ray are around $100 is standard inthe Northern
Ohio area, yes.

Q. Andthe panorex x-ray is what? How much?

A That's included in the $100.

Q. The exam andthe x-ray is $100?

A Yes.

Q. Arethe x-rays performed here in your office?

A Yes.

Q. Thenthere is a separate charge for writing the
report, isthat right?

A Yes.

Q. Allright. And on average what is your cost for
writing a report? You mentioned afigure, if it
takes five hours, $500. Would that be the
average figure?

A Yes, but then the typing is fairly expensive. |
don’tdo it myself. |take it outto atyping
service.

Q. Soyou would dictate it and take the tape to some
service?

A Yes.

Q. And what does that typically cost?

A. lusedto make longer reports that cost more. It
costs someplace between one fifty and two
twenty-five.
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Q. How manytimes per month do you testify by way of
videotape?
A. Notvery often. Sixtimes ayear perhaps, if
that.
. How about live appearances at trial per month?
No Notvery often A few times a year.
. Would that be two or three?
Two, yes.
. Two times per year?
Yes.

O >0 >0 >0

. And how long has it been the case that you have

testified by videotape six times per year?

A. Well, six is high. | don't think -- | think --
videotape, gosh, really, it's more like four
times ayear, Ms. McCarthy. And how long have |
been doing that? | suppose since 19900r so. |
never did manyvideotapes before that.

Q. And what is your charge for videotape testimony
per hour?

A. | don’t charge per hour. | don't charge -- |

onlycharge if I'mmissing office time. |have

to clear out my office for however long it takes,

so | charge for what office time I've missed,

same as I'm doing today. I'm missing office

time.

54

Q. Well, what would the charge be then?

A Butyouweren’t ontime.

Q. The letter | got from Bill said 4:00.

A. The letter | got said 3:30.

MR. RIDER: Ithought it was 3:30.

A. Well, the bill started at 3:30.

Q. That's no problem. I'll handle it. Well, tell
me what the charge is for clearing out your
office for however long ittakes for you to
testify.

A | suppose a couple hundred dollars an hour.

Q. $200 per hour?

A $225.

Q. I'msorry. $2257?

A $225.

Q. Okay. And is your live trial testimony more
expensive than $200 or $225 an hour?

A. No.

Q. It'sthe same cost?

A Yes.

Q. Incidentally, are you going to be in town next
week?

A. No.

Q. Where are you going?
MR. RIDER Objection. That's not

Now N e
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really relevant.

A All right. If you want to know, I'mon the board
of trustees of a university and we have a
presentation of our president in Vero Beach,
Florida, which I've been asked to be presenting.
So I'll go down on Thursday and present him and
give an introduction and talk.

Q. Thursday of this week or --

A Yes.

Q. -- Thursday of next week?

A. Thursday | will leave and | come back Tuesday.

Q. Thursday of this week or Thursday of next week?

A Yes.

Q. So you will be intown next week?

A. No. | come back Tuesday night of next week.

Q. So you will be here Wednesday, Thursday, Friday,
Saturday, is that correct? During this trial you
be you will be intown?

A | don’'t know when the trial is, Ms. McCarthy.

Q. Butyou will be intown Wednesday, Thursday and
Friday of the week of the 26th, is that a fair
statement, doctor?

A Yes.

Q. Sothat | understand, you're billing me $200 or
$225 an hour?
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A Yes, $225 an hour, yes.

Q. Okay. Starting from 3:30?

A. That's right.

Q. Is there atextbook that you consider to be
authoritative in the area of temporomandibular
joint dysfunction?

A. Let me think about that. Right now I'd have to
say no because it’s a constantly churning field.
New research is always being broughtto the
literature. So textbooks are not as valuable as
periodicals. There is one by a man named Victor
Gelb, G-E-L-B, butthat came out inthe middle
‘80’s. Istill refer to that once in a while.

Q. Do you have a textbook to which you refer that
was edited or revised since say 19907

A No, Idon’t. I'msure there are such, but |
don't.

Q. If Iwere a medical student and wanted to know
from you what textbook Icould buyto educate
myself on temporomandibular joint dysfunction,
where would you send me and what would the book
be?

A. Honestly, | don't think -- | don’t know of one
thatis really upto date because things change,
just like this article in 1995.
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1 Q. Isthe Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery 1
. - WITNESS INDEX
2 the journal or periodical that you would refer me 2
. . PAGE
3 to to educate myself on temporomandibular joint 3
. CROSS-EXAMNATION
4 dysfunction? 4 KENNETHR. CALLAHAN, D.D.S.
BY MS. McCARTHY
5 A Yes, yes. 5
6 Q. kthere any other dental periodical besides that 6
7 journal? 7 EXHIBIT INDEX
8 A Well, there is a small summarycalled TM Update, 8 PAGE
9 and that has synopses of all of the new articles 3 Plaintiff's Exhibit 1 3
10 that come out. Sothey quote the Journal of 10
11 Craniomandibular Orthopedics and the Journal of 1
12 Orthodontics and one that | think is a very good 12 OBJECTION INDEX
13 one called the Journal of Oral Medicine, Oral 13 OBJECTION BY PAGE NUMBER
14 Pathology and Oral Surgery. 14 MR. RIDER 18
. MR. RIDER 49
15 Q. Isthatit? 15 MR. RIDER. 49
_ MR RIDER: 54
16 A Yes, | think so. 16
17 MS. McCARTHY | don't have any more 17
18 questions for you. Thanks. 18
19 MR. RIDER: Questions, Tom? 19
20 MR. DOWNS: No. 20
21 MR. RIDER: Thanks, doctor. Do you 21
22 waive signature? 22
23 A Yes. 23
24 (Signature waived.) 24
25 25
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1
2
3
4 CERTIFICATE
5
The State of Ohio ) SS:
6 County of Cuyahdga.)
7 | Sandra L. Mazzgla, a Notary Public within
andfor the State of Qhio, authorized to
8 administer oaths and to take and certlfy
depositions do hereb¥ certhy that the
9 above-namdd K AN D.D.S. was by
me before the giving of his de osmon ‘first
10 3{ swom to testlfy the truth the whole truth,
nothin he truth, that the deposition as
k! above set orth Was reduced to writing by me b
means of stenotypy and was later transcribed
12 into typewriting under my direction. that this is
atrue recordot the testlmon gived bg he
13 witness, and the readin srgmn the
deposmon Was express ywalve bythe witness
14 by stipulation counse that Said
e osition was taken at the aforementioned time,
15 ate and place ?ursuant to notice or stipulation
of counsel, and I'am not a relative or
16 employee ar attorney of anx of the parties, or a
relative or employee of such attorney, or
17 financially interested in this action.
18 INWITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my
hand and seal of office, at Cleveland, Ohio, this
19 day of AD.
20 —
21
22
Sandra’tMazzola, Notary Pubiie; State ot Q
23 14237 Detroit Avenue, Cléveland, Ohio 441 07
04 y commission expirés January 27,2002
25
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(1) COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
CUYAHOGA COUNTY
@ -
(3
MARIE LIAPIS,)
(4) etal.,)
)
(5) Plaintiffs, )
)
(6) vs. ) Case No.254818
) Judge Gallagher
(7) ADELE CARAVELLA,)

etal.,)
®))
Defendants. )
&)
(10}
) ---
(12)

(13) Transcript of deposition of KENNETH R.

(14) CALLAHAN, D.D.S., ExpertWitness herein, called by
(15) the Defendants as upon examination, pursuantto

(16) Subpoena and Agreement of Counsel, pursuantto the
(17) Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure, before Denise M.

(18) Andreotti, a Court Reporter and Notary Public

(19) within and for the State of Ohio on Wednesday,

(20) January 21, 1998, atthe office of Kenneth R.

(21) cCallahan, D.D.S., Southgate Medical Arts Building,
(22) Maple Heights, Ohio, commencing at4:25 p.m. and

FZ-YaAN

(24)
(25)

23-—econeciudi .ﬁt 6-00-p
\==7 P Page 2

ég APPEARANCES:

Ellen McCarthy, Esq.

(3) Nurenberg, Plevin, Heller & McCarthy

(&) on behalf of the Plaintiffs;
6)
Stephen C. Merriam, Esq.
(6
(7) on behalf of Richard Harkins;
@
Thomas J. Downs, Esq.
(9) Attorney-at-Law
(10) on behalf of Adele Caravella;
(11

~

Christopher J. Russ, Esq.

(12) Mazanec, Raskin & Ryder Co.,

(13) on behalf of Sam Elkadi.
(14)
(15) Also present:
George Tackla, Videographer
(16) Tackla &Associates
(17
(18)
{19)
(20)
(21
(22)
(23) |

Williams & Sennett Co., L.P.A.

L.P.A.

Page 1 to Page 2



BSA DEPOSITION OF KENNETH R. CALLAHAN, DDS

XMAX(2)

Page 3
(M
INDEX
@ ---

Page 5
(1) OBJECTION PAGE LINE

(20 BYMR. MERRIAM 47 5

(3) Examination of Kenneth R. Callahan, D.D.S. Page @) 4715
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{(15) (22) 47 14
(186) (23) 50 16
17 (24) 714
(18) (25)
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(20)
(21)
ol Page 4 Page 6
gii OBJECTIONS PAGE LINE (1) PROCEEDINGS
(%% BY MS. McCARTHY 1310 (20 KENNETH R. CALLAHAN, D.D.S
3) 1417 (3) ExpertWitness herein, called by the
(4 1423 i (4) Defendants as upon cross-examination, having
(5) 1511 : (5) beenfirst duly sworn, as hereinafter
(6) 1518 (6) certified, was examined and testified as
(7) 1620 (7) follows:
8) 2119 (8)---
© 238 ©)
(10) 275 DIRECT EXAMINATION OF KENNETH R. CALLAHAN. D.D.S
(11) 334
(12) 337 (10) BY MR. MERRIAM:
(13) 33 18 (11) Q. Good afternoon, Doctor. Could you state
(14) 34 13 (12) your full name for the record and spell your last
(15) 34 20 (13) name, please.
(16) 355 (14) A. My name i Kenneth Robert Callahan,
(17) 35 14 (15) C-A-L-L-A-H-A-N.
(18) 36 13 (16) MR. MERRIAM: Thank you,
(19) 373 (17) Doctor. My name is Steve Merriam. I’'man
(20) 37 14 (18) attorney with Williams & Sennett. I'mworking
(21) 384 (19) with Roger Williams on this matter. Our firm
(22) 656 (20) represents Richard Harkins, one of the Defendants
(23) 7212 (21) inacase brought by Marie Liapis, etal. against
(24) 7413 (22) Adele Caravellaand the other Defendants. This
(25) 74 22 (23) matter is pending ina Cuyahoga County Court of

(24) Common Pleas before Judge Eileen Gallagher.
(25)
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(D) BY MR. MERRIAM:

(@ Q. Doctor, you've told us your name, could you

@) tell us your business location and the nature of

(@ your business?

GB) A. I''mlocated at the Southgate Medical Arts

6) Building in Maple Heights. | do oral and

() maxillofacial surgery.

(®) Q. Thank you, Doctor.

() How long have you been located at this
(10) address?
(11) A. I've been here for twenty-five years.
@2 Q. All right. Doctor, ifyou would, could you
(13) summarize for the jury your educational and dental
(14) training background, please.
(5)A. Yes. | am a graduate of St. Ignatius High
(16) School, of John Carol University. | graduated
(@7 from Case Western Reserve University School of
(18) Dentistry and then to the Graduate School of
(19) Medicine at the University of Pennsylvania.
(20) Internship and residency at Cleveland Metro
(21) General Hospital, now called = at that time

(22) called Cleveland City Hospital. After thattime |
(23) went into practice at West 25th and Lorain where |
(24) remained until 1972when I came out hereto
(25) Southgate.

Page 9
(D) Society of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons. |
(@ belong to the Ohio and Great Lakes Societies of
(3 the same and the American Dental Association.
(@ | also have some honorary degrees. I'm a
(5) fellow of the American College of Dentists, a
(6) fellow of the International College of Dentists
() and I've beenteaching at Case Western Reserve
(@ University and there’s an honor associated with
(©) that, certainteachers, which B called “Okay
(10) You, which indicates that | must teach well or
(11) long. One orthe other.
(12) Q. Doctor, could you explain to the jury what
(13) oral and maxillofacial surgery is all about? In
(4) other words, in lay person’s language, what that
(15) means?
(16)A. Well, oral and maxillofacial surgery is
(17) that branch of dentistry which deals with diseases
(18) and injuries of their mouth, the jaws and their
(19) associated structures.
(20) Q. And that would include problems with the
(21) temporomandibular joint?
(22)A. That is correct; yes. Itdoes,
(23) Mr. Merriam.
(24) Q. Could you tell us about your experience and
(25) background with that particular area of the jaw

Page 8

(@ Q. Doctor, how long have you beeninthe

(@ private practice of dentistry?

@ A. I've been oral and maxillofacial surgery

(@ since ~ for thirty-nine years.

(8) Q.Allright. And, of course, you're licensed

() inthe State of Ohio?

M A. lam, Mr. Merriam.

(8) Q. Doyou have any hospital affiliations or

) privileges?
(10) A. Yes. | teach at University Hospitals, |
(11) teach the resident staff in oral and maxillofacial
(12) surgery. lalso do surgery at University

(13) Hospitals. I'm former Chief of the Oral and
(14 Maxillofacial Surgery Department at Marymount
(15) Hospital and | occasionally go to Bedford and to
(16) South Pointe Hospitals as well.
(17) Q. Thank you, Doctor.
(18) Could you tell us some of the more
(19) significant professional associationsthatyou

(20) belongto?
CDA. I'm adiplomat of the American Board of the
(22) Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons. I'ma member of
(23) our parent society which isthe American Society
(24) of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons. lalsoam a
(25) member and past president of the Northeast Ohio

Page 10

(D andthejoint - the joint associated with the jaw

(@ andtell us where that is.

®)A. Well, I'llshow you ina minute. Where’s

@ my skull?

G) MR. MERRIAM: Ithink we

6) leftthe model inthe other room. Perhaps, we

() could go off the record just for a momentand

(8) retrieveitfor asecond. Thank you.

(9) (Ashort break was taken)

(10) MR. MERRIAM: Back onthe
(1 D record, please.

(@) A. Thetemporomandibular joint is a ball and
(13) socket joint which all of you can feel. It's in
(14) front of your ear and when you open and close, you
@15) will feel it rotating, and about 62 percent 06 you
(16) will feel it clicking because that’s the

(17) percentage of adults who have clicking or popping
(18) inthe temporomandibular joint.

(19 The balland socket looks like this. This

(20) isthe ball. It's inthe lower joint, the socket

(21) isthe upperjoint. The ball rotates inthe

(@) socket like this and when you open very wide it
(23) also slides down the little ramp. Betweenthe
(24) balland the socket isadisc called a meniscus
(25) which is a little cushion between the ball and the

Page 7 to Page 10
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(@ socket. It’sthe joint which we move every time
(@ we speak, every time we yawn and every time why
(@ chew, but also every time we breathe so the joint
(¥ mechanism is in motion a great deal of our
(5) adult - of all of our lives.
(®) You had asked me about surgery, my
(7) experience with surgery on it. lwas one of the
(8) pioneers inthe areawith Dr. Spilcovackonee,
© (phonetic) middle fifties, one of the first people
(10) to do surgical procedures onthe ball and socket
(1) joint in order to remove the meniscus or to repair
(12) the meniscus. 1did that at Lutheran Hospital
(13) many years ago.
(14) BY MR. MERRIAM:
(15) Q. Doyou presently do surgery inthat area?
(16)A. Ido not any longer, Mr. Merriam. l1do not
(@7 careto stand at an operating table that long.
(18) Q. Inrecentyears, Doctor, what has beenthe
(19) focus of your practice then?
(20)A. 1do some exterior facial trauma, a lot of
(D) jaw fractures and avulsed teeth and people that
(@) are in bar fights who are talking when they should
(23) be listening; but Ido have some, do some facial
(24 trauma, Ido impacted wisdom teeth and diagnosis
(25) of temporomandibular joint disorder.

Page 13

(1) A. No. Sinus discomfort is manifested usually

(@ as pain underneath the eye and feeling of fullness

3) under the eye and above the upper teeth, upper

@ front teeth particularly, that's where sinus is

(5) most unnoticeably symptomatic. Sometimes frontal

(6) headaches, too.

(7) Q. Doctor, inyour experience does itoccur

(8) that instead of diagnosing TMD that a sinus

) problem B diagnosed?
(10) MS. McCARTHY: Objection.
(11) A. Yes. That is a frequent misdiagnosis

(@) because TMD is really one of the most frequently
(13 misdiagnosed or misaccentuated diagnosis. Often,
(%) you're notthinking of TMD and you're thinking of
(15) something else. It's a great imposter disorder

(16) because you could overlook it so often. What may

(7)) appear to be a sinus infection is actually a TMD
(18) disorder.

@9) Q.Doctor, is TMD caused by direct traumato
(20) the area?

@D A. Itcan be caused by direct trauma; yes.
() Q. Inyour experience does it occur without

() directtraumato the facial area?

@HA. No. ltdoesn’'t, Mr. Merriam, and it's

(25) been -there’s SO many new articles and new

Page 12
(1) Q_-All right. What is TMD?
@A. It's an acronym which stands for
(@ temporomandibular disorder. The TMJ that
(@ everybody refersto isthe joint, that’s the
(5) anatomic spot. Sotemporomandibular joint is TMJ.
(6) The disease, and the disorder is called TMD.
() Q.Okay. So ratherthantry to say that long
(8) name, I'mgoingto be referringto TMD -
© A. All right.
(10) Q --throughoutthe rest of your deposition.
(11) Canyou definewhat TMD is, how that shows up; the
(12) type of symptoms you see?
@) A. Temporomandibular disorder manifests itself
(14) ina cluster of symptoms. They include painin
(15) the ear, ringing inthe ear, painto open and
(16) close, pain in — facial pain, frequently facial
(@7 pain, and pain sometimes to yawn, sometimes pain
(18) to laugh, sometimes in all those cluster of
(19) symptoms are other symptoms which by themselves
do
(20) not designate the disorder like clicking or
(21) popping. It affects a number of people. It
(22) affects females inaratio of 9to 1 over males

(23) for some reasonwhich nobody is apparently aware.
(24) Q. Doctor, what about sinus discomfort; is
(25) that associated with TMD?

Page 14
(1) research inthe area in our literature about the
(@) causes of TMD and there’s kind of a wide spread
(@ consensus among the new authors. It suggests that
(@ inthe absence of direct trauma you do not get
(5) temporomandibular joint disorder. Inthe absence
(6) of being struck onthe face or inthe face or on
() the chin or inthe mouthyou do not develop TMD.
(8) There’s one recent article published in
(9) 1995 by Dr. Howard, et al. which suggests that in
(10) a low velocity moving vehicle accident the trauma
(1D to the temporomandibular joints is less than what
(12) you’d ordinarily experience in chewing atough
(13) steak so we don’t think that that trauma, inthe
(4 absence of direct injury, is any worse than a
(15) sudden sneeze, uncontrolled yawn. | don'‘t think
(16) trauma causes it unlessthere’s direct trauma.
@7 MS. McCARTHY: Objection.
(18) BY MR. MERRIAM:
(19) Q. Wellthen, Doctor, a motor vehicle accident
(20) resulting in simple whiplashes, it's caused, as
(D) it's ordinarily called, would not be the type of
() thing that would cause TMD; is that correct?
(23) MS. McCARTHY: Objection.
@HA. That is correct, Mr. Merriam. And as a
(25) matter of fact there’s a guy by the name of

Page 11to Page 14
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() Laskin, who is one of our international heroes who
(@ published an article a couple years ago. He's the
(3 editor of the journal, the Oral and Maxillofacial
(4 Surgeon Journal. He examined the cervical
) flexing/extension injury, the whiplash, of
(6) one-hundred and fifty three patients and his
() conclusions were that, no, well, there’s obvious
(8 whiplash and so annotated inthe emergency room

() they did not produce temporomandibular joint
(10) disorder.

ADMS. McCARTHY: Objection.

(2)A. Itdoesn’t do it.

(13) Q. Doctor, inyour experience when someone is

(14) involved ifan accidentwould problemswith the
(15) joint, specifically TMD, would those problems

(16) arise immediately or would you except somebody to

(@7) be reporting those problems weeks or months later?
(18)MS. McCARTHY: Objection.

(19 A. In my experience of almost forty years of
(20) dealing with patients inthe emergency room,
(21) patients who have suffered direct injuries to
() their jaw joints, they have pain rightaway. The
(23) reasonfor this, and Ithink you can all

(24) understandthis is this, if you hurt one of your
(25) joints it hurtsright away. Ifyou've ever see a

Page 17
(1) which do stretch the tendons and the ligaments,
(2 and, yeah -
3 Q. Doctor -
(@A. — and psychosocial stresses have more to
() do with itthan anything.
(6) Q. Doctor, you mentioned certain habits para?
(M A. Parafunctional habits. When people are
(8) under stress they sometimes clench their teeth and
(9 their jaws not knowing it and doing that you
(10) stretch the tendons and ligaments beyond their
@D elastic limits.
(12 Q. Doctor, when you take a history from a
(13) patient complaining of symptoms that suggest TMD
(14) doyou ask about their personal life and the types
(15) of things that may cause them to have that sort of
(16) array of external stressors affecting them?
@ A. Sometimes lwill; yes, Mr. Merriam.
(18) Q. Did you examine the Plaintiff, Marie
(19) Liapis, inthis case?
O)A. Idid, Mr. Merriam.
(2D Q. And when did that examination take place?
(22) A. That took place inmy office on October the
(23) 7th of 194.
(24) Q. And did you produce a written report
(25) regarding your examination including your

Page 16
(1) football player onyour football screen who
(@ injures one of hisjoints maybethe elbow the knee
(@) orthe ankle, he does not report that a month and
(@ ahalf later. Herolls around the field and
(5) everybody, the coaches, the viewers, the players
6) know that he has hurt one of hisjoints. This is
() true of temporomandibular joint, as well. Ifyou
(®) hurt itinan accident, it hurts right away and
() basically inthe emergency room you say, oh, |
(10) can’t open my mouth. Itshould hurtright away,
(11) but not —withinthe first seventy-two hours
(12) anyway.
(13) Q. All right. Doctor, you've mentioned
(14) various symptoms or signs of TMD such as the
(15) headaches, sometimes sinus, sometimes ear pain and
(16) ringing, facial pain; is there any correlation
(@7) between personal external stressors, parts of the
(18) patient’s personal life, and people getting this
(19) type of disorder?
(0)MS. McCARTHY: Objection.
(@D A. There is a strong consensus again among
(22) authors and lectures on the subject that do a lot
(23) of research suggesting that stress is a primary
(24) source from which temporomandibular joint arises.
(25) Stress produces a lot of parafunctional habits

Page 18

(D conclusions and opinions?

@A. Idid, Mr. Merriam; yes.

(3 Q. And what is the date of that report,

(@ Doctor?

(B)A. November 7th, 1994.

(6) Q. Now, you're holding a copy of that report

(7) marked as Exhibit A; isthat correct, Doctor?

@ A. Yes. That's correct.

(9) Q.All right. And it's certainly permissible
(10) for youto referto that report or any of your
@D file while I continue to questionyou about this
(12) particular case, Doctor.
(@) A. Okay.
(14 Q. Where did you examine the Plaintiff in this
(15) case?
@6)A. Itwas in my office.
@7NQ. Okay. Was that prior to her having any
(18) surgery?
(19)A. Yes, yes.
(20) Q. Okay. Doctor, did you begin your session
(21) with her on October 7, 1994 by taking a history?
@)A. 1did.
(23) Q. And referring to your records as well as
(24) your report marked as Exhibit A, what did the
(25) history youtook reveal regardingthis particular

Page 15to Page 18
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(1) individual?

(@) A. Ms. Liapis stated that she was involved in

(3) a moving vehicle accident which took place on May

(4) 9, 1993. Shewas the driver. She was restrained

(5) with both lap and shoulder seat belts. Atthe

(6) time of my examination — excuse me — she stated

(7) that she suffered injuries to her neck, shoulder

8) and back. She denies having suffered any cuts,

(9) lacerations or bruises, and she did not strike any
(10) object onthe inside of the automobile. She had
(11) nodirecttrauma. Isaid did you strike your face

(12) or jaw and she said, oh, no, I had a seat belt on.
(13) She drove home.

(14) Later she presented herself to the

(15) emergency room at Fairview Hospital and her chief
(16) complaints at that time were those of pain and

(17) discomfort inthe back, shoulder, neck and lower
(18) back. | asked her if she had any discomfort with
(19) her jaw joint when she went to the emergency room
(20) and she said no; and this is corroborated by the
(21) emergency room report which says there’s no = she
(22) made no complaint of jaw or facial or pain, facial
(23) orjaw injury. She later on went to the office of

(24) her personal physician, Dr. Fitch, who
recommended

(25) physical therapy.

Page 21
(1) secretarial service made, atypographical error.
(2 1993;yes.
@) Q. That May 9th, 1993 accident, I'll refer to
(4) asthe firstaccident on some of my subsequent
(5) questions.
(6) Onthe second page there’s a reference to
(7) two and a half months before she presented any
(8) complaints of TMD problems, infurther reviewing

9) the records s thattwo and a half months
(10) reference accurate?

(11) A. She made some reference to jaw discomfort
(12) one and a half months later. She first presented
13) fortreatmentto Dr. James Moodttwo and a half
(14) months later.

(15) Q.Well, Doctor, is there any significance as

(16) to whether itwas six weeks ortwo and a half

(17) months after the accident before she first made
(18) any complaints about TMD problems?

(19) MS. McCARTHY: Objection.

{20) A. No. No;there’s no significance,

(21) Mr. Merriam, but the important thing isthat if
(22) she didn’t report complaints within the first

(23) seventy-two hours then Ido not believeit's

(24) accident-related. As Itold you about the

(25) football players, when you hurtyour elbow you

Page 20
(1) Two and a half months later she made her
(2) first presentationto Dentist James Moodt, in
(8) regard to jaw complaints. She states she went
(4) there because, quote, my jaws were clicking when |
(5) opened wide. Ipointed outto Ms. Liapisthat
(8) indeed jaw clicking is not really very important.
(7) Itisas much as 62 percent of us have it at any
(8) giventime. She says that Dr. Moodt made a bite
(@) splint for her which she wore during sleep hours
(10) thereafter. She said it was made a little bit
(11) better, but she said by that time her complaint
(12) was not just clicking but numbness. The numbness
(13) was onthe left face. | do not know the source of
(14) the numbness because numbness is not and never
has
(15) beena symptom of TMD. | don’t know why she has
(18) the numbness, but...
(17) Q. Doctor, beforeyou get onto the second
(18) accident, let me ask you a question or two about
(1) what you have said so far.
(20) Thefirst page of your report refersto the
(21) first accident being in 1991, butyou mentioned
(22) 1993;is there atypographical error inyour
(23) report?
(24) A. Yes. It's the other way around. Isaid it
(25) was in 1991, itwas 1993. It’'s atypo that the

Page 22
(1) know the momentyou hurt it; when you hurt your
(2 kneeyou knowthe moment you hurt it. So whether
@) you report it six weeks later or two and a half
(4) months later, ten weeks later, it doesn’'t make any
(5) difference; no.
(6) Q. Okay. Doctor, getting back to your history
(7) Ithink you were at the pointwhere you were going
(8) to go intothe paragraph aboutthe November 19th,
(9) 1993 accident involving my client.
(10) A. This is an accident which Ms. Liapis
(11) reportedto me which happened indeed on
November
(12) the 19, of ‘93. Once again she was completely
(13) restrained with the seat and with a seat belt
(14) shoulder harness. Again she denies having struck
(15) any object of the inside of the automobile and she
(16) did not suffer any cuts, lacerations or bruises.
(17) Dr. Moodttold her and Dr. Fitchtold her
(18) that she had somehow aggravated the injury, and
(19) she believes that her jaw symptoms expanded to
(20) include pain uponthe act of chewing and headaches
(21) which had expanded before that had now
(22) deteriorated; and she finished by saying in her
(23) history that as long as she’s able to wear the
(24) bite splint that the jaw is stable, but she was
(25) planning on having arthroscopic surgery done on
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(1) the bothtemporomandibular joints and it’s my
(2) understandingthat Dr. Michael Hauser did, indeed,
@) do arthroscopic surgery after my examination.
(4) Q. Doctor, did she reportto you any direct
(5) traumato herface as a result of either the first

(6) accidenton May 9th, 1993 or the second accident
(7) on November 19th, 19937

8 MS. McCARTHY: Objection.

(9) A. She did not report any direct trauma and
(10) she specifically denied any direct trauma to any
(11) part of her face or neck — or, excuse me — face

(12) or head in either one of the accidents, Mr.
(13) Merriam.

(14) Q. All right. Doctor, did she, in giving you

(15) the history about her condition prior to the first
(16) accident, mention anything about prior headaches?
(17) A. I don’t think she did, butitisinher

(18) history that she has had headaches inthe past.
(19) Q. Well, maybe I'm getting ahead to the

(20) records that you reviewed.

(21) A. All right.

(22) Q. Sol'li save youthose questions for a

(23) little bit later. 1guess that leads meto the

(24) part of your report on pagetwo that is about the
(25) records and charts that you reviewed as part of

Page 25

(1) Q. ByMVA doyou -

(2) A. A motor vehicle accident; yes.

@) Q. Okay.

(4) A. That was she suffered direct injury to her

(5) face inthat accident. She struck her face

(6) against the inside ofthe automobile, and as a

(7) result of that she was left with aresidual and

(8) persistent, dull ache inthe right shoulder,

(9) shooting pain inthe left cervical area, the neck
(10) area and chronic neck pain. Shewas being treated
(11) as late as July of '87 for that disorder.

(12) Italso — atthat time she complained of shoulder
(13) numbness, chronic neck pain and difficulty driving
(14) the automobile and that was back in '86.

(15) Q. Okay. Didthose records indicate anything

(16) about headaches or sinus problems? And I'm

(17) referringto Section B ontop of page three of

(18) your report?

(19) A. Inher prior charts from St. John’s West

(20) Shore Hospital she listed headaches going back to
(21) 1987. She had complained - she had beento a
(22) weight control clinic and she complained of

(23) persistent headaches at that time, and in fact

(24) headaches are listed as one of her physical

(25) problemsonvirtually every one of her charts

Page 24
(1) your examination, could you summarize for the jury
(2) what records and films and so forth you looked at?
@) A. | looked at all the charts of Dr. Fitch,
(4) her personal physician and the charts from
(5) St. John’s West Shore Hospital dealing with an
6) accident inwhich she was involved in September of

(7) 1986 and her charts, Dr. Moodt’s charts, her prior
(8) dentist chartsand =

(9) Q. Didyou also look atthe emergency room?
(10) A. And the emergency room report.
(11) Q. Okay. Didyou look at - did the
(12) information you looked at include information on
(13) MRI?
(14) A. She has an MRIreport which was taken in
(15) April of 1994.
(16) Q -Okay. And also Dr. Moodt's commentary on
(17) the tomogrorne - excuse me - tomograms?
(18) A. Yes. That's in Dr. Moodt’s letters; yes.
(19) Q. Doctor, now referring to your report as
(20) well as your recollection, what was significant
(21) aboutthe records you reviewed pertaining to this
(22) individual?
(23) A. Ms. Liapiswas involved in a previous MVA

(24) which | mentioned took place in September of 1986,
(25) well before.
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(1) throughout the spring of 1987. She listedthe

(2) headaches at one time as being sinus-related, and

(3) she eventually had headaches so severe, this was

(4) backin’87, that they were awakening her at

(5) night. She described her headachesto a

(6) physician, Dr. Howard Levine, as being in the

(7) right face and cheek area.

(8) Again, Ithink = I had first thought these

(9) belongedto the paranasal sinus = these were
(10) sinus headaches, but that didn’t turn out to be
(11) the case. Dr. Levine’'s examination and x-rays of

(12) paranasal sinuses on 1-6-93 show that she had
(13) normal sinuses.

(14) Q. Dothose records indicate any complaint of

(15) facial painor ear pain prior to either of the two

(16) accidents that ! mentioned?

(17) A. Yes, Mr. Merriam. Dr. Fitch noted on March
(18) 20th, '92, ayear before the three accidents that
(19) the patient had pain in her face and on 12-8-92
(20) she complained of, quote, her ears hurt and again
(21) inJanuary of ’83, she complained she had facial
(22) pain and ears hurting. She complained of facial
(23) pain after her two accidents, but she had

(24) complaint of facial pain many times before her
(25) accidents. She attributed the pain before her
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accidents to sinus problems, butthere is good
evidence that she didn’t have sinus problems

because Howard Levine examined her and she had
didn’t have sinusitis.

(5) MS. McCARTHY: Obijection.
(6) A. So Ithink the pain inthe ears is strongly

)
®

suggestive of chronic temporomandibular joint
disorder going back to the, until 1987 at least.

(9) Ithink she hasthis disorder well before any of

(10)
(11)

the moving vehicle accidents.
Q. Doctor, do the records reflect that she had

(12) complained about clicking in her jaw priorto the

(19)

accidents we’'re talking about?

(14) A. | don't know that there’s any mention of

(18)
(16)
(7
(18)
(19)

clicking prior to these.

Q. Well, on pagethree, Section C you were
mentioning Dr. Fitch’s reports or - excuse me -
documents from 1993. | guess inJune of 1993; do
you see where I’Nreferring to inyour report?

(20) A. Yeah. Clicking was noted in June, but no
(21) other symptoms.

(22) Q. Sothis would be prior to the accidents

(23) that we're talking about inthis case?

(24) A. No. Thiswould be after the first of the
(25) three accidents SO May of '93.
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(1) A. Yes.

@
®
()

Q. What did the documentation pertainingto

those and any letters or reports by Dr. Moodt
indicate?

(5) A. Dr. Moodt took tomograms of Ms. Liapis’s

(6)

temporomandibular joints in July of 93 and these

() are significant. This is important because he

()

©
(10)
(1n
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
an
(18)
(19)
(20)
(21)
(22)
(29)
(24)
(25)

said in a letter to Dr. Murphy, he comments on his
owntomograms. He says, quote, there is nho
question that these radiographs, that means these
x-rays, do suggest the development of some
arthritic change within the temporomandibular
joints certainly would have predated her initial
accident. See, could have predated the accident
of May of 1993. Arthritic changes which Dr. Moodt
has seen in histomogram take years to develop,
take years to develop, so I presumethey have been
that — arthritic change has beenthere for a long
time. My own x-rays show arthritic changes as
well inthe left temporomandibular joint so again

I have to presume that those arthritic changes
predated all three of the accidents by years.

Q. Thank you, Doctor.

Comparing tomograms to MRis, which would

say is a better way to evaluate a potential TMD

(M
@
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Q. All right. But prior to the one involving
my client?

3) A. Yes.

)
®)
©)
Q)
®

Q. Doctor, further on inyour discussion of

what you reviewed, you refer to an MRI examination
in April of 1994. Before | asked you about that
could you tell the jury what an MRI is so we know
what you're referring to here.

(9) A. MRl is again an acronym which stands for

(10)
(n
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
@
(18)
(19)
(20)
(21)
(22)

magnetic resonance imaging. Itis a non-evasive
peak at some area inyour body. Inthis case the
temporomandibular joint which produces an image,
but when | say non-evasive it’s not like cutting
inthere to look inthere. And it's not like

you're using x-rays which you don’t liketo use
x-rays because they could be destructive to cells.
An MRI is not destructive at all, but it’s a look

at some internal portion of the body.

Inthis case the MRIwas done on

Ms. Liapis’s temporomandibular joints and they
showed normal temporomandibular joints on both
sides. Thatwas inApril of 1994.

(23) Q.Sothat was after the accident. You've

(24)
(25)

also referred to tomograms taken by Dr. Moodtin
July of 19937

(n
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problem?

(2) A. They're both pretty good. |think MRIis

©)
“
(©)
©)
@

better, but both of them are pretty accurate.
They're betterthan trying to just take aregular
x-ray. Yeah, | think MRI is probably considered

the gold standard, the best you could do.
Q. Buttomogram is certainly accepted -

(8) A. Atomogram isvery good.
(9) Q.- inyour field of specialty as a proper

(10)

way for evaluating and diagnosing TMD problems?

(11) A.Yes.

(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
1
(18)

Q. Okay. Doctor, the next section of your
report refers to oral regional and radiographic
examination, could you explain just in general
terms for the jury the type of examination you
give and specifically gave this individual kind of
braking it down by those three areas and also
explaining what the results were.

(19) A. My examination ordinarily consists looking

(20
(21)
(22)
(23)
(24)
(25)

at the bite, looking at the occlusion, then asking
the patient to opento see if the jaw deviates to
the right or the left and then palpatingthe
muscles of mastication, that is the chewing
musclesto see whether those are tended. There’s
four of those muscles. Then you measure the
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(1) opening with a little measuring stick, you know,
(@ how wide canyou open. Normalis onfemales is
(@ maybe thirty to forty-five millimeters. Thenyou
(@ measure how far they could go to the left, to the
() right and out to the front and can they do that
(6) without pain, canthey reach normal limits without
() pain, then you listen for clicks, then you palpate
(8 for popping with your fingers and then you palpate
(9 the areas around the external joint and you've

(10) made a pretty good physical examination.

(1D Q. Doctor, you've mentioned previously that

(12) you tookx-rays. |believe they were Panorex

(@3) x-rays atthetime -

(AHA. Yes.

(15)Q -youexamined this individual.

(16)A. Yes. | havethat Panorex here.

(@7 Q. Dothose x-rays confirm what Dr. Moodt had

(18) indicated in his letterto Dr. Murphy that being

(19) the existence of osteoarthritic changes in both

(20) joints?

(@1 A. Absolutely. And Ms. Liapis has

(22) osteoarthritic changes particularly inthe left

(23) and it’s evident on my x-ray; yes.

24 Q. Okay

(@5)A. And they take long years for any arthritis
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(1) this individual, the review of the reports, your

(2) examination, how is this particular individual

(3) coping -

@ MS. McCARTHY: Obijection.

) Q. -withthe symptoms that she’s complained

6) of?

(M MS. McCARTHY: Objection.

@) A. | think she visited doctors more frequently

(9 than other patients might have done. Ithink her
(10) numbers of treatments were considered to be more
(1D than others might have done. | think that even
(12) priorto her MVAs she saw Dr. Fitch for a number
(13) of things, numbness inthe shoulders, numbnessin
(14) the hand, numbness - pain inthe ankle, pain in
(15) the shoulder, butthings that are = she had a lot
(16) of somatic complaints over a period of years.
(A7) Q. What do you mean by somatic?

(18)MS. McCARTHY: Objection.

(19)A. Bodily complaints of...

(20) Q .Doctor, you indicate inyour report that
(21) you would put her inthe category of a chronic
(22) pain patient, could you explainthatto us.

(23) A. She had a number of anatomic areas in which
(24) she complained frequently as some people do.
(25) Q. Okay. Doctor, I'm goingto askyou a
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(@ to develop asyou know.

@) Q. Doctor, if you could just summarize for the

(@) jury what your examination of this Plaintiff

(¥ indicated.

(5) A.When she opened she was able to reach

(©) thirty-eight millimeters which is within normal

(7) limits, but she did a lot of guarding, that is

(8 moving, so that she didn’'t want to open very much;

(© and the muscles of mastication, she had some
(10) tenderness inthe left muscles and llistened for
(1D clicks. I didn’'t hear any because she didn’t open
(12) really wide enough to hear a click, but that isn’t
(13) significant. Clicks aren’t significant anyway
(14) unlessthey’re associated with a lot of other
(15) cluster symptoms. She was having, summarily she
(16) was having some temporomandibular joint
discomfort
(@7 and painonthe left side when lexamined her.
(18) Q. Okay. Doctor, inyour discussion section
(19) d your reportyou mentionthat some TMD patients
(20) cope well and some do not; did | accurately quote
(21) your report?
(@)A. Yes. lthink some patientstolerate minor
(23) discomfort and the little ups and downs of life
(24) better than others; yes.
(25)Q. Doctor, based onthe history you took from
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Q) series of questions all of which I'd likeyouto

(@ answer with a reasonable degree of medical

(@) certainty and based onyour education, your

(@ training, your experience, the history you took

() from this individual as well as the records that

(6) you have reviewed.

() First of all, Iwant to ask youto a

(8) reasonable degree of medical certainty based on

() all those things whether this individual had
(10) chronic temporomandibular disorder prior to either
(11) the May 9th, '93 accident or the November 19th,
(12) ‘93 accident involving my client?
(A3)MS. McCARTHY: Objection.
(14) A. Mr. Merriam, | believe strongly that
(15) Ms. Liapis has had chronic temporomandibular joint
(16) disorder for many years prior to any of the three
(@7) motor vehicle accidents. The three recent ones.
(18) Q. Doctor, would you summarize for the jury
(19) the basis of that opinion.
(20) MS. McCARTHY: Objection.
(21) A. She had a number of symptoms prior to 1993
(22) including episodes of facial pain, ear pain, pain
(23) behind the eyes and headaches all of which suggest
(24) a cluster of symptoms which would suggest
(25) temporomandibular joint and they’re all in her
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charts going back to the late “80sand early *90s.
Q. Doyou also base your opinion on the fact
that the radiographic evidence shows
osteoarthritic changes?
MS. McCARTHY: Objection,
A. Both by Dr. Moodt and by my own x-rays
shows she has osteoarthritic changes which take a
long timing to develop which would suggest that
she hastemporomandibular joint disorder for many
years prior to 1993. Perhaps beginning with her
auto accident in 1986 or perhaps because of the
various stresses of her life, but she’s had it for

a long time prior to the accident.
MS. McCARTHY: Objection.

Q. Based onthat, your last comment there, |
would assume the prior accidentin 1986 where
there was direct contact with the face is also

part of the basis of your opinion?
MS. McCARTHY: Objection,

A. That is right, Mr. Merriam. You needto
strike your face inorder to produce
temporomandibular joint disorder as a result of
trauma. She has not in any of the three
subsequent accidents, inthe *93,”94ime, she
did not strike her face any time.

@
@
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either of the two motor vehicle accidents that
we've mentioned?

(3) MS. McCARTHY: Objection.
(4) A. Yes; | have such an opinion, Mr. Merriam.

®)
©)
Q]
®
©)
(10)
(1
(12)
(13)

The need for treatments arose from her
longstanding temporomandibular joint disorder, her
longstandingjoint disorder as I've just

explained. Notfrom any of the motor vehicle
accidents.

Q. All right. Doctor, do you have an opinion
againto areasonable degree of medical certainty
and based on all the things that | previously
listed as to her prognosis for the future?

(14) MS. McCARTHY: Objection.
(15) A. Understand that | have not seen her from

(16)
a7
(18)
(19)
(20)
(21)
(22)
(23)
(24)
(25)

1994. It's hard for me to make a definitive
prognosis, but based on from what I've beentold |
would think that after she’s had jaw joint

surgeries and treatment, | think her prognosis in
my experience is pretty good. You have patients
who get better, that do not continue to have
temporomandibular joint all their lives, the joint
disorder. They get better after such treatment.

It's the reason for such treatment really.

Q. Okay. And, finally, Doctor, do you have an

M
@
(©)
O]
(5)
(6)
@)
®
©
{10)
(an
(12)
(13)
(14)
(18)
(16)
an
(18)
(19)
(20)
(21)
(22)
(23)
(24)
(25)
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In 1986, in that accident, she did strike

her face and thereafter she starts talking about
jaw pain — excuse me - about facial pain, about
ear pain and about headaches and then lIimagine
that’s when she beganto have the osteoarthritic
changes inthe joint, which are evident in both
Dr. Moodt’'s x-rays and in my x-rays.

Q. Thank you, Doctor.
Againto areasonable degree of medical

certainty do you have an opinion as to the
reasonableness of the treatment she had received
up until the pointyou saw her?

MS. McCARTHY: Objection,
A. Yes. |think all of her treatment was
reasonable. Dr. Moodt made a bite splint for her
which isthe ordinary treatment. Sometimes
makes — most frequently makes patients improve.
If that doesn’t make patients improve then you
have arthroscopic surgery which itis my
understanding she had done by Dr. Hauser. Yeah;
treatment is within normal limits; yes.

Q. Doctor, do you have an opinion as to

whether the treatment was proximately caused by
either of the two motor vehicle accidents or the

need for that treatment was proximately caused by

@
@
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opinion regarding any claim of permanent problems
that she may be relating to the accident involving

(3) my client orthe one before that?
(4) MS. McCARTHY: Objection.

(5) A. My own view and that is after proper bite

©)

™

®)

(©)
(10)
(A1)
(12)
13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
@an
(18)
(19)

splint therapy and arthroscopic and/or open
surgery patients get better, but we do know that
they do not have longstanding, permanent
disability because the jaw remodels.

Eventually, jaws remodel and as I've

mentioned before you have patients — a lot of
studies were done on patients in nursing homes,
for example, who complain about everything, but
nottemporomandibular disorders; so where did it
go? They had it, an awful lot of people had it
when they are young, and it eventually does
dissipates. And this had been brought out by a

number of articles to see that eventually itisa
self-limiting disorder.

{20) MR. MERRIAM: Thank you,

(21)
(22)

Doctor. | don’t have any further questions for
you right now.

(23) MS. McCARTHY: Off the

(24)

record.

(25) (A short break was taken)
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CROSS-EXAMINATION OF KENNETH R. CALLAHAN, D.D.¢

® BY MS. McCARTHY:
(4) Q. Doctor, my name is Ellen McCarthy, and |
(5) along with Leon Plevin representthe Liapis’s in
(6) this action. | have some questions for you.
(@ And | suppose, first of all, Doctor, is it
@®) your opinion that when you saw this woman at the
() request of one of the Defendants in October of
(10) 1994 she had dysfunction of the temporomandibular
(11) joint?
@A. ltis; yes.
(@3 Q All right. No doubt inyour mind about
(% that when you saw her she was in dysfunction?
(@5)A. Yes. That's true.
@6) Q All right. Now, could you and | agree that
@7 dysfunction of the temporomandibular joints can be
(@8) avery painful condition?
(19) A. Oh,yes.
20) Q-kitafunctionally, limiting condition?
@DA. Well, there's all different gradienciesto
(22) it, but full-blown temporomandibular joint
@ disorder is functionally limiting, yes; and
@ painful.
() Q .ltcan be a permanent injury, can it not,

Page4l

@ Q.Allright. Now, interms of the first part

(2) of your opinion that she had symptoms in 1986, 88

() orthereabouts associated with temporomandibular

@ joint dysfunction.

O A. Yes.

©) Q. Where did you getthat information and when

(7) didyou getit?

®A. Well, I gotthe information from her charts

© and Ireceived that sometime either priorto or
(0) after my independent medical examination. | never
(11) look at charts until | do the examination.
@2) Q .Did you receive the medical records
(@3) associated with her 1986 automobile accident two
(14) days ago?
@5 A. | have prior records from St. John’s West
(16) Shoreinthis chart. | received the full set two

(@7 days ago, but | had = itturned out | read prior
(@8) to that.

@9 Q -Doctor, you would agree that facial pain,
() pain behind the eyes and headaches are complaints

(2D consistent with a sinus problem or sinus
(@) infection; would you not?

@A. Yes.
@ Q. All right. Now, your function in this case

(25) was just to see this woman one time, review some
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() or permanent problem?
@A. Well, again, this is a kind of disputed
(3) point. Without treatment it may be a longstanding
(4 disorder.
(5) Q.Canitbe alongstanding disorder even with
(6) treatment?
(A. Yes.
® Q _That was your opinion in October of 1994;
(9) isthatright?
(10) A. What was?
(11) Q -All of those things? You had that opinion
(@) orthose ideas in mind in October of 19947
@3A. Yes.
@ Q All right. As | understand it, Doctor, you
(5) basethe opinion that Ms. Liapis had
(@6) temporomandibular joint dysfunction on, | believe,
(@7) three things. The first one beingthatin
(@8) sometime inthe late ‘80s she had avariety of
A9 symptoms that you associate with temporomandibular
(20) joint dysfunction; isthat correct?
@DA. Yes.

@ Q All right. Now, you also base that opinion
(@) onthe fact that she shows osteoarthritic changes
@ in her x-rays; is that correct?

)A. Yes.
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() records, arrive at some conclusions and if
(@ necessary testify aboutthose conclusions; is that
) correct?
4) A. That is correct.
® Q All right. And in doing that task it's
(6) important for you to thoroughly review the records

() that you were provided; correct?
) A.That is correct.

(9) Q. It'simportantto be accurate with respect
(10) to the facts that you were not only familiar with
(L) the patient, butfrom your review of all the

(12 medical records you were provided; correct?
(@3)A. Yes. That is correct.

@4 Q .And it's important to be fair interms of
(@5) your opinions; correct?

(@6)A. Oh, sure.

@7 Q -Now, you didn’t have any intention of

(@8) providingthis woman with dental care; did you?
A9A. No.

(20)Q -How many times a year do you see people

(D like Ms. Liapis for this one-time evaluation and
@) records review?

() A. As you know | see patients both = on both
(24) sides, Plaintiffs as well as Defense patients.
() Perhapstwenty per year.
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(1) Q. Maybe I didn’t phrase my question
(2) correctly.
3@ On how many occasions do you do these
(4) independent medical examinations peryear?
(5) A. Well, | think whatever = | don’t keep
(6) closetrack of that, Ms. McCarthy, but | think on
(7) the Discovery deposition Isaid around twenty or
(8) twenty four; something like that.
9) MS. McCARTHY: Let’sgo off
(10) the record for a minute.
(1) (Ashort breakwas taken)
(12) BY MS. McCARTHY:
(13) Q. Okay. Doctor, Ithink inthe time | took
(14) your Discovery deposition on Monday, you told me
(15) you do about three a month which by my math is
(16) thirty sixayear; would you quibble with that?
(17) A. Probably a little high, but again | don’t
(18) keep accurate records on that.
{19) Q.What do you charge, Doctor, for the
(20) examination of the patient as distinct from
(21) sitting down and analyzing the medical records and
(22) actually writing a report?
(23) A. The charge for the examination is pretty
(24) much standard assigned by which considered
usually

(25) customary and reasonable in Northeast Ohio and
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(1) that is someplace around $50 for the examination

(2) and someplace around $50 for the Panorex x-ray.

(3) Q.And how much do you charge, Doctor, for the

(4) review of the records and generating a report

(5) setting forth your opinions?

(6) A. Itdepends. Ifit's avery short chart, |

(7) charge I suppose by the hour, it's avery short

(8) letter of one page or two pages, | suppose then it

(9) would take you a half hour or forty-five minutes,
(10) an hour maybe, that would be maybe $200. A longer

(1) reportwould be maybe more like $400.
(12) Q. $400 for the report or $400 an hour?

(13) A. No, no. $400 for the report plusthe
(14) typing costs, plusthe exam costs.

(15) Q. Soyou wrote a seven-page report on
(16) Ms. Liapis inyour review of what you call
(17) voluminous records, what did that cost?
(18) A. I'msorry. lIdon’t have that record,
(19) Ms. McCarthy.

(20) Q. Well, based on -

(21 A. That was back in 1994. Idon’t keep
(22) records.

(23) Q. Well, based on your experience, Doctor,

(24) what would you except for that type of work to
(25) have cost?
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(1) A. It's along report, ittook me two nights.
(2) Isuppose $400 or $500 total.
(3) Q. And your charge for testifying by the hour
(4) iswhat, Doctor?
(5) A. $225.
(6) Q.You don'ttreat disorders of the
(7) temporomandibular joint beyond medication and diet
(8) advice; is that right?
(9) A That istrue. Ifthey need bite splints |
(10) send them to a colleague inthe building here. If
(') they need surgery then | send them down to the
(12) University Hospitals to Dr. Goldberg.
(13) Q.You have not operated as an attending
(14) surgeon 0N the temporomandibular joint since the
(15) 1960s;is that correct?
(16) A. As the first operator, that is correct;
(17) no, lhaven't.
(18) Q. Ifyou have a patientwith a
(19) temporomandibular joint problemwho needs
(20) treatment, you send that patient out to
(21) specialists so that patient gets the very best
(22) care for their temporomandibular joint; is that
(23) right?
(24) A. Yes. | explained that Idon’'t want to
(25) stand at atable that long anymore.
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(1) Q. Sure. Inthe past, Doctor, you have
(2) referred patients of your ownto Dr. Michael

(3) Hauser at Mt. Sinai Medical Center; haven't you?
(4) A. Yes.

(5) Q.And you were aware that Ms. Liapis was a

(6) patient of Dr. Hauser's; right?
(7) A. Yes.

(8) Q. Now, Dr. Hauser not only has a dental

(9 degree but has a medical degree as well; is that
(10) correct?

(1) A. That is correct.

(12) Q.All right. You would acknowledgethat he

(13) is a highly skilled and highly regarded

(14) temporomandibular joint surgeon inthis community;
(15) wouldn’tyou?

(16) A. Yes.

(17) Q. All right. And because he is so highly

(18) regarded and so highly skilled you send patients
(19) of your ownto himfor evaluation and treatment if
(20) necessary; correct?

(21) A. ljust said that; yes.

(22) Q. Now, you don’t consider yourself an expert

(23) inthe surgical management of temporomandibular
(24) joints atthis point; do you?

(25) A. No.
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(1) Q.Would you deferto Dr. Hauser as to whether
(2) Ms. Liapis developed temporomandibular joint

@ disorder as the result of the May 1993 accident?
(4) MR. DOWNS: Objection.
(5) MR. MERRIAM: Objection.
®) A. No. lwouldn't becausewe're talking about
(7) causation. You're talking about surgical
(8) technique.
(9) BYMS. MCCARTHY:
(10) Q. All right. Well, you understand
(11) Dr. Hauser's opinion to bethat the accidents that
(12) issueinthis case caused the problems he
(13) diagnosed and treated her for; right?
(14) MR. DOWNS: Objection.
(15) MR. MERRIAM: Objection.
(16) A. That may be his opinion. That is not my
(17) opinion.
(18) BY MS. McCARTHY:
(19) Q. When | was here on Monday, Doctor, you gave
(20) me a number of items that caused temporomandibular
(21) joint dysfunctionand I'd like to runthrough
(22) those with you sothat I'm correct.
(23) You talked about bruxing or grinding as
(24) beinga cause?
25) A. Yes.
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(1) A. Stress itself is causative.

(2) Q. Isthat something differentthan causative

3) of bruxingand clenching?

@) A. Yes.

(5) Q. All right. Explain how that is different.

®) A.1think stress causes muscle tension and

(7) the muscletension then produces
temporomandibular

(8) joint disorder.

(9) Q.Well, the muscle tension would lead to what
(10) anatomic function that would produce disorders?
(@1 A. Well, that might beto bruxing or
(12) clenching.

(13) Q. All right. You also talked about a cluster
(14) of symptoms associated with temporomandibular
(15) joint dysfunction -

(16) A. Uh-huh.

(17) Q. - as being pain on opening; correct?
(18) A. Yes.

(19) Q. Ear pain?

(20) A. Yes.

(21) Q. Headaches?

(22) A. Yes.

(23) Q. Painwhile chewing?

(24) A. Uh-huh.

(25) Q. Facial pain?
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(1) Q. Clenching?
(2) A. Yes.
3) Q.Gum chewing?
4) A. Yes.
%) Q. Chin-to-shoulder telephone use?
©) A. These are = you asked for all the list of
(7) all of,yes, the causes.
(8) Q.Okay. I'd liketo go through them.
9 A. All right.
(io) Q. Singing?
(11) A. Singing, vocals.
(12) Q. Violin playing?
(13) A. Uh-huh.
(14) Q. kthat a'yes"?
(15) A. That's ayes.
(16) Q. Sudden uncontrolled sneezing or yawning?
a7) A. Yes.
(18) Q. Opening too wide to eat asub sandwich?
(19) A. Yes.
(20) Q. And directinjury to the jaw; is that
(21) right?
(22) A. And stress.
(23) Q. Well, actually Ithink you didn't really
(24) say stress was causative. YO0U said stress leads
(25) to bruxing and clicking?
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(1) A. Facial pain; yes.

(2) Q. Ringinginthe ears?

3) A. Tinnitus, ringing inthe ears; yes.

@) Q. And inthe presence of one or several of

(5) those symptoms, clicking or popping would be

(6) indicative of the temporomandibular joint

(7) dysfunction; isthat correct?

(8) A. In association with other symptoms; yes.

©) Q. Inone of the symptoms ljust read off?
(10) A. Yes.
(11) Q. Al right. Now, atthe time you wrote your
(12) report on November7th, 1994you had Dr. Fitch's
(13) records, Dr. Beater's records and Dr. Moodt's
(14) records; is that right?
(15) A. Yes.
(16) MR. DOWNS: Objection.
(17) BY MS. MCCARTHY:
(18) Q. Afteryou examined Ms. Liapis and reviewed
(19) the records you wrote a seven-page report setting
(20) forth your summary of all those things and your
(21) opinions; is that right?
(22) A. Yes.
(23) Q. And you said in that report you believed
(24) hertemporomandibular joint dysfunction is related
(25) to alongstanding bout with temporomandibular
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(1) joint disorder; is that right?
(2) A. Yes.
(3) Q. Could you please show me in your file what
(4) recordsyou have or had atthe time you wrote this
(5) reportthat documented this woman ever made
(6) complaints of pain while opening her mouth, pain
(7) chewingfoods, painyawning, pain while laughing
(8) or pain opening realwide?
(9) A. That is not documented inthe records nor
(10) did | say itwas. She had =
(11) Q. All right. Thankyou.
(12) A. -theother symptoms, pain inthe ears and
(13) headaches and ringing inthe ears, however.
(14) MS. McCARTHY: Moveto strike
(15) the last comment as non-responsive to the
(16) question.
(17) BY MS. McCARTHY:
(18) Q. Now, could you show me inyour records,
(19) Doctor, where it's indicated that this woman
(20) struck herface inthe 1986 accident?
(21) A. We may as well go off the record because
(22) I'm going to haveto find it.
(23) (A short break was taken.)
(24) BY MS. McCARTHY:
(25) Q. Could you tell me what you're looking at
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(1) face. Isn’t face part of the head?
(2) Q. Doctor, | would imagine that people inthis
(3) professionwould be more specific. Ifthat were
(4) the case, ifshe struck her face, Dr. Randtwould
(5) have putthat inthere.
(6) MR. MERRIAM: Objection.
(7) Q. Now, it could have beenthe back of her
(8) head for allwe know; is that right?
9 A. No; itisn’'t. Itsaysthe right side of
(10) her head. Itdoesn’t say the back of her head.
(11) The right side of her head.
(12) Q. Itcould bethe right, top side of her
(13) head; right? It has nothingto do with herface;
(14) right?
(15) MR. MERRIAM: Objection.
(16) A. And thorax. Ifyou getthethorax and the
(17) head, then you’d haveto getthe face. | think
(18) that's reasonable.
(19) Q. That is your interruption of her head?
(20) A. That's correct.
(21) BY MS. McCARTHY:
(22) Q. All right. Incidentally, at that time did
(23) Ms. Liapis make any complaints at all about jaw
(24) pain?
(25) A. 11-6-86, it states on the record maxillary,
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(1) specifically, Doctor?
(2) A. I'm looking at a narrative letter written
(3) by George Randt, R-A-N-D-T, M.D., internal
(4) meéiicine. He writes June 13th, 1988, forty-two
(5) year old involved in auto accident 8-31-86 when
(6) another car struck the front of the passenger’s
(7) side of the car which she was riding. Ms. Liapis
(8) stated that she struckthe right side of her head,
(9) the right side of her thorax and abdomen and
(10) twisted her head. She suffered tinnitus of the
(11) leftear.
(12) Q. I'm asking for an record that indicates she
(13) struck her face, Doctor.
(14) A. Well, 1think when you strike your head and
(15) your thorax face Bright in betweenthose and it
(16) sticks out further. | think when you strike your
(17) head and your thorax, you can’t help but strike

(18) your face. Unless she has a caved-in face which
(19) she doesn't.

(20) Q. Canyou and | agree thatthere isn’t any

(21) record that indicates Ms. Liapis struck her face
(22) inthe 1986 automobile accident?

(23) MR. MERRIAM: Objection.

(24) A. I've just explained to you, Ms. McCarthy,
(25) that if you strike your head that includes your
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(1) that meansthe upper jaw, maxil is the upper jaw,
(2) maxillary facial pain. History, several days of
(3) facial pain. Maxillary isthe upper jaw.
4) Q.Why don’twe just read the notice that
(5) exists, Doctor. Would you do that for us?
(6) 11-6-86, readthe entirefirst, underlined
(7) sentence. Out of abundance of fairness.
(8) A. Maxillary facial pain with nasal
(9) congestion.
(10) Q. Thenthe next sentence reads history,
(11) several days of -
(12) A. Several days of facial pain with nasal
(13) congestion and some postnasal drip. No period
(14) with drainage fever or chills findings.
(15) Q. All right. Now, in summary, the doctor
(16) diagnoses or puts down, maxillary facial pain and
(17) congestion, will treat with decongestant and he

(18) prescribes Drixoral and a nasal spray; is that
(19) correct?

(20) A. Yes.
(21) Q. And the next note afterthat dated 12-19-86
(22) says absolutely nothing about her congestion or

(23) her nasal problem; is that right?
(24) A. Yes; that’s right.

(25) Q. Now, interms of the November ‘86 note,
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() when was that note generated in relation to the
(@ automobile accident?
® A. That was priorto the auto accident of "86.
@ Q J thought the automobile accident that you
(5) justtalked about when quoted Dr. Randt's report
(6) was 8-31-8867
@ A. All right. So that was after the auto
(8) accident. Bothwere after the auto accident.
O Q. So it's at least three months after the
(10) automobile accident, or about three months after
(11) the automobile accident; isthat right?
@A. Yes.
@3 Q. So ifwe accept what you said on direct
(14) that if a patient injures their temporomandibular
(15) joint inan automobile accident they will have
(@6) symptoms immediately; right?
(17) A.Yes.
(18) Q.All right. So canwe -
(19) A. They should have symptoms, butthey don't

() necessarily report the symptoms and she didn't.

(21) Q.All right. So canwe eliminated the 1986
(@) accidentas being causative of any injury to her
@) jaw?

@DMR. MERRIAM: Objection.

) A. Ithink it's speculative what is causative
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(1) thenthat she was starting to get some TMJ
(2) symptoms.
® Q. Butyou told me you needto have more than
@ one symptom inthat constellation of symptoms in
®) order to have temporomandibular joint dysfunction;
6) didn'tyoutell methat earlier?
(@ A | did, butshe reported only one.
(8) Q. Right. So she couldn't possibly have had

(9) temporomandibular joint dysfunction at that time?
@0) A. That's not true.

(11) MR. MERRIAM: Obijection.

(@2 Moveto strike.

@3 A She only reported one.

@9 Q. Are you saying she had symptoms and didn't
(@5) reportthem?

(16) A. Yes.

@HQ. Okay. What symptoms did she have that she
(8) failed to report, Doctor?

(19) A. Well, Idon't know. Iknow that she had
() one at least, ringing inthe ear.

(@D Q. All right. Butthat's insufficient to

(@) arrive at a diagnosis of TMJ; isthat true?

@ A. Itis certainly suggestive of...

@ Q. kitsufficient inand of itself to arrive

(&) at adiagnosis of temporomandibular joint
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() in 1986. She had itfor a longtime.

@ Q. Since it's speculative can we eliminate the

@ 1986accidentas causative of temporomandibular

(4) joint dysfunction?

(8) MR. MERRIAM: Objection.

6) A. No. We can not, Ms, McCarthy, because she

(7) struck her face at that time.

(8) Q. Butyoutold us earlier, Doctor, that a

@®) person hasto have immediate complaints of jaw
(10) painifthere's ajaw injury.
(11) A. That is correct.
(12) Q. This woman has no documented complaints of
(13) jaw pain atthattime; isthat right?
(14) A. It's not documented, but she should have
(15) had some symptoms at the time.
{16y Q. Why should she have had some symptoms at
17) thattime?
(18) A. Because she struck her face.
@9 Q. No, no. She struck the right side of her
() head. Let's stick with Dr. Randt's description of
@ it
@ MR. MERRIAM: Objection,
@) A. The auto accident was 8-31-86. On 9-2-86
(24) she sees Dr. Randt and she was complaining of
() tinnitus inthe ear and that would be a symptom
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{1y dysfunction? "Yes"or "no"?
@ A. No.
® Q. All right. Thank you.
@ Now, you said on direct examination that
(5) thiswoman, and | can't recall your phrase for it,
6) butas | understand it the gist of it was that she
(@ is inand out of the doctors' office with a myriad
(8) of complaints, Doctor, from head to toe; right?
(9) MR. MERRIAM: Objection.
Qo Q Would that be a fair characterization of
(11) what you said?
(12) A. | don't think from headto toe. She had a
(13) number of somatic, bodily complaints.
@49 Q. Okay. And prior to May 9th, 1993 she never
(@5) made any complaints of jaw pain; true?
(16) A. She had signs of TMdJ pain. She did not
(7)) make a complaint of jaw pain except the note of
(@8 maxillary pain.
@9 Q. Well, that could be associated with sinus;
Q) right?
@) A. Except we found out from Dr. Levine's
(@) examination that she didn't have sinus.
@) Q. We didn'tfind anything out from
(% Dr. Levine.
(&) MR. MERRIAM: Objection.
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(1) Moveto strike.

(2) BY MS. McCARTHY:

(3) Q.We can assume, can we not, that she did not

(4) complain - because she did not explain on the

(5) nextvisit of any more sinus trouble or nasal

(6) drip, thatthe medication she was given was

(7) sufficient to take care of that problem; can’t we?

8 MR. MERRIAM: Objection.

© A. No. We can’'t. Temporomandibular joint
(10) also is a disease of exacerbation and remission,
(11) itcomes and goes, it has bad days and good days.
(12) Q. Sofor sevenyears betweenthe 1986

(13) accident and the May ‘93 accidentwas her TMJ
(14) problem in a dormant condition?
(15) A. Idon't think it was dormant. | think
(18) every once in awhile she would have some
symptoms.
(17) Itwas not discovered.
(18) Q. Did Dr. Randt misdiagnose her?
(i) A. No. Ithink an awful lot of people, |
(20) think TMD is hard to diaghose because it mimics so
(21) many other disorders and this has been published
(22) againvery frequently that sometimes it's
(23) overlooked, unless you're specifically looking for
(24) it; because it mimics so many others.
(25) Q. So Dr. Randt missed it?
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(1) complaints to Dr. Fitch during the period of time

(2) Dr. Fitchtreated her before the May '93 accident

(3) of paininthe jaw, popping, clicking, painon

(4) opening, painwhile chewing, pain while yawning

(5) and painwhile laughing?

6) A. No.

(7) Q.All right. Did Dr. Fitch miss the

8) diagnosis, aswell?

(9) A. Dr. Fitch notices some other symptoms. She
(10) does not diagnose this as temporomandibular joint,
(11) but again that's hard to diagnose.

(12) Q. Sure. Now, did Ms. Liapis sustain any

(13) injury inthese accidents?

(14) MR. DOWNS: Objection.

(15) A. | am not an expert inthe areas of

(16) shoulders and neck injuries so Idon’t know. It
(17) is reportedthat she complained of shoulder, back
(18) and ankle injuries.

(19) Q. She also complained of a neck injury?

(20) A. That's what she said when she went to the
(21) emergency room, | believe.

(22) Q. Okay. Can a person have --- strike that.

(23) Can cervical whiplash cause

(24) temporomandibular joint dysfunction specifically
(25) internal derangement?
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(1) A. He reports that she had soft tissue injury,
(2) strains and sprains to the neck, shoulders, chest
(3) wall resulting from a motor vehicle accident. It
(4) doesn’t, no. Hedidn’t diagnose temporomandibular
(5) joint disorder, but itwould be probably hard to
6) find at that time, too.
(7) Q. So he missed it?
(8) A. All right.
(9) Q.Allright. And inthe seven years that
(10) transpired between that accident and the first
(11) accident atissue here, Dr. Beater, her treating
(12) dentist missed it; is that right?
(13) A. He did not specifically ever exam her for
(14) it.
(15) Q. How do you knowthat?
(16) A. Because he would have written it down. Did
(17) aTMJ exam.
(18) Q. Did she ever make any complaints to him of
(19) jaw pain?
(20) A. No.
(21) Q. Painon opening?
22) A No.
(23) Q. Popping, clicking?
(24) A. No.
(25) Q. All right. Did she ever make any
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(1) A. No. That's what we’ve discussed talking

(2) about Dr. Howard.

(3) Q. Who?

(4) A. Dr. Howard who published the article in

(5) 1995, an excellent article saying that cervical

(6) whiplash, the flexion/extension injury does not

(7) cause internal derangement. That’s in my letter

(8 when I mentioned Dr. Puliger (phonetic) said, no,

(9) itdoes not cause displacement or derangements;
(10) and that's what Dr. Laskin found out in his
(11) one-hundred and fifty three examples of patients
(12) who had cervical extension/flexion, that is

(13) whiplash. He did not notice any significant
(14) temporomandibular joint disorder.

(15) MS. McCARTHY: Moveto strike

(16) as non-responsive to the question.

(17) BY MS. McCARTHY:

(18) Q. Doctor, have you ever questioned to the

(19) contrary, that cervical whiplash trauma can and
(20) will cause temporomandibular joint dysfunction
(21) specifically internal derangement?

(22) A. (No response)

(23) Q. Maybe | can help you out.

(24) A. Please help me out because Idon’t recall
(25) that.
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(1) Q.Wendy Perin, P-E-R-I-N, versus Bella
@ Leybovich, L-E-Y-B-0-V-I-C-H, case number 153064,
) pending in Cuyahoga County before Judge James J.
(@ Carol, cross-examination of Dr. Kenneth Callahan,
&) you were being represented by David Borland and
(6) Thomas O.Callahanwas cross-examining you and he
() asked you the following question: As a -
8) strike that.

9) “Question: And fact is cervical whiplash

(10) trauma can and will cause temporomandibular

(11) joint dysfunction specifically internal

(12) derangement?”Your answer was yes.

(13) MR. MERRIAM: Objection.

@49 Moveto strike.

(@5 Q. Do you dispute that?

(@B A. Pardon?

@) Q. Doyou dispute that that was your

(18) testimony?

(19) A. I don't - will you give usthe date of

) that testimony, please?

@D Q. I don’t havethe date of it, Doctor, but I

() can certainly get itto you?

@A. I believeyou could find that date. It's

(@b someplace onthere, and I'll betyou itwas in

&) 1985;inthe middle *80s.
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(1) A. Yes.
@ Q. Or after the first two accidents; is that
@ right?

@ A. That's right. But Dr. Moodt’s found it in
(5) 1993.
6) MS. McCARTHY: Objection. As
() non-responsive to the question. Moveto strike.
(8) BY MS. McCARTHY:
© Q. Now, inyour report, at least as | could
(0) count, five times you indicate that Ms. Liapis
(11) never made any complaints consistent with TMD for
(@2 two half months following the first accident and
(@3) that is incorrect; isn’tthat right?
D A. Just a minute. Sorry, just a minute.
(@5) Q. I could give you the page and reference if
(@6) that will help.
@ A. | say in my report at one time it was not
(@8 untiltwo and a half months later that she first
(19) soughttreatment, and that is, of course, correct.

(20) Two and a half months later, first sought
@D treatment.

@ Q. Pagethree, paragraph C?

) A. But she first complained of treatment on a
@ month - six weeks after the MVA.

&) Q. Butyou didn’t putthat inyour report; did
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(1) Q. Okay. So nowyou recallthis testimony?
@ A. And everyone - since so much new material
® has come out inthe *90sabout specifically
@ whiplash injuries vis-a-vis temporomandibular
(5) joint disorder, of course, I've changed my opinion
(6) onthat. People who don’'t change their opinions,
(7) they'’re foolish people.
(8) Q. Can a person have arthritis and never be
©) troubled by it, Doctor?
(10) A. | think you could have low-grade arthritis
(11) that's starting to show up and not have symptoms.
(@2 Q. All right. In terms of MRI that was done
@3 inApril, | believe itwas April 19, 1994 and you
(@4 have a copy of that report inyour records there.
(5) It was ordered by Dr. Moodt.
(AB)A. Yes.
@) Q. And that MRI showed no significant
(@8) arthritic changes; isthattrue? 1believe it
(19 might be one of the pages | turned.
(D) A. Menisci, that MRI shows menisci. That is
(@D the discs normal positionon the right and left
() side. There’s normal range of motion. There's no
@3 evidence of subluxation, condyle appears normal

@ and no significant arthritic changes, that's true.
() Q. And that was after this accident?
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(1) you?

@ A. No. Butremember it is, as we've said, a

@ very voluminous set of charts.

@ Q. Well, certainly that's an important point,

®) Doctor, isn’tit? When she was first making any

) complaints that youwould associate with the

() diagnosis of TMD?

@®) A. | think lalready answered that. |said

9) that the difference between six weeks and two and
(10) a half months is insignificant. If you don’t make
D itwithinthe first three or four days then | find
@) that significant. Six weeks or eight weeks
(@3) doesn’t make much difference.
(@4 Q. So then we go backto the 1986 accidents
(@5) where there are no complaints associated with TMD
(@6) within the firsttwo or three or four days; right?
@) A. There was a complaint the third day inthe
@8) 1986 accident according to Dr. Randt that she had
(9) tinnitus, ringing in her ears.
) Q. Buttold methat inthe absence of any
(2D other complaintthat you gave me -
@ A. That amountsto at least a
() temporomandibular joint symptoms.
@»HQ. Butthat's not that what you told me
(25) earlier.
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(1) MR. MERRIAM: Objection.

(2) A. Isaid she didn’t report any others.

(3) Itdidn't meanthere weren’t any others.

(4) Q. Right, okay. She didn’t report them.

(5) A. All right.

6) Q.You also told me earlier on itwas

(7) importantto be accurate interms of defense;

(8) right? Soyou were inaccurate here; right?

(99 MR. MERRIAM: Objection.
(10) A. Inthat = I’ve listed a number of times

(1) where lwas. lIsaid that she didn’t seek
(12) treatment for two and a half months and that one
(13) instance it said she didn’t have symptoms for two
(14) and a half months, that is inaccurate.

(15) Q. Okay. Well, let'sthen go through it.

(16) Fourlines down, paragraph C, pagethree, first
(17) sentence on linefour: Clickingwas noted inJune
(18) butwith no other symptoms, that’s wrong; isn’t
(19) it?

(20) A. That's wrong, but =

(21) Q. All right.

(22) A. Yes, for areason. It's very hardto read

(23) Dr. Fitch’s chart. Ifinally found itthe other
(24) night going backthrough it, again Ican’t read
(25) that. Itdoesn’t look like TMJto me, but it is,
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(1) apparently, if you look down at it very closely.
(2) Q. Well, | guess ajury will be able to
(3) determine whether it’s legible or not. |
(4) certainly had no trouble reading it.
(5 MR. MERRIAM. Objection.
®) Moveto strike.
(7) BY MS. McCARTHY:
8) Q. She does write inthe June 16, 1993 note
(9) where she writes jaw popping, left side face pain;
(10) isn’tthat correct?
(1) A. Yes. In June 16th, low back pain, jaw
(12) pops, still pain in neck and shoulder.
(13) Q. Has had seven therapy sessions, nasal
(14) congestion -
(15) A. Yes.
(18) Q. Postnasaldrip.
(17) A. Postnasal drip.
(18) Q. Dizziness.
(19) A. Dizziness.
(20) Q. Leftside of face pain -
(21) A. Left side of face pain, congestion.
(22) Q. All right. Your sentence later onin
(23) paragraph C, which is seven lines down: And she
(24) was not having any TMJ symptoms. She was having
(25) TMJ symptoms on June 16,1993; wasn’t she?
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(1) A. Are you referring to face pain? Itwould
(2) have beenthe congestion, too.
(3) Q. I'mreferringto popping and face pain.
(4) Well, you've dismissed the face pain earlier as
(5) being sinus-related.
(6) MR. MERRIAM: Objection.
(7) Moveto strike.
8 Q. She was having symptoms on June 16,1993 of
(9) temporomandibular joint dysfunction; right?
(10y A. That’s right. That B six weeks after the
(11) MVAfor the first time.
(12) Q. Then on page six, top paragraph, third
(13) sentence downyou say she had no symptoms during
(14) those two and one half months; again, that’s
(15) incorrect?
(16) A. Yes.
(17) Q. All right.
(18) A. i said she didn’t seek treatment for two
(19) and a half months.
(20) Q. V’'m sorry, maybe | misread it. I'rn
(21) reading, she had no symptoms duringthose two and
(22) one half months.
(23) A. That’s what it says in that sentence;
(24) that’s right.
(25) Q. All right And inyour last paragraph,
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(1) page seven entitled summary, lastfull sentence:
(2) Finallythe time hiatus between her first MVA and
(3) herfirst seeking treatment two and a half months
(4) during which time she had no TMJ symptoms makes a
(5) causal relationship somewhat unlikely, did | read
(6) that correctly?
(7) A. Yes.
8) Q. Allright.
(9) A. First seeking treatment two and a half
(io) months.
(11) Q.And the absence of complaints; right?
12) A. Yes.
(13) Q. All right. Now, you haven'tread any of
(14) the records generated on Ms. Liapis since you saw
(25) herin October of 1994, is that right?
(16) A. Ithink | just have Dr. Hauser’s report.
(17) Q. All right. Soyou don’t really know
(18) anything about her subsequent surgical care and
(19) howshe progressed or failed to progress after you
(20) saw her in October of '94; is that correct?
(21) A. That’s correct.
(22) Q. Areyou at all curious about how she
(23) progressed?
(24) A. Well, of course, I'm curious about all
(25) patients at alltimes. It's what our businessiis.
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(1) Q. And did you requestthe recordsthat were

(2) generated 0N her from the time you last saw her up
(3) tothe presenttime?

(4) MR. DOWNS: Objection.

(5) A. No.

(6) MS. McCARTHY: | don’t have

(7) any questions for you. Thank you.

®) ---

(9) DIRECT EXAMINATION OF

(10) KENNETH R. CALLAHAN, D.D.S.

(11) BY MR. DOWNS:

(12) Q. Doctor, my name is Tom Downs and |

(13) represent Adele Caravella. She was one

(14) involved -

(15) MR. DOWNS: Let's go off

(16) the record for a minute.

(17) (A short break was taken)

(18) MS. McCARTHY: I'mjust going

(19) to interpose that any objection to anybody else
(20) cross-examining or doing any kind of

(21) rehabilitation with this doctor beyond Steve
(22) Merriam; any questions that you and Chris might
(23) haveso... Ididn'twantto putthat on the

(24) videotape, butwith that go ahead.

(25) MR. DOWNS: Thank you. |
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(1) complaining of tinnitus in one of her ears. The
(2) painone day and tinnitus a couple days later,
(3) those are bothindicia of the TMJ dysfunctionthat
(4) you've been describing here today; correct?
(5) A. Yes.
(6) MR. DOWNS: Thank you,
(7) Doctor. Idon’t have any more questions.
(8) MR. RUSS: Idon't have
(9) any questions.
(10) - --
(11) FURTHER EXAMINATION OF

(12) KENNETH R. CALLAHAN, D.D.S.

(13) BY MR. MERRIAM:

(14) Q. Doctor, very briefly. You were asked about
(15) Dr. Randtand Dr. Fitch and what they diagnosed or
(16) didn‘t diagnose.

(17) A. Yes.

(18) Q. Let me refer back to Dr. Randt’'s June 1988
(19) report, if you could take a look atthat document.
(20) A. Maybe you better show itto me.

(21) Q. Okay. Letmejust pullitup so you could

(22) just kind of read it at a distance. Could you

(23) readto the jury the specialty or nature of

(24) Dr. Randt's practice as indicated by his
(25) letterhead in 19867
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(1) havethe rightto cross-examine a Witness that's
(2) expressed opinions regarding an accident my
(3) client’sin.
(4) BY MR. DOWNS:
%) Q. Doctor, my name is Tom Downs and |
(6) representAdele Caravella. She’s a Defendantin

(7) this lawsuit. Shewas involved inthe May 9, 1993
(8) accident.

(9) If a patient has skull x-rays following an
(10) accident does that imply thatyou're having pain

(11) oraproblem inthatareainan emergency room?
(12) MS. McCARTHY: Objection.

(13) A. Yes. Yes; certainly it does.

(14) Q. And the skullincludes the part of the head

(15) and face that includes the temporomandibular
(16) joints; correct?

(17) A. It showed the whole thing; yes.

(18) Q. So would it be fair for me to understand if

@9) Marie Liapis in August of 1986following her motor
(20) vehicle accidentis inthe emergency room at

(21) Southwest General Hospital and has x-ray to her

(22) skullthat that would imply she’s having pain in
(23) thatarea?

(24) A. Itwould to me; yes.
(25) Q. Okay. And then three days later she’s

Page 74
(1) A. Hedoes internal medicine, preventive
(2) medicine, sports medicine, fitness testing, injury
(3) rehabilitation; that was Dr. Randt M.D.’s
(4) letterhead listing his specialties.
(5) Q. So obviously he does not list as his
(6) practice or specialties any of the types of things
(7) thatyou do on aregular basis; isn’tthat
(8) correct?
9) A. No.
(10) Q. Sowould you agree it's not surprising that
(11) hedid not properly diagnose a TMD situation based
(12) onthe focus of his ordinary practice?
(13) MS. McCARTHY: objection.
(14) A. I would agree to that.
(15) Q. And inthe same way Dr. Fitch, | believe,
(16) is a general practitioner, afamily doctor?
17) A. Yes.
(18) Q. And she would also would not necessarily be
(19) someone expectedto have any expertise or special
(20) background such as you have in TMD problems; is
(21) that correct?

(22) MS. McCARTHY: Objection.

(23) A. That is also correct.

(24) MR. MERRIAM: Doctor, |

(25) don’t have any further questions for you at this
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(1) time. Thankyou very much.
(2) THE WITNESS: Okay.
3---
(4) RECROSS-EXAMINATION OF

(5) KENNETH R. CALLAHAN, D.D.S.

(6) BY MS. McCARTHY:

(7) Q. Doctor, areyou aware that Dr. Fitch was

8) one of the peoplethat referred Ms. Liapis to

© Dr. Moodt?
(10) A. Pm not aware of that nor Bt
(11) significant.
(22) Q. Well, you've commented on her not being
(13) ableto recognize or diagnose TMJ, but after she
(14) learnedthat Ms. Liapis was making complaints of
(15) poppingin herjaw and left-sidedface pain she
(16) sent her off to a specialist inthe treatment of
(17) temporomandibular joint disorder, that being
(18) Dr. Moodt; isthat right?
(19) MR. MERRIAM: Obijection.
(20) A. Yes.

(21) Q. So apparently -

(22) A. Six weeks.

(23) Q. - she had some recognition of the problem;
(24) right?

(25) A. The patient started to complain at that

@
=)
©)
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CERTIFICATE

The State of Ohio, )

4) ) SS:

®)

{6)

@)

®

©
(10)
(1
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
@an
(18)
(19)
(20
(21)
(22)
(29)
(24)
(25)

County of Cuyahoga. )

I, Denise M. Andreotti, a Notary Public

within and for the State of Ohio, duly
commissioned and qualified, do hereby certify that
the within-named witness, KENNETH R. CALLAHAN,
D.D.S.,was by mefirst duly sworn to testify the
truth, the whole truth, and nothing butthe truth
inthe cause aforesaid; that the testimony then
given by the above-referenced witness was by me
reduced to stenotype inthe presence of said
witness, afterward transcribed, and that the
foregoing is atrue and correcttranscription of

the testimony so given by the above-referenced
witness.

| do further certify that this deposition
was taken at the time and place inthe foregoing

caption specified and was completed without
adjournment.

| do further certify that lam nota
relative, counsel, or attorney of either party, or
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(1) time.
(2) Q. And she understood what the complaints
(3) were; right?
4) A. Well, yes.
(5) Q. And she putthem her into the hands of
(6) somebody that does nothing other than treats
(7) temporomandibular joint situations on a
(8) conservative basis; is that right?
(9) A. That’s right.
(10) MS. McCARTHY: | don’t have
(11) any more questions for you. Thanks.
(12) MR. MERRIAM: Thank you,
(13) Doctor. We don’t have any further questions for
(14) youtoday.
(15) Doctor, do you waive your right of
(16) signature? And will everybody waive, well, we
(17) waived the filing requirement of the transcript
(18) and of the tape, itself; correct?
(19) MS. McCARTHY: Right.
(20) THEWITNESS: Yes. 11
(21) waive.
(22) - --
(23)
(24)
(25)

@
@
(©)
@
(8
(6)
("
®
(©)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(18)
(16)
(17
(18)
(19)
(20)
1)
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otherwise interested inthe event of this action.
INWITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my
hand and affixed my seal of office at Cleveland,
Ohio, on this 23rd day of January, A.D., 1998.

Denise Andreotti, Notary Public inand
for the State of Ohio.
My commission expires August 18, 2001.
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Drs. Bell and Callahan

URAL AND Maxit1OFACIAL SURGERY
Southpste Medicsl Arts Building
Dr. Rorald H. Bell 21100 Southgate Park Boulevard ¢ Suite 212
. Dr. Kennerh R, Callshan Cleveiand, Ohio 44137-3023

(216) 675-2122

Dol (of

February 3,1995

Rerninger & Reminger Ca., L.P.A.
Attorneysatlaw

The 113 st. Clair Building
Cleveland, Oho 44114

Attention: John R. Scott

Re: Meredith Bra%g v, Family Oertal Centers, et at.
Your Fifae No, 4200-12-26437-94

Dear Mr. Scott:

3
Please be advised that | have had adequate opportunity for review and perusal ofa
numpber of charts and recards which gemm to medical and dental treatments
received by patient Meredith Bragg bBeginning on July 3, 1§93, Specifically, | have
reviewed these charts in regard to claims made by patlent Meredith Bragg that
dentistigor Skalsky, D.D.5., performed freatments on her which were below the
acceptable standard of care farthe national cemmunity. The recordswhich |
reviewed include, but are not limited to, the following: dental recordsef Dr. Skalsky
including ene panerex x-ray, certain medical records ef the Cuyahoga Falls General
Hospital, miscellaneous records of Sunceast Medical Family Practice, deposition af
the plaintiff, and depesitien of Dr, Skalskg. Please be further advised of the
faliowing infarmatian which 1 believe te be germane to these claim allegations.

. Briefsynopsis of the salient facts in this case.

Ms, Bragg Ba 25-year old female who presented to r, Skalsky at the Family
Dental Centers on Jul% 3, 1993, She presented with an impacted lower right
w:sdomtoothﬂ:lo. 32) which had aperlcorona%lnfection. Such infections do
not go away. [NeYy requiredental extraction. She alse had two maxillary
(upper) wisdom teeth, Nos. 1 and 15, which were malpased, out of occlusion,
and non-functional. Dr. Skalsky proposed removinﬁ the three wisdom teeth, a
decision which 1 believe is prudent, and he placed the patient on amexicillin
500 milligrams, four timesa day, Ne gave herenough amoxicillin tablets to last
her seven days, which would have been through July 10th. Thisis, inmy
opinion, excellent prophylactic antibiotic coverage.

Onluly &, the patient presented again to Dr. Skalsky's officewhere he removed
the three wisdom teeth, Nos, 1, 76, and 32, epparently uneventfully. On July
8th, accarding te Dr, Skalsky’s recards, the patient reappeared in his office,
complaining of inability to Swallow. She had seme slight cheek swelling, and
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trismus (inability to open). Actually, according to the charts, her trismus was
not groat, She was ablets open 14 millimeters on admission to the tR, and she
was able to open 20 miliimeters when she wab seen In consultation by Or.
Winsten. Let me quickly disabuse the reader of any notionthatthis sort of
trismus is unusual on the secand pastoperative day. Itisnot. Further, trismus
doesneot preclude the act of swallowing, | treat patients with jaw fractures
wharein their teeth arewired together for six weeks. However, they can still
swallow anytime tth_feel lika it. Dr. Skalsky changed the oral antibioticto
Augmentin, a penicillin variant,

On the moming of July Sth, the patient presented tothe ER of Cu?rahoga Falls
General Hespital with a complaint of trismus and inability to swallew. "She told
the ER dactorthatsha was unable te swallow her aral antibiotics- Shewas
thereafter hospitalized for seven days at Cuyahoga Falls General Hospital, she
was treated with an intervenous antiblotic, Unasyn, another penicillin variant,
and got better, Nosurgerywas avét performed. Shewas discharged on July
16th. She has, to my knowledge, ne residual defects.

Review oftho cgmplalnts,

[tls my understanding that there are two separate and distinct araas of
sontention contained heroin, Beth Of these involve plaintiff Bragg's
allegations that Dr. Skalsky’sdental treatments were below acceptable
i}gndards‘of the communlti{. The first of these putative complaints arisesfrom
-Bragg'’s perception that the extraction ofteeth Nos. 1and 16{the two
uRparW|sdomteeth) were not indicated atthe time of her surgical procedure.
TMe second ¢laim against Dr. Skalsk{ by Ms. Bragg arises from her contention
that, had Dr. Skalsky placed her on liquid antibietics rather than oral
antiblotics, she would not have developed the postoperative cellulitis which

Iecé| her to her hospital admiuion. Let me discuss each of these allegations in
order.

Rased onthe preeperative panorex x-ray which | have before me, taken 7/3/93,
itis my firm dental opinion that all threé wisdomtooth required removal.
this, 1am absolutely certain.

The Invidious suggestion thatthe removal of all three wisdem teeth at one
time enhancesthe possibility of infection is counter-factual. it does not, Let
me axplain the reasen why tho three wisdom taath required extraction. The
lower right, No. 32, had an active Infection Of pericaronitis. You may treat such
atooth with antibiotics for a brief period of time, but the pericoronitis comes
back whnn you step using the antibiotics. Thergtore, the anly traatment of
merit ISto remove tooth No, 32, Thereefier, the tooth above it,NO. 1, has no
opposing tooth. No. 16, the u_pRer left wisdem tooth, already had no opposing
tooth. Insuch cases, teeth whicl aresurely going 1o be nan-functional for the
remainder of the patient’s life oughtto be removed. The reason for thisarises
from the fact thatsuch teeth, 100 percentafthe tims, beginto extrude, Ina
very brief period gftime, they cut into the cheek, because they do nor have an
sppesing tooth. Then they must be removed. Ms, Bragg needed all three
wisdom teeth removed. The question of whether to do all three at once, orto
doitinthree sittings,is an arbitrary one, generally agreed upon by the patient
and the dentist. Inthis case, according to the consent form signad by Ms.

Bragg, she agreed with Dr. Skalsky’s suggestion that all three should be done at
once. 1 bol[e%e this'is & salutary pry cadggm V[Vé routinely recommend to our
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atlents that all three or four wisdom teeth be dnne in one sitting. The reason
or this isobvious. YOU énly have one night of suffering, because you don't
suffer more with three thaf with eng, 2nd you don't have to undérgo three
separate nights of sufferingi and pacing the floor. Physiciansdo nottake out
Teur ehild'stonsil onetonsil at & time, "It is, in my opinion, reasonable an
ogical forpr. skalsky to have dene all three wisdom teath at once.
Apparently, Ms, Bragg agreed, because she signed the operative permit. And,
in fact, her twe uppar wisdomteeth had abselutely nothingto do with her
postoperative Infection anyway.

The question vis-a-visthe proper routa of pesteperative antibiotictherapy.

Three days before her surgery, Or. Skalsky preseribed for Ms. Bragg 28 extra
stranngth penicillin tablets, Thisisthe precise and correct antibiotic regiman
suggested by the manufacturer. Had she sataken the pills as directed, I is
uite pessiblethat the incipient pesteperative infection which she began to
aevelop would have dissipated In several dags, and without any further
Intervention. This i, ofcourse, speculative, bacause the patientdid not Lake
them as directed. Sa the pointis moot.
On ker third pastaperative day,July 8th, Ms. Bragg stopped taking an
antlbioties at all. The reason she gives is either that she coutd not swallow, or
that she hed 4 sere throat. |de not believe that eitherof these explanations Is
either reasonable nervalid. The factis, she could swallow. She states In her »
deposition that, indeed, she swallowed the water butthe pill wouldn't go
down. And inasmuch as the swelling was only on one side, all of us Who havé
ever had asere throat on one side know that'you swallow the pill on the
opposite Side, What's more, it ha5 been my experience OVEr many years ¢ see
an occasional patient whe 8en_uinety could notswallow. In such cases the
atlent €arries a cup around with them so that they can spit out the saliva,
ecause the mouth¢ontinues to produce saliva, and if itdoesn'tge down, then
it must be spit out. Intho case of Ms. Bragg, we have no evidentiary material
that suggests that she was carrying any saliva bowl around with her. No. she
could swallow saliva, and she could swallew water, And, of course, she could
have swallowedthe pill, had she cut it up.

Common wisdom tells me, as itoughttotellthe reader, that if you can't
swallow a pill. you cut It up [ntoe pieces and then swallow it. ! believe! have
known this factsince | was absut six. Above and beyond that, Ms. Braag
admitsIn her deposition that a suggestion was made that she should mash up
the pills, Thatseems pretty reasonable to me, You take two spoaans and you
masﬁ up the pilland youtake itwith gelatin, or with orangejuice, orwit%
anything. Under na Circumstance would a reasonable per<sn who had reason
to suspect that the?/ were developing an Infection, discontinue antibiotic
therapy. There K, [believe, an implled centract between doctor and patient
which requiresthatthe docter prescribe the correct medicine, and that the
patienttake the medicine. Dr. Skalsky provided the correct medicine, Ms.
Bragg did nettake the medicine after the moarning of July 8th.

Ms. Bragg alleges that after she saw Dr. Skalsky on July &8th, he prescribed a
different pill ianother form of penicillin) called Augmentin. She complained
that these pills were even largerthan the penicillinpills, so, of course, she
couldn't swallow them, Nevertheless, she maintainsthatshe wenttothe

pharmacy and got the pills, let me quote from the Physician's Desk Reference,
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40th edition, page 660. Therein, the desages of Auymentin are outlined. It
stater that Augmientin may be given as chewableta/OIet$, and kls also given in
an oral suspension. kis called Augmentin-250, and itisinan nr_an?e-ﬂavored
syrup. Now, then, common wisdom tells methat if Me. Bragg did, indeed, pick
up tﬁe pills at the pharmacy and they were teo big, all she néaded to do was to
inform the pharmacist that she ¢ould net swallew the pills, and, of course, he
would have given herthe oral suspension. That isan everyday occurrence. Or,
for that matter, she could have called Dr,Skalsky, and he would have ordered
the oral suspensien inthe orange syr_ui. However, she did nat do either ene.
$he juststoppad taking them. That Bhardly the fault of Dr. Skalsky.

Finally, Dr. Skalgky states under oath in his deposition (page 46) that 8t no time
when he talked to Ms, Bragg on July 8th In his postoperative visit, did she
reﬁort to him that she was having difficully swallowing the antibiotic pills
which he had prescribed. she didn't teli him. Mind reading is notone of the
stiributes generally attributed Lo dental surgeons. Given tﬁe evidentia
material presented to me, it is difficult for me to find fault with Dr. Skalsky’s
care and {reatment. He performed his smgerﬁ adequately, he prescribed the
correct antibioticregimen, and he followed the patient postoperatively for
two and one-half days, until the patient abandoned him. And 25 a tangential
observation, let me point out, speaking as one who has performed eraland
maxillofacial surgery for almest 40 years, that el of us, regardless of our care
and ourdiligance, sccasionally get postoparative wisdom toath patients who
develop infections. The reasons for these are obscure and nebulous. Afterall,
every time you make an opening into the mucosa in the mouth, you have
produced a catchbasin in which can accumulate myriad colonies made up of
the millions of bacteria which inhabit our mouths at &ll times. In the presence
of antibiotics, thess instances ara rara.

According te an article In the Jeurnal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Volume
53, NO. 1. January 1955, page 53, The authors state thattfe overall rate of
maxillary infectionsis less than 0,27 percent, Asybsetarticle on page 63,notes
thatthe overall incidence of pesteperative infection for wisdomteeth ranges
chm a low of 1percent. Kkhasbeen my experienceta knowthatvirtually all of
these infectionsdissipate in the presence of continuous oral antiblotic tharapy.
However, thereis an occasional apiseda wheérein a patlent requires
hospitalization, and in the case of Ms. Bragg, | belleve the use of intravenous
Unasyn was solubrious and efficacious. She got better, she was discharged, her
prognosis|s excellent, and she has na residual deficit Neverthaless, at na time,
N my opinion, did Dr, Igor Skalsky practice ina manner which was below the
standard of acceptability in the national community.

V., Summary,

For afl of the above reasons, itis my firm and trenchant profassisnal apinion
that the treatment rendered by Dr. Igor Skalsky beginningen July 3, 1993, to

Phatlent Meredith Bragg was correct, reasonahble, and did in N0 way fall beneath
e level of acceptablestandard of care as practiced in the national communlty.

t— e gl B e s
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}f you have further ng¢ed of information, please so advise me.
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Sincerely,
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Kenneth R. Callahan, D.D.S.
F.1.C.D, F.A.C.D, OK.U.
Associate Clinical Profasser of
Oral and Maxillofaclal Surgery
Case Western Raserve University
_School of Dentistry
Diplomate, American 8oard of
Oral and Maxillefa¢ial Surgeons
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WEDNESDAY MORNING SESSION, MARCH 22, 1989

THEREUPON, the Plaintiff, to main-
tain the i1ssues on her part to be maintained,
called as a witness KENNETH ROBERT CALLAHAN,
who, having been sworn, was examined and

testified as follows:

CROSS-EXAMINATION OF. KENNETH R. CALLAHAN

BY MR. ECONOMUS:

Q Doctor Callahan, your credentials are quite
Impressive.

A Thank you.

Q We have met before on other cases, haven"t we,
Doctor?

A I believe so, mMr. Economus.

Q We have quite a number of questions to ask you
in this case, so 1 hope you will be patient with me,
because, obviously, I am not a dentist.

Before testifying today in court did you review
any of your notes or office records, sir, your file?
A 1 did.

Q Did you bring it with you?
A 1 did.

Q May 1 please see 1t? Your Honor, may I have a
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moment?

Doctor, are these all the records that you have
relative to Donna Mayer's case?
A Yes, Mr. Economus.
Q They are a copy or original of your report,
dated October 13, 1987, on the subject of ‘Donna
Mayer, a letter from Mr. Campbell, a letter from
Mr. Hopkins, a copy there of Miss Mayer's
previous attorney, and some emergency room records
from Parma Community General Hospital, some records
from Dr. Kulick, and another report from Dr. Michael
Kulick. Is that accurate?
A Yes.
Q Now, just so we can clear a few things up
quickly, at no time prior to today did you ever
see Donna Mayer?
A That is correct.
Q And that means, by definition, that prior to
writing the report you did not conduct an examination
of her physically, what we call clinically, did you?
A That is true.
Q And, therefore, you were really unable to, based
upon any clinical evaluation, draw a diagnosis of
-her condition, is that true?

A I could draw a diagnosis, Mr. Economus, but not
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based on clinical evidence.

o I understand that, but my question iIs since
you did not see her clinically you could not draw
a diagnosis based upon any clinical evaluation?

A That 1s true.

Q You did no tests on her teeth. You could not
draw a diagnosis based upon any tests that you did?
A That is correct.

Q Your opinion given here today is solely based
upon a review of records, and a letter sent to you
by Mr. Campbell, 1s that accurate?

A Plus thirty years of experience.

Q I understand, but thirty years of experience
that you have 1s yours, and then you apply that,
do you not, to whatever information you get?

A Yes.

Q And that i1s what you did in this case?

A Yes.

Q Now, Doctor, you are acquainted with Dr. John
Kulick, are you not?

A I am acquainted with Dr. John Kulick,

¢ As a matter of fact, didn"t the two of you go
to « enta school together?

A Yes.

[0} Or during the same period of time?
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A He was a couple years behind me, yes.

Q Wouldn®t you agree with me that Dr. Kulick's
reputation 1 the community as a fine dentist is
beyond reproach?

A Absolutely.

Q As a matter of fact, you are personally acquainted
with Dr. Michael Kulick as well, aren®"t you?

A Yes.

0 And you think he is a fine dentist?

A Oh, I know Mike Senior. He and | interned
together. |1 do not know Mike Junior.

Q Well, 1n your report didn"t you indicate that
you knew Mike Kulick?

A Yes. 1 was thinking of his father, Mike Kulick.
Q So you were mistaken?

A Yes.

Q Now, Doctor, you are not Board-certified 1in
endodontics, are you?

A No.

Q And 1 think endodontics , just to clear another
thing up -- Mr. Campbell saild something to you about
your taking your time away from your practice to

be here In court.

You regularly take your time away from your

practice to review cases, don"t you?
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A IT I am asked to do an examination 1 do, yes.
Q And you have been in court before?

A Yes.

Q You have never been nor are you now a treating

dentist for Donna Mayer?

A That 1s correct.

PE]
2

Q Now, Doctor, you made some reference to the
emergency room records, and 1 think that you in part
based your conclusions that you gave us here today
on the Parma Emergency Room records, is that a fact?
A Partly, yes, that"s true.

Q Now, certainlysyou weren®"t there at the hospital
when Donna Mayer made any complaints at Parma
Community Hospital on the 31st of March of 1984?

A. No.

Q Nor was 1, of course?

A Uh-huh.

Q You don"t know what was excluded from those
records, do you?

A Yes, 1 do.

Q You know what wasn®"t put iIn?

A Yes, Mr. Economus, because In this litiginous
age every one of us knows you write down every
single thing that the patient says verbatim. You

don®"t exclude anything unless i1t wasn"t said, so I
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do know what was not said, was not there.

Q You are assuming the detail and exactness of
the person taking the information, are you not,
when you make that statement?

A. Yes, but emergency room people are so inclined.
Q The emergency room records do indicatie a trauma
to the back of the neck, don"t they?

A Yes, a strain of the cervical and lumbar spinal
muscles.

Q And on the subject of occlusal trauma you are
not saying that occlusal trauma never occurs because
of a car accident, are you?

A. Oh, no.

0 And you are also not saying that occlusal trauma
Is not a cause of the fracture of teeth, are you?

A I am saying that in this case occlusal trauma
iIs not a cause of the fractured teeth.

Q That is not what 1 asked you, Doctor. My
question was --

A Repeat the question.

Q@  Are you saying that occlusal trauma caused by
car accidents is never the cause of the fracture
of teeth?

A No.

¢ And are you saying that occlusal trauma caused
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by car accidents is never the cause Or 1Is never
known to be the cause of the fracture of anterior

or front teeth?

A I an saying that that is extraordinarily unlikely,

Mr. Economus.
Q My word was never, Doctor. Can you tell us
with any degree of dental probability that occlusal
trauma never caused the anterior teeth to fracture
as a result --
MR. CAMPBELL: I will object to
the question, how he can testify probably,
something IS never.
THE COURT: I don*"t know whether
he 1s going into dental literature or what
It Is you are inquiring about. 1 take it
really your question is -- he testified
that this anterior occlusion never damaged

teeth. Is that what you are asking?

MR. ECONOMUS: The front teeth,
Judge.

THE COURT: Anterior, you are
talking?

MR. ECONOMUS: Yes, sir.

THE WITNESS: In my experience I

have never seen anterior teeth sheared by
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A,

0

occlusal trauma. They could be evulsed or
knocked up and out, but not sheared, in my
experience.

In your experience?

That is correct.

Which is, of caurse, limited to you? ..

Yes.

Now, Doctor, your practice is limited to oral

surgery, correct?

A

Q

Yes.

And you are familiar, of course, because of

your review of this case, with the type of treatment

that Donna received from Dr. Kulick, are you not?

A

Q

A

Q

Yes.

And that was root canal therapy, wasn't it?

Yes.

Would you agree with me that root canal therapy

is painful at least part of the time?

A

I think putting the novocaine in is painful.

We all know that, but after that, no, 1t ought not

to be very painful, Mr. Economus.

you

You mentioned pulp vitality.

Yes.

The pulp is that inner chamber of the tooth that

referred to?
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A Right.

Q Now, when a fracture of a tooth occurs first
of all the dentin is not sensitive to pain usually,
is 1t?

A' Oh, yes, 1t 1Is.

Q I am sorry. 1 meant enamel?

ocd

Is not, no.
Dentin is the next section?

Yes.

> o

Q Then we have the pulp?

A Right.

Q Once the pulps are exposed to air or saliva or
some other foreign matter they hurt, don"t they?

A Yes.

Q And from your review of Donna's case do you
know that on the 27th of June, 1984, her teeth
cracked off?

A Yes.

. And are you aware that on the 31st of March, 1984

she was 1n an automobile accident?
A Yes.

0 And can you tell the ladies and gentlemen of the
jury based upon your personal knowledge of anything
that you know of between, aside from the accident,

between March 31, 1984 and June 27, 1984 that would
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have caused her teeth to crack off, based upon what;,ﬁ

you know, any event?

A Based on what 1 know I do not have any notion,
no. 1 know what didn"t cause it.

Q But you don"t know what did?

A That"s correct. %

Q And 1T there had been, Doctor, a recent traumatic
event to Donna®"s mouth, around the 27th, when these
teeth cracked off, a blow to the face, a fall down,
anything like that, would you agree with me that it
would have been likely that her treating dentists,
Drs. Kulick, would have recognized some evidence of
that 1n her face when they treated her for the root
canal therapy? ,

A Not necessarily, Mr. Economus. You can just
injure teeth without injuring any soft tissue.

Q So It iIs possible that teeth can be iInjured,
fractured, cracked, without any evidence of trauma,
you know, a bloody lip, a cracked lip, something
like that? Would you agree with that?

A Yes.
Q So that we get this established would you agree
with me that because of the nature of Donna®s tooth

injury that at some point in time after these teeth

cracked off she had some pain?

K
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A Oh, yes.
@ And if 1 told you that they cracked off on the
evening of the 27th o June, 1984, and that she
didn"t see the doctor, or dentist, until the morning
of the 28th, and that those pulps were vital, would
you agree that she would have had pain during that
period of time?
A Yes.
Q Would you also agree with me that emotional
disturbance from pain in the face is generally far
more iIntense than that associated with occurrence
of pain iIn most other parts of the body?

I don"t know the answer to that. 1t depends on

what other parts we are talking about, but generally

speaking, I think that 1t is an emotional experience,

yes.
Q Would this be so because of the importance, for

example, in our society of our faces, things people

look at first when they meet us?

A Yes.

g  Would you agree that a dentist who i1s dealing
with faciral pain should realize he i1s dealing with
an effective disorder that i1s of a special nature,
especially intensive?

A I don"t quite follow the question.
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THE COURT: Restate your question. ,@@
BY MR. ECONOMUS: |
Q Do you think that a dentist who 1s treating
a patient who has facial pain, like vital pulps,
should be particularly attuned to that in the way

<4

he treats a person?

A Well, yes, Mr. Economus, we should be attuned
to everything, every patient who has any pain, yes.
P Would you agree with me that the emotional
upheaval, based upon facial pain, probably is more
intense in women than in men?

A I think all of us are about the same as far as
our appearance 1s concerned, our cosmetic defects,
or lack of them, about the same.

0} Doctor Callahan, there are sub-specialties 1IN
dentistry, are there not and yours is oral and maxillo-
facial surgery?

A Right.

Q How did 1 do?

A Very good.

Q Endodontics i1s another sub-specialty? |
A, It is.

¢ And endodontics is the sub-specialty that dzals
-with tooth restoration. Would you agree with that?

A Well, no. Tooth restoration means putting in
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fillings, removal of pulps, and taking out, doing
root canal.

Q You are not an endodontist?

A No.

g . Based upon your study of this case and the
pictures that you have seen and 1 think 1*heard
you testify that Donna"s teeth are fractured off
about what, half-way, two-thirds? Do you want to
see the pictures again? |

2. I think Dr. Kulick stated between a half and

one-third.

Q What would you say based upon the pictures that

are Plaintiff"s Exhibit Nos. 11 through 147?

A Well, in these pictures it looks like it 1s
about half, just about half-way up the middle of
the tooth.

The tooth is shaped like a little chicklet,
and about half a chicklet is sheared off 1In each
picture.

Q The dentin, you testified that the dentin 1is
hard, kind of like i1vory?

A Yes, but also somewhat -- remember, It has
collagen in it.

Q Doesn®"t that make i1t resilient?

A That is a good question. 1 don"t know. |1 guess

A 1
1ot .,.
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it does, yes.

A

Q

What i1s collagen?

It"s a protein.

And 1t gives dentin some elasticity, doesn"t 1t?
Yes.

"o

Now, in the early formative stages of"the tooth

the pulp is the portion that kind of builds the tooth,

isn"t 1t?

A Yes.

Q And the pulp has the nerve and the blood supply
and the like?

A Right.

Q And 1t, for lack of a better term, lays down

the dentin?

A

Q
but

Yes.

And this occurs for the most part throughout life,

more often than not, In a normal tooth, at the

earlier stages of life; in other words, the pulp 1is

much larger the younger you are?

A
Q

A

Q

Yes.
It reduces iIn size as we get older?

Uh-huh.

Now, when the root canal therapy was done on

Donna by Dr. Kulick he extirpated, his word, the

pulp?
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A Right, yes.

Q With some sort of a burr instrument, to pull .
1t out?

A A little thing that looks, has got little burrs
on the side, looks like a little hat pin.

Q A Tish tooth barb? .

A Right. Then you pull the pulp out.

Q Once those pulps come out of the teeth, for all
intents and purposes for us, as laymen, the teeth
are dead, aren®"t they?

A That is correct.

Q The pulp is what gives the tooth life?

A Yes.

Q So we can"t dispute, and 1 don"t think you
would disagree with me, that as Donna sits here now
her two front teeth are dead?

A Yes.

Qo And they are going to stay that way, aren"t they?
A Absolutely.

Q Now, Doctor, in your thirty years®™ experience
as a dentist, and | take it you don"t do that many
root canals these days, correct?

A Not many.

Q Can you tell us, do those caps last forever?

A No, Mr. Economus. You can allow for one change
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at least throughout life. L
@  One throughout life? %
A One, maybe two. It i1s always a difficult point.
Q It depends on the individual, of course?
A, Yes. The dentist thinks he makes crowns forever
and always tells the patient that, iIn fact, they
don"t last forever.
Q Isn"t 1t a fact that i1t is generally recognized
In your business that crowns will last about ten
years and then should be replaced?
A It"s a difficult point. Some say fifteen, some
say twenty, on an average.
Q But they do have to be replaced?
A Yes.
Q Because they wear down?
A Something happens to them. They get loose.
Q IT you can answer this | would appreciate it.
IT you can"t, just tell me.

In your experience have the charges that dentists
have for recapping teeth increased over the years?
2 Sure.
@  And would i1t be likely that for the forseeable
future that will continue to occur, that charges
will iIncrease?

A That is a nebulous question. 1 don"t know the
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answer to that.
0 You can"t answer?

A It has to do with economics.

o  Well, based upon past history they have increased?

A - That"s true but, you know, things go down too.
Q I understand. Based upon your reviewiof Dr.
Kulick's records, Doctor Callahan, you can give the
jury no indication that before March 31, 1984 she
ever had any serious problems with her two front
teeth, i1s that correct?

A That is correct.

Q No indication or evidence of fracture?

A No.

Q No indication or evidence of tooth decay?

A No.

Q No indication or evidence of any unusual circum-
stance except, you know, the usual cleaning and
dental hygiene, correct?

A Right.

Q Are you aware that pr. John Kulick has been
Donna®s dentist since she was about five years old?
A Yes.

Q It"s good dental practice to keep a running

history and chart of your patient over the years,

IS it not?
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A Of course,

Q And you generally do that, don"t you?

A Yes.

Q So would you agree with me that Dr. John Kulick
IS a person who is more familiar with the general
conditon of Donna"s teeth than you are?

A Yes,

Q And certainly on the 27th of June, 1984, when
Dr. Michael Kulick did the root canal you would
agree that anything associated with the root canal
that happened on that day Dr, Michael Kulick would
be a person who has far greater knowledge than you

do of that set of circumstances, wouldn®t you?

MR. CAMPBELL: Object.
THE WITNESS: I don®"t know.
MR. ECONOMUS: I will rephrase

the question, Judge.
Q With regard to what her teeth looked like on
the 28th, since you weren"t there, Dr. Kulick was,
he knows more about i1t than you do? Would you
agree with me?
A In regard to the clinical evidence before him

he knows more than 1. Other than that | don"t know

that he knows more than 1. Nobody knows more than 1I.

@ With regard to your report, Doctor, and you have

Y
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It there In front of you, this Is not the first
report that you have written for a defense lawyer,
is 1t?

A No.

Q As a matter of fact, Doctor, iIn addition to Mr.
Campbell®s firm, you have been hired to give your
opinions by many other defense firms in this city,
have you not? i

A I have, Mr. Economus. 1 do plaintiffs® work
too, 1T they ask me.

Q I understand that. In fact, you also do reviews
of cases and give opinions for companies, don"t you?
A, Yes.

Q You do between forty to fifty-two of these a
year, don"t you?

A Perhaps.

Q And in every one of these you charge for your
services, don"t you?

A. Yes.

0} And you charge for writing the report, correct?
A Pardon?

A You charge for your review and writing of your
report?

A Yes.

Q And then you charge separately for coming to
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court to testify?

A IT I miss office time 1 do, yes.

0 The largest percentage of cases that you review,
Doctor, are for defense lawyers, aren"t they?

A . Probably, yes.

Q This accident happened, Doctor, as yoda know,

on March 31st, 1984, is that true?

A Yes.

Q And your report is dated, if I am not mistaken,
October 13, 1987, about three and half years later,
iIs that right?

A Well, yes. The facts haven®"t changed i1n those
years.

Q Doctor, what is the typical length of one of
your reports?

A They are pretty long. They are usually about --
Q Eight, nine pages?

A Yes.

Q And you have a habit, don"t you, of using a lot
of similar language in your reports. Do you agree
with that?

A I like not to think so, but i1t Is possible that
1 may.

Q Well, let me give you some examples. You like

to use the words forthright, trenchant, sincere,
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don't you?

A Yes.

Q You did that in Donna"s case, didn"t you?

A Yes.

¢ And you have done it in a number of other cases
using the same language, haven®t you?

A It is better than saying insincere, non-forth-
right, yes.

Q So your answer IS yes?

A Yes.

o And in many of the cases that you review, Doctor,
you conclude that there i1s no direct causal connec-
tion between the i1ncident and the claimed injury,
don"t you?

A Yes, Mr. Economus, 1In some 1 find there is.
You don"t see those.

Q No, I don®"t, and In writing your reports, Doctor
Callahan, you frequently call on authors of dental
literature and cite other dental books as being
authoritative, don"t you?

A Well, 1 think that adds substance to a report
on occasion. 1 did not in this case.

Q I know that, but you have done it in the past?

A Yes.
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some authoritative source and put It in your reports
In an attempt to underscore your conclusions or

support your conclusions, would you not?

A Yes.

Q Now, Doctor, let me ask you this. #Have you
quoted Dr. Daniel Laskin in any of your reports?

A I don"t believe 1 have quoted Daniel Laskin

since 1980 or 1981. | don"t use him anymore.

a Well, I don"t want to get bogged down in details,
but 1 have some reports here in which you have quoted
him. Would you like to see them?

h  What year?

Q '85, "86.

A Laskin In 'ge6?

Qo Uh-huh.

A I am surprised. 1 don"t think he i1s an authori-
tative person. That only deals with temporal mandibu-
lar joints. It has nothing to do with this case.

Q You have quoted him, haven®t you?

A. Yes.

Q And there have been times, Doctor, when you have
quoted him out of context In your reports, haven"t
there?

A Out of context?
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Q Uh-huh, taking something from this place and
putting 1t in this place where i1t really doesn"t
belong? Have you done that with Dr. Laskin's works?
A I don"t think so. | think you may think so,
but I don"t.
Q Do you recall giving a deposition on January 21,
1987, Doctor?

THE COURT: In this case?

MR. ECONOMUS: No, Your Honor, in

a different case.

MR. CAMPBELL: Mr. Economus, iIn
fairness, | mean, pick a date. How about
a little more i1information?

THE COURT: He has got a date
iIn January, 1987, at Southgate, at 4:30,
before a court reporter, Kathleen A. Wheeler,
taken on behalf of Howard Mishkin, and Mr.

Lybrand, defense lawyer, was there. Do

you remember that?

THE WITNESS: Not right offhand,

no.

BY MrR. ECONOMUS:

o Would you like to look at i1t to refresh your

recollection?

THE COURT: Counsel, are you

}L )
S Ml
X
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suggesting there is something that he stated
on deposition in another case at some other
time that apparently impeaches what he says
here?

MR. ECONOMUS: Yes, Your Honor,

THE COURT: Come over here.
Bring that with you. Bring 1t with you.

(Thereupon, a discussion was had
between Court and counsel at the side bar,
off the record.)

THE COURT: May 1 have 1t,
please, Doctor? Just a minute. Don"t
answer, Doctor. You might not have to
answer the gquestion. Hand 1t to him,
Doctor.

(Thereqpon, the following proceed-
ings were resumed iIn the presence of the

Jjury and parties as follows:)

THE COURT: You may not inquire
about 1t.
MR. CAMPBELL: Thank you, Judge.

BY MR. ECONOMUS:
Q Do you know how many x-rays were taken of Donna
at Parma Hospital, Doctor?

A I do not know the exact number. I do know an
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X-ray was taken of the cervical spine and the lumbo-ﬁd:
sacral spine.

Q You don®"t know whether there are any x-rays taken
of any other part of her body, do you?

A I know there were not any taken of any other
parts of the body, because she should havg -- 1

would think they would have been included in the
chart. 1 should think they would.

Q The teeth that have pulps in them are living
structures, aren"t they?

A Yes.

Q And they are suspended in the mouth by ligaments,
In a socket?

A Yes.

Q And there is a certain give to them upon impact,
isn"t there, generally?

A Generally they loosen a little bit upon impact,
yes.

Q And they are generally resilient to damage,
aren"t they?

A That®s a nebulous question as well. They are

not resilient to caries, to decay. They shear off.
They can be broken. They can be evulsed, so they

are not resilient to damage.

Q One last question or, two, really. So 1
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understand you can®t deny Donna®s teeth sheared Off“‘?f

on the 27th of June, 1984, can you?

A No.

o And you can®"t give us a reason why they did

specifically, can you?

A No. o
MR, ECONOMUS : No further questions.
THE COURT: Anything further?
MR. CAMPBELL: One or two, Your
Honor .
THE COURT: All right.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION OF KENNETH R. CALLAHAN

BY Mr. CAMPBELL:

Q Doctor, you just, in answer to a question by
Mr. Economus, said that when teeth are impacted
they will loosen, i1s that correct generally?

A Usually if they are hit from an angle they will
loosen. \

Q Even minutely they will loosen?

A, Yes.

Q And 1T a person has even minutely loose teeth
are they likely to detect that?

A Yes. You know, immediately you are sitting

there and saying, that isn"t right, yes.
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Q Can you feel your tongue? .
A Yes.

0 You feel differences existing to talk. I am
not hitting the right place with my tongue?

A Yes.

Q So if there was an impact you would mmmmow the
person to be able to feel something different with
their mouth?

A Absolutely.

0. Now, let's take that the next step. You say
the average persom Oui® Getect sOmethin® wrong.
What about a person who really loved their teeth,
sOmebO®y whOo thOoght she had abwloous teeth, oho
took great care of her teeth, was very conscious
Of therw teeth? 1Is that persOn goin() tO be even
mOre likexy than yOo Or I Or any member Of the
jury to see if there is something wrong with their
teeth?

A Yes.

Q YOo tOl® Mr EcOmOmos that teeth can be Sracturedns
sheare® Osf, withOut trauma tO the lips®' or tO the
goms®* Or tO any Other signs O= traoma Other than
the =>actore® teeth DO yOo remember sayimg that?
A Yes® withOot any sOft tissue inJjory

Q Have yOo seen that Occor®

~

N1
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A Oh, yes.

Q Can you give a couple examples of what you have

seen happen?

A I had a kid just a little while ago who plays
shorts-top. The ball comes up and hits the teeth.
The teeth are gone. He has no cut in his ‘lip or
anything, but the teeth are sheared off.

Q When that happened he had pain, didn't he?

A Oh, yes. The poor guy.

Q And his mouth hurt?

A Yes.

Q And he felt those fractures?

A Yes.

MR. CAMPBELL: Nothing further,

Doctor. Thank you very much.

THE COURT: Is everybody all

finished? Are you?

MR. ECONOMUS: I think so, Judge.

_— e e ew o=
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CERTIFICATE

1, Janice M. Lowe, Official Court Re-
porter for the Court of Common Pleas, ;Cuyahoga
County, Ohio, do hereby certify that as such
reporter 1 took down in stenotypy all of the
proceedings had in said Court of Common Pleas
in the above-mentioned cause; that 1 have
transcribed my said stenotype notes into
typewritten form, as appears in the foregoing
Transcript of Proceedings; that said tran-
script is a partial record of the proceedings
had 1n the trial of said cause and constitutes

a true and correct Transcript of Proceedings

had therein.

//)z_,n_,w D/ ng/

Tjanlce . Lowe
Official Court Reporter
Cuyahoga County, Ohio
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WEDNESDAY AFTERNOON SESSION, OCTOBER 18, 1989

® % % %

THE COURT: Mr, Callaghan?
MR. CALLAGHAN: Thank you, your
Honor.

CROSS-EXAMINATION OF KENNETH CALLAHAN
MR, CALLAGHAN:

Q Good afternoon, Doctor. My name iS Torn

Callaghan?

A Hi, Mr. Callaghan., How are you?

Q I spell my name with a G and you don't?

A Right. Your parents could spell better than
nine.

Q You had at one time?

A That"s right.

Q Doctor, you and I first met in your office

January 7th of 1987 on the time of your exam of Wendy
Perin, right?
Right. That's correct, Mr. Callaghan.

A
Q Do you recall my being present at that time?
A 1 do.

Q

And I was present during the time type of your

recording of notes of the history that Wendy gave,




was | not?

A

Q

That is correct, Mr. Callaghan.

And, Doctor, you didn't tape-record that

session, did you?

A

Q

> 0 >

NO,
Do you remember, we were both taking notes? As
remember, my yellow pad and your yellow pad?
Yes,
I see you're looking at your notes?
Yes,
MR. CALLAGHNA: Your Honor, may I
have a moment to look at Dr. Callahan's notes?
And, Doctor, have you brcught your
complete chart with you today?
THE: WITNESS: I have, indeed,

Mr. Callaghan.

THE COURT: Mr. Borland?

MR. BORLAND : That's fine.

MR, CALLAGHAN : May 1 approach the
witness?

THE COURT: Surely.

MR, CALLAGHAN: If the Court

please, this may take a minute for me to
review,

THE COURT: All right.
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Q Thank you, Doctor?
A Thank you, #r., Callaghan.
Q And those are the only notes of that meeting

that you have, is that correct, Doctor?

A That is correct, Mr. Callaghan.

Q And 1 take it it"s your practice, Doctor, not
to ever tape-record those sessions, is that true?
A That 1s true.

Q All right, And you don't tape-record those

sessions to this day, do you?

A No.

Q Defense medicals, what we call defense
medicals?

A I call them independent medical examinations.

Q All right. were you satisfied, Doctor, and are

you now satisfied that the notes that you took that
day included all that you thought was relevant about
what Wendy told you?

A Yes.

Q All right. And you were aware then, were you
not, that an arthrogram procedure had been performed
a month and a half earlier?

A Yes.

Q Had that been performed to one or both sides of

her jaw?
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A I never saw the copy of the arthrogram, but |
believe 1t was done 0 both sides.
Q And Wendy told you at that visit, January 6,
1987, in fact, that she had just had the arthrograms
perf ormed, didn't she?
A Yes, | have it here,
Q And did she tell you that they were positive
findings on the arthrogram at the time?
A I don't recall that she had, but I would look
at the arthrogram ordinarily anyway.
Q That is not included in your notes as to what
she might have said about the results of the
arthrogram, is it?
A It's implied. Dr. Lewis Ssent ne to University
Hospitals for arthrograms. The next sentence, Lewis
said | need surgery.

If it was a negative arthrogram she
wouldn't need surgery.
Q When she told you that pr. Lewis had talked
about surgery, if you, in fact, believed her, given
your regard for Dr. Lewis, you would nave believed
that she probably would have surgery at that time, is
that not true?
A Pes.

Q Okay. Doctor, tell me if you will, why at
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that tine you ordered a panorex X-ray?
A Well, a panorex X-ray, Mr. Callaghan, will show
the ball and socket. It will show whether there's

any erosion or nibbling away, osteonecrosis of the

bone.

It will show a considerable amount of
the bone.
Q But i1t won"t show anything about the inside of

the temporomandibular, would 1t?

A No.

Q And you knew at that time, based upon your exam
and based upon Wendy's report, again if you believed
her, that the arthrogram had been performed and

Dr. Donald Lewis was considering surgery, isn"t that

true?
A Yes.
Q Were you looking for something else from a

treatment standpoint, having done those panorex
X-rays?

A From a diagnostic standpoint, Mr. Callaghan, if
there is arthritic changes or if there are bone
changes a flattening of the condyle, you can learn a
lot from a panorex.

Q You knew at that time that the panorex X-rays

were not going to show you anything with respect to
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A No.

Q Doctor, isn't it fact when wendy and I visited
you, and we were both there taking notes, that Wendy
told you that she could == she could eat, but that
she had =-- she couldn't bite, couldn't open her mouth

for something big, but that she was eating soft foods

at that time?

A Well, 1 don‘t -- 1 don't take notes,
Mr., Callaghan. If you notice these are all long hand
sentences. It"s a narrative form. It's not just

notes, so I don't have that in nmy notes.

I knew she could not open very wide, so
I think it's implies. It only opened 35 millimeters
at that time.
Q In your report of October 12, 1987, who is this
Dr. Gelb? Is he well known as an authority?
A I have his textbook here, Yes, | believe he's

well known as an authority.

Q And this is the third addition or second
addition?

A Second addition.

Q Has he been he recognized for sometime as an

authority on the subject of temporomandibular joint
dysfunction?

A Yes, he 1s one authority, yes.
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Q And there are other authorities upon whom you
rely? Of course, you testified?

A That 1s correct.

Q And how long has he been recognized as an
authority in your view, Doctor?

A I don't know specifically, #r., Callaghan. I
would think in the '80's, He published tne book in

"85, SO we certainly recognized i1t since then.

Q Had he published before that time?
A I don't know.
Q As a matter of fact, up until three and a half

years ago you had never heard of Dr. Gelb, isn"t that

right, Doctor?

A I have to think about that. I don't know
whether 1 had or not. When his book came out |1
bought it, and that was in '85. | certainly heard of
it then.

Q Dr. Gelb has been recognized as an author, at

least and writing textbooks for a long time before
1985, isn't that true?

A I said I don't know, Mr. Callaghan.

Q So you didn't know him until recently, is that
correct, Doctor?

A I still don't know him.

Q You just knew him as of three years?
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rarely an ideological factor in the cause of
myofascial pain dysfunction, correct?
A Well, 1"0l have to think about that, I didn't
say that in the report.
Q I'm asking to you breakdown the statement,
because it's a general statement, is it not, Doctor?
A Yes,
Q And it includes both myofascial pain
dysfunction and internal derangement and 1 want to
break 1t up.

Are you referring in that statement
more to myofascial pain dysfunction which Wendy did
not have, or are you are referring just as much and
with just as much force to internal derangement?
A in this statement I'm saying that the overall
causes of temporomandibular disoraer, whether It"s
MPD or internal derangement, that of the cverall
causes, | believe that trauma is well down on the
list of common causes
Q All right. And you would further agree that
that statement insofar as it relates to MPD is
irrelevant to Wwendy's case because at the time, at
the time of the writing of the report you already
knew she had internal derangement and that was the

subject of the report and the subject of this case,
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isn't that true?

A I don't break down between MPD and internal
derangement, In this particular case she has

¢ internal derangement.

: Q Do you agree it might not have been a bad idea
¢ when you wrote this, because 1t was specifically

, about this young woman that we night have couched the
: phrase in terms of what she actually had, not another

c dysfunction, MPD?

1c A I don"t really know what you are getting to,

11 but --

1z Q All right. Well, admittedly, Doctor, 1I'm a
12 little clumsy. This is my first TMJ case and please
14 bear with ne.

15 What if the statement read like this,

16 trauma is rarely fisted as one of the prime

07 t+deological factors involved in internal derangement
18 of the temporomandibular joint?

19 Would you agree with that statement?
20 A I probably would agree to that, Mr. Callaghan,
21 yes.

22 Q You would agree also that trauma is rarely

23 related to causing internal derangement, intrinsic
24 trauma?

o5 A Yes, that's correct.




A

Q And‘understand that Dr. Lewis and Dr. Goldberg
completely disagree with you on that topic?
A Yes.
Q And there are many, many others that, in fact,
disagree with you, isn't that so, on that subject?
A No.
Q They are two of the only people that you know
of in this community, in your field of oral and
maxillofacial surgery that disagree with you on that
topic?
A Well, I haven't asked everybody, Mr. Callaghan,
but the ones I asked pretty much agree with me.

I added an appendage to that statement.
Q Please feel free --

A If internal trauma did cause i1t, then why don't

all the Brown's football players have it? wWhy don't

boxers have it, and why 1s it it's restricted so much
7

i, = o e —

to young female sales representatives?
Q 1'1l answer the question for you, but we"ll get
to that in a minute. Ligaments. The ligaments
contained inside the fntracapsuleinside the joint of
the jaw, they are considerably smaller than the
ligaments in the knee and the elbow.

You would agree with that, would you

not?
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A

Q And you said that you have done some surgery,
some TMJ surgery in the past?

A Yes.

Q That wasn't by any means a major component cf
your practice, was it, Doctor?

A No, not in recent years.

Q Now, you answered Mr. Borland's question that,
ves, indeed, you have written reports for his law
firm, Meyers, Hentemann, Stevens, and Rea, and you
have written a number of reports for them over the
years?

And could you estimate approximately
how many reports you have written for ¥Mr. Eorland's
law firm, say in the year 1988, and I'm saying with
respect to personal injury cases of this type, TMJ,
alleged T™4J injuries, if you will?

I"Il1 use the word allege, ana
accidents?

A I have a chart. I could go home and tell you,

but 1 don"t have that accurate of a number here.

Q Would it be more than 20 in the last year?
A Probably might be a close estimate == around
there.

Q And those reports were principally concerned
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with he people who allegedly suffered injuries to the

TMJ joint as a result of accidents, correct?

A Yes.

Q And, likewise, do you also write reports for

the law firm of Gallagher, Sharp, Fulton and Norman?

¢ A Infrequently, but some.
Q And, in addition to writing reports for that
: law firm and Mr. Borland®"s law firm, you write

reports to the clients directly, do you not, before

[{a]

1c the matter gets to court -- so to speak, before a
11 lawsuit 1s filed?

12 A I don't write letters to clients, no.

13 Q Clients of Mr, Borland's law firm, you do not
14 write letters to them?

15 A Mo, I write == no, I write then to the law
16 firms when they ask me, but a number of these, |1

17 have. Yes, there is a causal relationship ana I so

18 report that,

19 And others 1 report no, there is not a
20 causal relationship, I'm sorry. Go ahead.

21 Q You have already told us that you are no

22 stranger to the courtroom?

23 A That 1s true.

24 Q And you are comfortable in this surrounding,

o5 would that be fair to say?
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A Yes.

Q You are quite obviously appearing here live

today, right?

A Yes, it's me.
Q Quits obviously 1 said?
A Yes.

And you"re not on videotape?

Q
A No. Nope, you and ne.

Q lwLike Dr. Lewis and King, in fact, you make it
y

d

our practice to appear live for courtroom testimony,

on't you?
A Yes,
Q Fair to say you enjoy this experience?
A Yes, | think so.
Q You get a kick out of it?
A Better than being home watching television,
yes.
Q When you have to come and testify live, Doctor,

does that pose a problem with your schedule with
patients?
A Well, it does and it doesn't, I'1l1 answer that.

I have a partner and he's really a neat guy, but he's
gone. H takes long vacations, like being in

practice with Marco Polo. He"s dressed and he"s

gone .




But when he"s there we have an
arrangement whereby he takes over the practic gzpuq |

come to court,

He's there now?

Yes,

Yes.

You are pretty much on call if Mr. Borland's

Q
A
E Q He"s there today?
A
Q
1

aw firm or other defense law firms for whom you

(o]

10 work, if they call you, you can pretty much make

11 arrangements to be at the courthouse at a certain
12 time, is that fair?

i3 A Yes, or plaintiffs' attorneys just as well.
14 Q Doctor, come on. What percentage of your

15 testimony 1is for plaintiffs' lawyers?

16 A I write many letters which I don't testify for.
17‘ Q You don't testify for, though?

18 A NO.

19 Q You write plenty of letters for plaintiffs'

20 lawyers, is that what you are telling us?

21 A Yes.

22 Q How many is plenty, Doctor, in the last year?
23 A I would say in the last month, 1 have written
24 three and one will go to court with Paul Raufman,

o5 Q Doctor, you admitted on direct, did you not,




1 that cervical whiplash injury can cause internal

derangement?

3 A Yes.

4 You did say that?

5 A Yas,

6 Q And that®"s been known for sometime, has it not?
7 A

8 Q I mean, you won't find a treatise either by an

9 author that Dr. Goldberg recognizes or that you

10 recognize as an authoritative source that is going to
L sy the opposite, that cervical whiplash trauma does
12: hot cause internal derangement of the

13; temporomandibular joint. That is fair to say, too,
i isn't it?

15 A

17| Q Something that you have read widely?

18 A Yes,

. Q And fact is, cervical whiplash trauma can and
. will cause temporomandibular joint dysfunction

21 specifically internal derangement?

22 A Yes.

23 Q And that's been recognized by pr. Gelb going
24 back to 1985, isn"t that true?

25 A Yes,




[{s)

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

20

Q And frankly, it's been recognize by the

authorities for sometime predating 1985, isn't that

right?
A That may well be,
Q Yeah. So when did you change your mind,

Doctor? When did you finally come to the conclusion
and start to agree with the rest of the experts that
cervical whiplash trauma can, in fact, cause internal
derangement, because that didn't used to be your

opinion, Doctor?

A I suppose around 1985 or so.
Q Oh, 1'11 help you on that. Ana, again forgive
me. With all do respect, I'm here to do justice for

a young lady, and plesase --
THE COURT: Please,
Mr., Callaghan, just questions.
MR, CALLAGHAN : I'm sorry, your
Honor.
THE COURT: And the jury will
disregard counsel®s purpose for being here,
Strike 1t from your mind. It's
stricken from the record.
MR. CALLAGRAN: Thank you, your

Honor. Your Honor. | apologize.

Q I beg the Court's indulgence.
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1 Didn't you at one tine in the last few

2 years, Doctor, testify to the affect that a patient

3 can no sooner suffer a whiplash trauma in the TMJ
4 than you can have a whiplash of a tooth.
5 That was a clever play on words. Do

6 you remember saying that?

7 A I may have.
8 Q So you aid change your mind?
9 A Yes, back In -- there®"s an article that came

10 out in the Journal of Oral Surgery in August of '87.

11 Q I'm aware of that article, Doctecr, and we"ll
12 get to that in a minute. That is also not quoted in

13 Wendy's report.

14 You wrote that report, Wendy's report
15 October 12, 1987, and as | heard you say on direct,
16 you read these journals every night ana that journal
17 came out in early August and that is the Journal of
18 Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, correct?

19 A Yes, there's lot of things I didn't quote in

20 Wendy's report.

21 Q That®"s pretty much the bible to your
22 profession, just as the New England Journal of
23 Medicine 1s to the field of medicine, isn't that

24 right?

25 A No, that is not right, Mr. Callaghan. A bible
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has words which are guaranteed to be true, A journal
has words that are sometimes controversial.

Q It is as the name implies, 1It"s EDE_Journal of
Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery. |It's quite respected

by members of your profession?

A Yes, absolutely .
Q Okay. And that was the first time when this
article came out, 1 take it, this case study of 25

patients who had suffered cervical whiplash trauma
and then developed internal derangement.

That was the first time that you swung
over to the other side that yes, iIn fact, cervical
whiplash trauma extension/flexion injuries can cause
TMJ internal derangement, IS that fair to say?

A I don"t think it -- Mr. Callaghan, | don't
know. This remark about whiplash of the tooth -- you
are quoting me out of context, and 1f I could see the

rest of the letter maybe 1 would say fine.

Q It's not a letter, it"s live testimony.
A Okay. Well, then to answer your question, I
think == 1 don"t know when | was more amenable to

cervical whiplash. 1I'm saying now ==
Q Now, you are more amenable to --
MR. BORLAND: Let him finish his

answer.
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A Yeah. I don't that I was ever directly opposed
to it. I don't know.
Q You certainly don't mention anything about

recognizing the fact that a cervical whiplash injury
can cause internal derangement in Wendy's report and

that was written October 12th of 1987, isn't that

true?
A Mr. Callaghan --
Q Isn't that true, you did not mention anything

about whiplash trauma?
A That"s true, because she didn't report it for
four and a_ﬁalf months.
Q I'mﬁaifing when she reported it, Doctor. |'m
talking about the mechanism that caused the injury,
the type cf accident that she was involved with.

What you do say in your report, though?
A The mechanism that you say caused the injury, |
say doesn't,
Q I'm not talking about causing the injury
necessarily, talking about the accident itself. And
certainly by implication in that report you are
suggesting to the evaluator of your opinion and the
reader of your report that you must suffer a direct

blow to the mandible, to the jaw, to the head, to the

face, because you did say that in your report, did
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lecture at --

Q You are a Clinical Assistant Professsor?

A Yes,

Q And Dr. Goldberg is an Assistant Professor on

the faculty, the teaching faculty?

A He gives lectures. Yes, he's head of the
department.

Q When did you become an Assistant Professor?
A Associate Professor.

Q You are an Associate professor?

A I think 1978.

Q And Associate Professor isS one step blow an

Assistant Professor, isn't that right?

A I don't know.

Q You kncw that, Doctor, do you not. You have a
title?

A I got one title. It"s an Associate Clinical

Professor and 1 have that since '78.
Q How often do you teach at Case Western Reserve

University in the clinic, Doctor?

A Tuesday mornings, once a week.

Q Every Tuesday?

A Yes.

Q And what types of surgery do you teach?
A Primarily dental —--
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Q What?
A Dental, extractions and bone trims and

biopsies, that sort of thing.

Q Extractions of wisdom teeth and how about the
bones? 1 don't quite --

A Bone trim.

Q Bone trim?

A Yes.

Q You do some jaw surgery, too?

A Yes.

Q And that would involve wiring the jaws?

A Talking about the clinic or ny practice?

Q In your practice?

A I do jaw surgery, of course, and jaw fractures

and jaw fractures involves wiring the jaws, yes

Q And you did say that you hold Dr. Lewis and Dr.
Goldberg in very high esteem?

A Yes.

Q You would agree that both Dr. Goldberg and

Dr. Lewis do an extensive amount of THJI surgery?

A I don't know that Dr. Lewis dces
temporomandibular joint surgery. I know Dr. Goldberg
does.

Q Dr. Goldberg does extensive arthroscopic

surgery as well?
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slow pulse, various things tnat happen in the office.

So I give little seminars each Tuesday.

Q Doctor, have you published on the subject of
T™J?
A No, I haven't, Mr. Callaghan, although I have

one in tne process of.

Q The answer IS that you have not?
A No.
Q Save you published in any other areas of

surgery, Doctor?

A Yes.
Q Where would that have been?
A I published on Pagett’'s Disease. I published

on Pentrane anesthesia, on a disease of the kidney
wnich causes jaw lesions. I have had four

publications mentioned.

Q Those have been published in the last ten
years?

A No.

Q You haven't published anything in the last ten
years?

A No.

Q And as a matter of fact, Doctor, you don"t

treat and manage temporomandibular joint patients, do

you?
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A I diagnose them and | see them --
Q Apart from diagnosing them, though, you don"t
actually treat them from the standpoint of their

) coming back on regular basis to see you?

: A No. No, I would refer them if they need

: surgery.

/ Q To a dentist -=— if they didn't == 1 didn't mean
: to interrupt your testimony, but to a periodontist or
¢ dentist, 1isn"t that true?

1C A Yes.

11 Q Now, Doctor, you testified 1 believe that

» you're chief of the department of oral and

13 maxillecfacial surgery at Mary dtount?

14 A That is correct, division of.

15 Q I"m sorry?

16 A I think 1t's a division.

17 Q I think you said that. Does anyone, in fact,

18 perform TMJ surgery at Marymount?

19 A I don't believe s0, nor do I believe it ought
20 to be done --

21 Q I didn't ask that. It's a simple yes or no.

22 THE COURT: Please let the

23 witness finish his answer.

o4 A I don't know that. To my knowledge, 1 don't

25 think anyone does temporomandibular joint surgery at
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Marymcunt, no.

Q When you have a pati nt who requires THJ
surgery, to whom do you refer that patient, because
as you testified, you don't do that surgery yourself?
A I have a feeling that not very many people need
temporomandibular joint open surgery.

Q Let me rephrase that. For those patients whom
i you deem to need surgery of the temporomandibular

f joint, to whom do you send those patients?

1( A I'11 answer that again, Mr. Callaghan. I don"t

1- believe that anyone needs temporomandibular joint

12 surgery unless we are talking about arthroscopic
17 surgery.

14 Arthroscopic, | would refer them to
" Dr. Thomas Henderson at Cleveland HMetro.

1€ Q Cleveland Metro?

17 A Yes.

18 Q So, apart from diagnosis, you do not treat

19 medically any of your, any TMJ patients at the

20 present time?
21 A At the present time, no.
22 Q As a matter of fact, you haven®t 1in the last

23 ten years, isn't that fair to say?

24 A Last seven years.

25 Q And you don't treat these patients surgically
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Q How many years, approximately?

A It would be bef re 73, but we gid 2 lot of
surgery in the '60's,

Q So it's fair to say, is it not, that the state
of the art with respect to the understanding of the
temporomandibular joint, its workings, the way it
functions, the%ié;ology or causes of damage to It,

that that's changed quite a bit since the late '60's?

Is that true?

A That's correct.

Q Did you ever act as a lead surgeon in those
cases?

A Yes,

Q Arnd that was open jaw surgery?

A Yes,

Q Am | correct in understanding, Doctor, that

your qualifications as an expert in this case, have
primarily to do with your wide reading, your
attendance at seminars and your attendance at
lectures, i1s that right?

A No, | see a lot of TMJ patients in the office
as I just explained to you, Mr. Callaghan, and we
talk at great length, yes, talk about treatment,
planning diagnosis, X-rays.

Q You diagnose TMJ patients clinically and --
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y A And radiographically.
2 Q Radiographically?
3 A Yes.
4 Q You don't perform arthrograms?
5 A No.
6 Q By the way, that is a painful procedure, 1isn"t
7 it?
8 A Yes.
9 Q So, let me rephrase it. Given the fact as we
10 know now, you don't surgically treat and manage TMJ
11 patients with internaf derangement?
12 You.don't medically treat them. You
13 don't see them on a regular and continuing basis.
14 All rignt. Notwithstanding, andj:oi understand your
15 gualifications to testify in this case nave to do

16 with your wide reading, your attendance at lectures,

17 attendance at seminars and seeing patients that have
18 TMJ?

19 A Diagnosing them, vyes.

20 Q Okay. But you don't diagnose them through

21 arthrograms?

22 A No.

23 Q Have you ever lectured on the TMJ, other than
24 to lawyers?

25 A Not recently.
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Q You have, in fact, lectured to defense lawyers,
lawyers who represent defendants in these type of
cases, on the subject of TMJ, haven't you?
A I may have. I have been at seminars. Whether
they are all laywers or not ==
Q Okay. Your donor, | beg the Court's
indulgence. (Pause.) I'm trying to find the correct
report and I just found it.

Now, when you did an examination of
Wendy on January 6th of '87, you found Wendy to be a
person with normal dentition, 1isn"t that correct?
A Yes.
Q You didn't find any wear facets that night be
indicative of grinding?
A I didn't find any wear facets A, but, B, |

den't think they are terribly significant.

Q I'm just asking if you found them?
A tNo,
Q Did you at the tine of your examination note

any parafunctional jaw habits of any kind upon your
physical examination of Wendy?

A I don't see how you could note parafunctional
jaw habits during an examination, no.

Q One way would be to see the wear facet. 1

suppose another way would be to see or perceive a
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malocclusion, a bitaproblem, isn't that true?
: A That"s not a parafunctional habit,

Mr., Callaghan,

y Q I'm sorry. It"s caused by a parafunctional
z habit sometimes, is it not?
E In any case, Doctor, you didn't find

7 any malocclusions in Wendy's teeth either, did you?
8 A No.
9 Q Was there anything in her history that she gave

10 you that suggests that she was a stressful or

1 stressed-out person?

12 A NO.

13 Q Now, Doctor, you talked about microtrauma
14 before, 1 tnink, and that is internal --

15 A Yes.

16 Q That is internally induced trauma?

17 A That's correct,

18 Q As opposed to extrinsic trauma?

19 A Yes.

20 Q And as a matter of fact, those microtraumas,

o1 that would be as a result of parafunctional jaw

22 habits, 1 suppose, that involves the stretching of
23 the ligaments inside of the interior capsule of the
o4 joint, doesn®t it?

25 A Yes.
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1 Q And I think I understood you to say with that
2 situation as oppose: to direct extrinsic trauma that
3 they will stretch to a point where eventually pain
4 will occur?

5 a Yes.

6 Q And there is no telling, is there, when the

7 pain will occur with those microtraumas internally?
8 A That®"s correct. I think Dr. Goldberg says it
9 or Lewis says it very well. It goes from a click to

10 a louder click to a click and pop that doesn't hurt,

11 to a pop that does hurt.

12 Q And as a matter of fact, you said, 1 believe on
13 direct, that when the jaw is opened too wide you can
14 stretch tne ligaments inside the capsule.

. Isn't that true, whether you saild it cr
6l not, is it-eee? T 7

17 A Probably true, sure it is.

18 Q And, likewise, with a cervical whiplash injury,
19 can you not stretch the ligaments inside the capsule

20 without causing immediate pain?

21 A No.

22 Q Couldn't they be -- could they, in fact, be
23 stretched minutely by a whiplash trauma?

o4 A Yes, the same way that it could with an

25 uncontrolled yawn, same way with a sneeze and the
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same way it could with eating a Big Mac Burger.
Q And let"s say that it takes, for example, and

this might sound silly to you, Doctor, but bear with

me.
A Okay.,
Q We talked about these little microtraumas

gradually building up where the ligaments are
stretched far enough, 1 take 1t to the point where
they lose their elasticity, their grip, and the disk
would move anteriorly forward, right?

A Yes.

Q And i1t takes so many of those microtraumas to

add up to a big trauma?

A Yes.

Q To enough stretching to accomplish that?

A Yes.

Q Now, is it not possible, Doctor -- am | boring
you? I'm sorry?

A No, keep talking --

Q Is it not possible to have stretching as a

result of cervical whiplash that doesn't tear off the
meniscus, it doesn't rip it apart, but it stretches
it just enough, it stretches those avascular
ligaments on both sides such that you wouldn't

experience pain at the time of the accident or




15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

immediately thereafter?
A If you're talking specifically in this

individual's case or generally --

Q W are talking about == let"s talk about
generally first, then we'll talk about Wendy.
A Generally, it 1s possible for one act to give

internal derangement.

Q Is it possible for one act not to create

internal derangement, but to create a stretching of

the ligaments such that maybe we skipped over about

eight microtraumas, but we will needed another eight

to get to the final trauma, the final slip?

A In the case of wendy she already had internal

derangement, as | explained to you, in 1984. And to

answer your other question, can it skip over, if it

skips over chat far it's a pretty painful injury.
That 1s like opening too wide or that

Is like doing something, oh, my gosh, what did I do

to ny jaw? It hurts.

Q Let"s go ahead, You said that Wendy had

internal derangement because she had clicking back in

18472

A Crepitus, yes.

Q Let's go back to that prior clicking before the

accident, and, Doctor, take a look at your notes
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because I couldn®"t understand it myself in reading
the report why you also report a click in 82 1if
Wendy told you not only did she have a click in '84,
but she had a click in '82?

A Because it says in nmy notes in '82, but then I
read Dr. King's report and it was in '84,

Q Then you, in fact, you include in the report

she had a slight click in *82 and '84>?

A Yes.
8
Q So you made mistakes?
A He may be incorrect. Probably 84, 1It's still

the one episode. She reported it and --
Q And you have read through pr. Ring's

deposition, haven't you?

A I have.

Q The transcript?

A Yes.

Q And you know, as a matter of fact, that his

testimony was that crepitus to him is that the
general dentist meant any form of clicking, and

further, that there were varying degrees of quote,
Ve

¥ - .
crepitus to Dr. King,

You read that, You reviewed that with
Mr. Borland?

A Yes.
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Q But 1 take 1t that you are still standing by

your reliance on what you saw in br. King"s chart,

A Yes.

Q Wwould that clicking without pain, does that
indicate internal derangement?

A Yes.

Q And that internal derangement is a TMJ
dysfunction?

A If you got clicking you have internal
derangement. That is the reason it clicks. It"s
sliding up and running over that little band on that
displaced meniscus.

Q So a lot of pecople, | take it, in the general
populous, generally without any other problems with
their jaws, they have, in fact, have internal
derangement if they have any clicking?

A That is correct. As a matter of fact, I just
attended a seminar where they took 42 normal joints
with people with no history of trauma, no history of
clicking, no history of symptoms, and did an MRI and
sald they had 30 years of internal derangement --
it's a very complicated subject.

Q That 1s a TMJ dysfunction. But if you have an

internal derangement/that, doesn"t necessarily cause
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pain?
A That"s correct.
Q It's when the derangement becomes more

anteriorly displaced that it starts to cause pain,
right?
A I'm sorry. I'm note sure about. I don't know
wnat causes the pain, Other people have it for years
and don't have pain,
Q & some people that have internal derangement
versus others who have their discs farther forward,
isn't that true?
A Right, but I don't know that there's a
correlation between the further forward it gets ana
the more it hurts. I'm not sure of that.
Q Doctor, I don't remember if you would remember
writing this letter, December 5th of 1988. It
doesn't involve this case, but It"s another case,
opinion letter that you wrote to the firm of
Gallagher, Sharp, Fulton and Norman.

And it's written under your heading
there, Doctors Bell and Callahan, December 5th, 1988,
and written to Mr., Singletary. Do you know him?
A Like a pen pale. I have written to him,

Q He"s one of the lawyers at Gallagher's office?

A Okay .
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Q You make a statement on page 11 of that report,
Doctor, and | quote, opposite paragraph number three,
‘and the conclusion --
MR, BORLAND: Excuse me. Has ne
been provided a copy of this?
MR. CALLAGHAN: I'm not sure.
MR. BORLAND: Would you provide
him a copy?
Q And there it says, and | quote, " 1I'm not
convinced that the TMJ disorder includes popping and
clicking alone.”™ You said that, right?
A That's right.
Q Can you explain how that statement 1Is
consistent with your previous statement?
A An awful lot of people, as I explained, have
popping and clicking and 1 think Dr. Goldberg and

Lewis explained that to you, too.

IT you have popping and clicking it's
not necessarily TMJ disorder even though 1t"s an
internal derangement. Even though it's a, it"s an

anatomic finding, that has no significance,

IT you don"t have any pain you don't ==
it's a pathologic existence which does not need
treatment.

Q What you are saying, | gather, is internal
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i derangement is not always a TMJ disorder?

2 A That"s right.

3 Q I asked you before wnether it was a THMJ

4 dysfunction -- same thing?

5 A Okay -

6 Q So what you are saying, is that people can have

7 a slight click as Dr. Goldberg and Dr, Lewis both

a testified -- in many, many people there is.a perfect
NoT
9 synchronization of the TMJ, right?

10 A That's right.

11 Q And many of us, literally speaking, we have
12 internal derangement. In fact, | suppose internal
i3 derangement so slight that you wouldn"t even have a
14 click. Is that fair to say?

15 A I don't know. I don't know.

16 Q Wendy had -- would you now acknowledge, based
17 upon the charts that you reviewed, the arthrogram,

18 and the University Hospitals surgery, she had a very

19 serious internal derangement, did she not?
20 A Yes.
21 Q Yeah. I believe your testimony was earlier
22 that you don't know what causes pain gfter a patient
23 gets -- gets the discs sufficiently anteriorly
24 displaced -- you,know what it's caused by?
on'T

o5 A I know what causes the pains. 1 didn"t say |
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don't know what causes the pain. I don't believe
that any more anteriorly or any more lateral
extension of a disc dislocation necessarily puts one
patient in great pain and another patient goes along
and pays no attention to it,

What causes the pain is the retrodisc.

Q The nerves and the blood vessels are exposed?
A Yes.
Q That is not the only pain tnat you can feel in

the inside of the joint as result of internal
derangement, is it? That is QEIt of the pain?

A NO.

Q isn't it a fact that there is, in addition to
that inflammation, that sensitivity that | think you
are talking about, tne retrodiscal pad, that their
can be of ten, with internal derangement, bleeding
into the joint spaces, and that in turn, along with
the inflamation, can produce scar tissue?

A Yes, that's correct.

Q And the scar tissue itself isn't painful and

neither is the process of the formation of the scar

painful, isn't that right?
A Yes.
Q The scar tissue becomes painful, sufficiently

painful, when enough scar tissue develops such that




45 |

1 movement of the jaw, microtears, if you will, tear up

2 the adhesions and cause pain in the case of an

3 internal derangement?

4 A But the disc is still coming from the disc

5 area.

6 Q But that takes some time to develop after the

7 disc has gone forward in some cases, doesn't It?

8 A Correct, but 1t starts with the click as 1

9 stated, |
10 Q Let's go back to --

11 THE COURT: Let's take a

12 recess, Ladies and gentlemen, you are not to
13 aiscuss this case among yourselves. Do not

14 permit anyone to discuss it with you or in vour
15 presence, nor form any opinion concerning this
16 case.

17

18 (Thereupon, a short recess was had.)

19

20 Q Doctor, do you have your report in hand,

21 October 12, 19872
22 A I do.
23 Q I direct your attention to the top of the page,

24 actually about a quarter of the way down, at the end

o5 of the first paragraph?
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surgery with her.

These are Dr. Brooks®" woras that you

are paraphrasing, 1 take it, right?

A That's correct.

Q " He makes no other comment about her alleged TMJ
complaints, nor apparently did Mrs. Perin bring any
complaint to Dr., Brooks"™ at the tine of her
examination on April 13, 1987 of TMJ dysfunction or
complaine s /

Now, Doctor, this, as we know, this
report was written October 12 of '87, at a time wnen
you knew the surgery had already been performed on
Wendy, right?

A Yes,

Q And she had a serious enough internal
derangement problem to necessitate surgery and that
surgery gave her relief certainly by the time you had
written this report?

A Yes.

Q You knew that because the surgery was
accomplished in June of 19877

A Yes.

Q There are two things that concern me, Doctor.
He makes no other comment about her alleged TMJ

,—————

complaints.'
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Why did you say alleged. Doctor? At

that point, Doctor, you knew as well as we know today
b o
they weren't alleged. She had complaints and it\NaSLZA*

real injuries that necessitated surgery,
Why did you say allege?
A I don"t know why 1 said alleged in that

particular instance. She had symptoms when 1 saw

her.

Q Do you think that statement might help the
defendant?

A No.

Q You didn't think 1t was going to help the

plaintiff. You didn't put it in there for that
reason.

Why did you think it was significant,
Doctor, that Dr, Brooks or that Wendy didn't bring
any complaint of TMJ disorder to Dr. Brooks in April
of 1987 when, in fact, she was going there for the
sole purpose of being examined orthopedically by a
doctor she never expected to see again and by a
doctor who was hired by the other side in this case?
A Because, Mr, Callaghan, if you see an
orthopedic surgeon you would talk about
temporomandibular joints. The orthopedic surgeon

deal with joints, and 1 don't know --
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1 Q But she had --

2 THE COURT: Just a moment,

3 complete your answer.

4 THE WITNESS: They will with

5 joints, and very frequently if you have a joint
6 disturbance I would tell a joint doctor about
7 it.

8 Q Doctor, she had, as you paraphrase it here, she

9 had, indeed discussed it with Dr. Brooks and told him
10 about the history, but that she didn't complain to
11 him at that tine and apparently you thought that was

12 significant, isn't that so?

13 A Can 1 answer that by finding Dr. Brooks'
14 letter? 1 think the second -- she did not apparently
15 bring any complaint to Dr. Brooks at the time of her

16 examination in April 13, 1987.

17 Q Yeah?

18 A It's not particularly significant. It's just
19 part of the report. This is one of the things |1

20 found from reading the report.

21 There is no other basic underlying
22 significance.
23 Q Because It's reasonable to assume now,

24 appreciating Wendy®"s history, that in April of '87,

25 just a month and a half or month and three quarters
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before the surgery that she was having problems with
her internal derangement, with her TMJ at that time,

That would be a fair statement?

A Yes, but what 1 find unusual about that, most
T™MJ patients I see will tell everybody; tell the
cleaning lady running the vacuum sweeper. It's

attached a great deal of --
Q Maybe she's not a complainer and she knew she
was going to have surgery?
A That may well be.
Q And didn't necessarily trust an orthopedic
surgeon whom she never met and only there for one
occasion ana going there for advice on ner THJ when
she was treating with Dr. Lewis --
MR. BORLAND: Are you testifving
or is that a question?
THE COURT: The objection is
sustained,
A It's not a -~
THE COURT: The objection 1is
sustained, Doctor.
Q Do you believe pr. King now when he says, as he
did in his testimony, that Wendy had a slight click
in February of 1984 and not that grating and grinding

which you interpreted that crepitus notation to mean?
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A I simply don't know the answer to that.
Dr. King writes such sparse notes. I don't say that
in a pejorative manner. He said crepitus.

If 1 take that in context really only 1
meant a slight click. Then you ought to have written
that down but, in fact, he didn't.

Q But you had an opportunity to review his
testimony, right?

A Yes.

Q As a matter of fact, that is one of the
advantages of testifying live here today rather than

on videotape, because these transcripts have beer,

available since August and you have had a lot of
opportunity to review then with #r, Borland, isn't
that a fact?

A I don't think 1 saw the transcripts until last

Wednesday or last Thursday.

Q Normally --
A They may have been available --
Q Normally, of course, had they been testifying

live, there would have been a separation of witnesses
and you would not have been able to view their
testimony had they been?

MR. BORLAND: Objection. What is

the point of all this?
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symtomatology, and need f£or a bite plane
approximately one and a half years prior to her
moving vehicle coIHsion?'/

A Yes.,

Q Right. Do you have a copy of Dr. Ring"s chart

in your file, Doctor, and if you do --

A Yes.

Q May | see 1t? May we approach the bench?
(Thereupon, Plaintiff's Exhibits 11 and
12 were marked for identification.)

Q Doctor, handing you what"s beer, marked for

identification as Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 11, can
you identify that?

A Yes, that is the same == | have the photocopy.
This is a photocopy. It is —— shall I explain to the
jury what it his?

Q Is that Dr. King's chart?

A Yes.

Q May 1| see your copy? These copies seem to be
different, Doctor. In fact, on ny copy crepitus is
very light. Isn't it marked, 2-84 and bite plane is
very dark, isn't it?

A Yes.




1 Q

Ny

2 A

8 Q

10 €or us?

11 A

12 course, | can't tell that. I'm just given a copy and

13 it looks like the same handwriting and same type of

bit more bold, désn't it?

4 notations on this one side of the page | presume they

5 were done at the same time.

7 with a different pen. I can't tell,

9 Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 12, can you identify that

But on yours, crepitus appears to be quite a

Yes, correct, but since those are the only two

I nave found since tnat they were done

Handing you now what's been marked as

Why sure. One is done in red, and this, of

14 pen and since they are only twe notations it's

{5 logical to asume bite plane and crepitus have

16 something to do with one another.

17 Q

18 me refer you to the front page of that report,

19 Doctor. That is the clinical record?

20 A Yes,

21 Q And does yours look the same as mine other than
22 there were a few extra visits? 1I'm handing you the
23 original now.

24 A Yes,

25 Q

| see. Yours came out darker than mine, Let

Yours cuts off there?




A Yes.
Q And 1 refer you to about line number se ¢gp

where it says one, 4-85,

‘ A Yes.

: Q Bite plane seated?

: A Yes.

/ Q Look at my original, if you would, Plaintiff's

E Exhibit Number 127?

E A Okay,
1c Q All right. Is there any other writing, and
1 that is opposite January of '86. Is there any other

12 writing on that, the front of the chart in black, I

13 think, similar to this --

14 A Yes,

15 Q Isn't that a felt tip pen? Does it appear to
16 be?

17 A It's really not nmy field of expertise. I don't
18 know. I think 1t"s a felt tip.

19 Q Let me stop the inquiry, I'm not trying to

20 jump on you. We see bite plane on the chart on the

21 diagrammatic, do we not?
22 A Yes.
23 Q And with the same pen, January of '86, bite

24 plane seated, right?

25 A Yes.
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Q So we can conclude, logically, I think, you

would agree with me, that the bite plane was written

here at the same time that the bite plane was seated

in '86?

A Yes.

Q Not in February of '84-?

A That is true.

Q So your gﬁéerence to the fact that you said

that you must infer from that hat Dr. King detect a

1 need for a bite plane, you would back off on that

1 statement now, wouldn't you?

1 A Well, vyes. I already explained that to you,
T Mr. Callaghan, that I see it in only two entries on
12 one page. And 1 presume they would have made them
ic the same day. It's reasonable.

1€ Q And, Doctor, going back to your visit of

17 January of '87, at that time were you concerned how
18 minor or slight the click that Dr. Ring talks about,
19 how that had progressed from the time of February of
20 '84 to the time of her automobile accident in August

1| of '85%2

22 A Was | concerned?
23 Q Were you interested to know the progression or
24 lack of progression of that click between the time it

25 was noted by Dr. King in February of *84 to how it




was doing by the time of the accident in August of
1857

A Not specifically. I'm not, Mr Callaghan, and
1'11 tell you, because Dr. King told Miss Williams -~
she told us she had a click. He said, quote, don't
worry about it. So I presume it would been redundant
for her to tell him again about it.

Q I'm asking whether you thought it was important
for you to know, in assessing the causation,

evaluating the causation or lack of causation of this

accident to wendy's internal derangement, and by
that, wouldn't it have been important for you to !
ingquire at tne time of the examination, hey, Wendy, |
has that click been getting worse cr is it the sane

or is it not present at all since the time it was

noted by Dr, King in 19842

A Yes, that might have been worthwhile.
Q As a matter of fact, you never did ask tnat
guestion?
A Well, 1 asked as many questions as | could,
Mr. Callaghan. I don't know wnether 1 asked that one
or not.

MR, CALLAGHAN : Thank you, Doctor.

I have nothing further.

=== 000 ==~
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ORAL AMD MAXILLOFACIAL SURGERY

Southgate Medical Arts Building
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November 7, 1994

Law Offices of

Richard J. Hartman

The 113 $t. Clair Building
Suite 525

Cleveland, Ohio 44114

Attention; Mr. William H. Rider
Re: Marie A. Liapis
Dear Mzr. Rider:

Please be advised that I have had adequate opportunity for oral, regional, radiographic, and
historical examination on the above-named patient, Mrs. Marie Liapis, a 50-year-old
homemaker. The examination took place in my office on 10/7/94. The examination was in
regard to alleged injuries suffered by Mrs. Liapis to her temporomandibular jeints as the
result of a moving vehicle accident. Please be further advised of the following information
which I believe to be germane to these alleged injuries.

l. History as related by the patient, with some marginal input provided by her husband
who accompanied her to the office examination.

Mrs. Liapis states that she was involved I an MVA which took place on May 9,
1991. She was the driver, and she was restrained with both a lap and a shoulder
harness. At the time of the examination, according to Mrs. Liapis, she suffered
injuries to her neck, shoulder, and back. She denies having suffered any cuts,
lacerations, or bruises. She denies having struck any object on the inside of the car.
She stated, "Oh, no, I didn't strike anything because | had a seat belt on.™

She drove home, but later presented herself to the Emergency Room at Fairview Park
Hospital. Har chief complaints at that facility were those of "back, shoulder, neck,
and lower back." I asked Mrs. Liapis at that juncture if she was having any jaw
discomfort or jaw symptoms. She stated that she was not. This observation is
corroborated by the Emergency Room Report, wherein there is absolutely no mention
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made of any jaw or facial pain or jaw injury. Later she went to the office of her
physician, Dr. Fitch, M.D. She recommended physical therapy. Her TMIs were
asymptomatic at that time.

More than two and one-haif months late, according to the patient, she made her first
presentation to Dentist James Moodt vis-a-vis putative TMJ complaints. Mrs. Liapis
states that she went there because "My jaws were clicking when I opened wide." |
pointed out to Mrs. Liapis that clicking in the TM joints, by itself, does not constitute
a pathologic condition. This s because it occurs in approximately 62% of the adult
population at any given time, Nevertheless, she states that Dr. Moodt made a bite
splint for her which she wore during slesping hours thereafter. | asked if it gave her
any relief. She stated that she was getting somewnhat better gradually, and that the
clicking began to improve. However, she adds at that juncture, he problem was not
only clicking but "numbness.” The numbness was, apparently, of the left face.
Inasmuch as numbness is not, and has never been, either a sign or a symptom of
temporomandibularjoint disorder, I remain somewhat uncertain vis-a-vis the
provenance of this alleged numbness.

On November 19, 1993 Mrs. Liapis was involved in a second MVA. Once again she
was restrained with a seat belt and a chest and lap harness. Onee again she denies
having struck any object on the inside of the automobile, nor did she suffer any cuts,
lacerations, or bruises. However, she returned to Dr. Fitch, who told her that she
had aggravated her injury. Dr.Moodt told her the same thing. She believes that
from that time to the present she has had no evidence of progress, but father that her
jaw symptoms, now expanded to include pain upon the act of chewing and headaches,
has deteriorated. She adds that her jaw is stable as long as she is able to wear the
bite splint. At the time of my examination, Mrs. Liapis was planning to have
arthroscopicjaw surgery, Since my examination of Mrs. Liapis, she has had bilateral
arthroscopic surgery done on her temporomandibular joints.

Review of the Charts and Records.

Inasmuch as this is a voluminous portfolio, let me present a brief distillate of salient
products from the portfolio which I believe to be germane.

A. Mrs. Liapis was involved in a previous MY A which took place in September,
1986. It left her with a residual and persistent dull ache of the right shoulder,
sharp shooting pain in the left cervical area, and chronic neck pain, She was
being treated as late as 7/87 for this disorder. The MVA also produced right
shoulder numbness, chronic neck pain, and difficulty in driving an automobile,
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She also lists in a medical history questionnaire, "joint pain related to car
accident” in March, 1987. The site of the joint & not disclosed.

B. The patient has had headaches since at least 1987, and in her prior charts at St.
John and West Shore Hospital at a weight control clinic, headaches are Listed as
one of her physical problems on virtually every one of her charts throughout the
Spring of 1987. She listed the headaches at one time as being sinus related, and
she eventually had headaches which were so severe that they were awakening her
at night. She described the headaches to ENT Physician, Dr. Howard Levine, as
being In the right face and right chesk area. Again, | believe that these arose
from the paranasal sinuses, but that did not turn out to be the case. The
examination by Dr, Levine and x-rays of the paranasal sinuses on 1/6/93 shoned
normal sinus architecture.

Dr. Fitch noted on March 20, 1992 that the patient had pain in her face, and on

12/8/92, she complained of "ears hurt" and on 1/6/93, the patient complained that

she had "facial pain and ears hurting.” The patient complained of facial. pain

frequently after her two MVAs. However, it is evident that: the patient

aoplained of facial pain many tines before her MVAs. She attributed her pain

before the MV As to sinusitis. However, there is good evidence that she did not

have sinusitis. Further, pain in the ears is not diagnostic nor suggestive of

sinusitis. Rather, pain in the ears is strongly suggestive of chronic

temporomandibular joint disorder. It is my suspicion that Mrs. Liapis had this

disorder prior to her MVAs.

C. At the time of her presentation to the Emergency Room at Fairview Park P
Hospital, Mrs. Liapis made no complaints vis-a-vis temporomandibular joint Jo
dysfunction or pain. Nor, in fact, did she do so for another two and one-half {ﬂ/
months after her MVA. Clicking was noted In June, but with no other” 5. tip
A diagnosis made by attending physician, Dr. Fitch, on 6/18/93 potes specifically
That her two diagnoses were only those of acute cervical strain and back pain.
that was more than one month after her MVA, and she was not having any T™MJ |
symptoms, Further, the entire volume of charts from her physical therapists,

Health South and Fairview Park Physical Therapy, makes a great number of
entries in regard to back, shoulder, and neck problems. There was virtually no
mention of jaw or TMI disorder throughout the entire charting.

D. An MRI examination taken in April, 1994, shows normal TM discs, and normal
temporomandibularjoint apparatus, This finding Is supported by tomograms
taken by Dr, Moodt in July of 1993.
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Equally significant, | believe, is an observation made by Dr. Moodt in a letter ©
Dr. Murphy on 7/27/94. Therein he comments on his own tomograms. He
states, "There is N0 question that these radiographs do suggest the development of
some arthritic change within the temporomandibular joints which certainly would
have predated her initial accident." | believe that observation is accurate. I
believe that she had osteoarthritic changes and TMJ symptoms which predated her
initial MVA Dby a tong time.

.  Oral, Regional, and Radiographic Examination.

As was previously mentioned, this took place in my office on 10/7/94. | believe the
following observations are germane to Mrs. Liapis' current jaw status.

A.

Her panorex x-rays show a suggestion of ostecarthritic changes in both TM joints.
Panorex x-rays are not definitve, however, and | believe that Dr. Moodt's
tomograms are more significant. They also show osteoarthritic changes which
predated her first MVA.

. When she opened, Mrs. Liapis was able to reach an interincisive aperture of 38

millimeters, This IS within normal limits for females. Nevertheless, she
presented so muck guarding that | was unable to record any other measurements.

When | palpated her muscles of mastication, she had slight tenderness In the left
masseter, but no other notable palpable muscle tenderness.

. When | listened for clicks, | was unable to hear any. However, she declined to

open again wide enough so that | could hear any clicks.

Nevertheless, although I was unable to complete my examination satisfactorily, it
IS my opinion that Mrs. Liapis was, indeed, having same TMJ pain on the left
side at the time of the examination.

. Two weeks after my examination Wwes completed, Mrs. Liapis underwent surgery

performed by Dr. Michael Hauser at Mount Sinai Hospital. His findings at the
time of surgery were definitive. He discovered that the patient had significant
anatomic internal derangements Of both TMJs, including displaced discs and
adhesions within the superior joint space, It was his view that the medical history
indicates that the history and progression of her symptoms are consistent with
traumatically induced TMJ internal derangement.
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Discussion.

Temporomandibular disorder (TMD) is a rather common disease. It occurs in
females in a ratio of nine to one over males. Dr. Samuel Dworkin, writing in the

Iournal of Prostheric Dentistry, 72:29-38, 1994, agrees that TMD is a chronic pain
condition, sharing major characteristics of other common chronic pain conditions. He
adds that these patients can be differentiated, not on the basis of observable organic
pathology, but according D their ability to cope adequately with their condition. He
states, "The majority of chronic TMD patients cope well, but a small proportion, the
psychosocially dysfunction segment, shows a higher rate of depression and health care
use." I believe this is true, and further that Mrs, Liapis fails under the aegis of a
chronic pain patient. | believe Mrs. Liapis has had TMD symptoms and signs for a
long time prior to either one of her MVAs, and that they went undiagnosed. She has
had facial pain, ear pain, headaches, and pain behind the eyes, all of which are
suggestive of TMD, dating back 1 her charts at least six years prior to either one of
her MVA:s,

| believe further that the primary Source of injury and irritation to he discs and to her
internal joint structures, including the production of adhesions, arises primarily and
exclusively from her longstanding degenerative joint disease. This degenerativejoint
disease, which | note in concert with Dr. Moodt, IS noted on his tomograms, and is a
matter which he specified I his letter to Dr. Murphy in which he states, "There IS nu
question that these radiographs do suggest the development of arthritic ctiange within
the temporomandibular joints which certainly would have predated her initial
accident." | believe that is true as well. 1 believe the degenerative joint disease was
the result of arthritic changes within the joint, and these arthritic bond edges irritated
and damaged the internal structure of the TM joint and produced disc displacement.
All of this took place long before either one of her MV As.

Drs, Moodt, Murphy, and Hauser all believe that there is a causal relationship which
exists between Mrs. Liapis' two MY As and her eventual treatments for TMD . |
believe, on the other hand, that there is no compelling support for such a cause-and-
effect relationship, My doubts vis-a-vis causality arise from two separate and distinct
areas.

There is good evidentiary material before me which suggests that Mrs. Ligois had
chronic T™MD prior to either one of her MVAs. She had a great number of symptoms
which strongly suggest, as a cluster, a diagnosis of TMD. These include previously
mentioned episodes of facial pain, ear pain, pain behind the eyes, and headaches.
However, after her first MVA, she did not report any TMD problems. It was not
until two and one-half months later that she first sought treatment. Specifically, one
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month afterwards, her physician, Dr. Fitch, did not listjaw problems in her summary
of symptoms. Two and one-half months IS a long time between an episode of trauma
and the first seeking of treatment. She had no symptoms during those two and one-
half months. After all, injury to ajaw joint is rather like injury to any other joint.
When you hurt it, it hurts right away and it hurts very badly, When we see football
players on our TV screens who injure one Of their joints, perhaps the elbow, or the
knee, Or the ankle, they roil about on the field in a great deal of distress. They do
not report it or seek treatment two and one-half months later. | believe the time
hiatus makes a causal relationship somewhat unlikely.

b
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A bigger problem, in my dental opinion, in making a causal relationship arises from
the fact that neither of Mrs. Liapis' MVAs produced any direct trauma. She was
restrained I both instances, and she struck nothing on the inside of the car, Common
wisdom tells me that you cannot injure temporomandibular joints in the absence of
direct trauma. There is a plethora of research articles which have been published In
the last few years which supports this avenue of common wisdom. 1 will only cite a
few.

An internationaily known expert, Dz, Daniel Laskin, writing in the Journal of Oral
and Maxillofacial SUrgery, Vel. 50, pp. 825-828, in an article entitled "Incidence of
TMI Symptoms Following Whiplash Injury® that he designed a series including 155
patients to analyze the development if any, of TMJ pain and dysfunction following
cervical musculoskeletal injury (whiplash). The study revealed, "No clinical evidence
of a S|gn|f|cant relationship between cervical muscu]oskeletal injury and the :
development of TMJ dysfunction

;«%’z&

suggested that wmplash can produce disc and disc ligament trauma from indirect .

hyper-propulsmn injury (jawlash)," However, the authors have found "traumanc

tearing ¢ f the attachment in direct injuries to be exceptionally rare." The authors
add, “We find it difficult to accept trauma-induced disc tears . . . in the absence of
direct trauma to the jaws, and suspect a preexisting problem wheqx

1 Finally. without belaborine the subiest. Goldbere writing in the Journal of Cranial
M_@_QLDQ_QLM 4,131, 1990, states that his studies indicate/that anterior disc.
displacement is an unlikely consequence of a motor vehicle accxdent without a -
preexisting history of dysfunction. S/
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Finally, as a tangential observation, let me point out that the article by Dr. Laskin
which states that indirect injury in the absence direct injury does not cause TMD was
published by Dr. Moodt in his office newsletter and mailed to me.

As for Mrs. Liapis’ prognosis, | believe that it is favorable. | base this opinion On
Dr. Hauser’s preliminary report. Arthroscopic surgeries on TMJs have a very high
rate of success, however. | would lightly disagres with Dr. Hauser i two other
minor areas. | do not believe that Mrs. Liapis’ injuries are permanent. TMD is a
self-limiting disorder, Jaw joints have a favorable quality of remodeling, and it has
been my experience that most patients become symptom free after arthroscopy and
sufficient physical therapy. Finally, | believe that under no circumstance will Mrs.
Liapis ever need orthodontic treatment to correct her longstanding malocclusion.
Orthodontics is not a treatment for tamporomandibular joint disorder.

V. Summary.

Based on the evidentiary material before me, it is my dental opinion that it is difficult
to make a reasonable cause-and-effect relationship between Mrs. Liapis’ two MVAS
and her longstanding bout with temporomandibular joint disorder, 1 believe her long-
standing osteoarthritic changes which predated her first MVA caused her internal
derangement. Further, | believe that In the absence of direct trauma, the likelihood of
either one of the two MVAs producing internal derangements is slight. Finally, the
time hiatus between her first MVA and her first seeking treatment, two and one-half
months, during which time she had no TMJ symptoms, makes a causal relationship
somewhat unlikely.

If you have further need of information, please so advise me.

Sincerely,

Lonette K] Gt 0

Kenneth R. Callahan, D.D.S.
F.I.C.D.,F.A.C.D,, O.X.U.
Associate Clinical Professor of
Qal and Maxillofacial Surgery
Case Western Reserve University
Diplomate, American Board of
KRC:mjm Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons
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DRS. BELL AND CALLAHAN. INC.

PRACTICE LIMITED TO ORAL SURGERY

SOUTMGATE MEDICAL ARTS BUILDING
CLKVLLANO. OHRIO 44137

TeLgrPHONE 4738-2122

December 5, 1988

Gallagher, Sharp, Fulton & Norman
Sixth Floor - Bulkley Building
1501 Eucl id Avenue

Playhouse Square

Cleveland, Ohio 44115

Attention: M Gary Singletary

Re: Kathleen A. Rowan v. David Kermode
Your File No. 900-88557

Dear Mr. Singletary:

Please be advised that | have had adequate opportunity for oral,
regional, radiographic, and historical examination on the above-
named patient, Ms. Kathleen Rowan, a 22-year-old female book-
keeper. The examination took place in my office on December 2,
1988, The examination was in regard to alleged injuries suffer?.?
by Ms Rowan to her temporomandibular joints and to her upper
front tooth as the result of a moving vehicle collision. Please
be further advised of the following information which | believe to
be germane to these alleged injuries.

l. History as presented by the patient.

Ms Rowan presented herself to ny office for examination
together with her attorney, David Mast, Esq., an attorney
with the firm of Spangenberg. M Mast tape recorded our
conversation. Ms Rowan states that she was in apparent
good health until June 1, 1986, on which date she was in-
volved in a moving vehicle collision which took place on
Ford Road in Madison, Ohio. M Rowan states that she was
the front seat passenger, and she was not wearing a seat
belt. In regard to direct injuries to her person at the
time of the MVA, Ms. Rowan states that "I struck the side of
my left face with the dashbc}',‘a {dy' She denies having
suffered anK lacerations, to her jaws or to her teeth. She
alleges rather that she had a corneal laceration. She
states further that she was conveyed by ambulance to the
Emergency Room at the Northeast Ohio Hospital. In the
Emergency Room of that facility, she had multiple X-rays
taken. | asked Ms Rowan specifically which X-rays were
taken, and she stated, "Practically ny whole body." She was
discharged thereafter to her home.
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Upon arriving at her home, Ms. Rowan realized that she
chipped her left upper central incisor tooth. The chip is
on the incisal angle, and it is not very extensive. Ms.
Rowan alleges that she had jaw complaints at the time of her
presentation to the Emergency Room, and that she informed
the Emergency Room doctor about it. She also alleges that
jaw X-rays were taken (she thinks) at the time of her pre-
sentation to the Emergency Room. For the record, let me
point out that the Emergency Room report for the Northeast
Ohio General Hospital does not bear out these allegations.
Rather, that document states only that MS. Rowan complained
of pain in the shoulders, neck, face, right eye, and right
side of the forehead. The Emergency Room physician made a
final diagnosis of corneal abrasion, and multiple contu-
sions. There 1S no recorded evidence of any complaints vis-
a-vis temporomandibular joint pain nor jaw pain. The
radiologist's report from that same hospital on the same day
indicates that, indeed, multiple X-rays were taken which
included bilateral ribs, skull, cervical spine, clavicles,
and knee. However, the radiology request states that the
patient's clinical history "complains of pain in the
shoulders, neck, eye, and knee." Again, there iS no
evidence of complaints vis-a-vis TMJ problems, nor was any
X-ray taken of the jaws nor were there any X-rays taken of
the temporomandibular joints.

Ms. Rowan continues in her history, stating that it was
suggested by the Emergency Room doctor that she see her
dentist, and that she put eye cream in her left eye. The
following Monday, according to Ms. Rowan, she went to her
dentist, Dr. William Koenig, DDS Ms. Rowan alleges that
Dr. Koenig filed down the sharp edges of the chipped front
tooth but did not place a filling in it. She gives as his
reason the fact that she did not have up front money to pay
for it. Apparently, NMs. Rowan made no complaints to Dr.
Koenig in regard to her temporomandibular joint problem.

Next, Ms. Rowan states that she saw her family physician,

Dr. Smith, M She states that she saw him only for her
neck and for her back. She quotes him as telling her that
"the neck could hurt for a year.” However, he did not treat
her. MS. Rowan continues in her history, stating that she
eventually went to see another dentist, Dr Kenneth
Kosovich, DDS She states that she saw Dr. Kosovich in
February of 1987. She states quite specifically that the
reason she saw Dr. Kosovich in February of 1987 was "because
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| wanted my tooth fixed." However, instead of fixing her
tooth, Dr. Kosovich told her, in his view, she had temporo-
mandibular joint problems. At this juncture, | asked Ms.
Rowan specifically 1¥,indeed, she had gone to see Dr.
Kosovich in regard to any temporomandibular joint
complaints. She answered, "No.. .1l didn't think | had
temporomandibular joint problems." She adds that he only
discovered this malady by doing an examination. Inasmuch as
it has been ny experience over many years to note the fact
that patients usually discover temporomandibular joint pain
and discomfiture well before they go to a dentist to tell
about it, | was, of course, baffled by Dr. Kosovich's unusual
discovery of TMJ symptoms in a patient who did not complain
of any TMJ symptoms. |, therefore, asked Ms. Rowan what it
was that Dr. Kosovich discovered. She stated, "I had a
popping noise .. .| told him about the popping. . . he
did something with my neck . . . he could tell where it was
hurting.” She adds that her neck was still hurting and her
shoulders were still hurting at that time (February of
1987). Ms. Rowan adds that Dr. Kosovich then made her a
bite splint or bite guard. He also referred her to an
osteopathic physician, Dr. Thomas, DO Dr. Thomas,
according to Ms. Rowan, "put electrodes and wires and hot
packs on my back and shoulders." Again | asked MSs. Rowan if
she had told Dr. Koenig about the clicking of her jaw, at
the time of her appointment with him. She answered, "No,
that was only two days after the accident.”

Ms. Rowan continued in her history, alleging that "Dr.
Kosovich made the splint for me because | was chewing more
on one side than the other, and it would switch back and
forth.”” This observation appears to me to be incorrect. On
her first visit to Dr. Kosovich, February 28, 1987, in
answer to an interrogatory which Ms. Rowan filled out
herself, she answered the question, "Do you chew on only one
side of your mouth?" by indicating "No." Apparently,
however, at her first visit to Dr. Kosovich, Ms. Rowan was
not having TMJ pain symptoms. She adds, "It was screwing up
my ears . . .it popped my ears shut." However, when |
asked Ms. Rowan when the popping began "to pop her ears
shut,” she stated, "I'd have to say after the splint had
been made and put in nmy mouth.” Nevertheless, even though
it apparently caused popping, Ms. Rowan alleges that she
wore the bite splint twenty-four hours a day. She states
that she chewed through three of them. She adds, "l chewed
right through them.” Inasmuch as this indicates some degree
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of clenching, a parafunctional habit which is very common,
and frequently a causative factor in temporomandibular
joint dysfunction, | asked Ms. Rowan if she, indeed, was a
clencher. She denied doing so. She adds that sometime
thereafter, when the popping and clicking were continuing,
she was referred by Br. Kosovich to an oral surgeon, Dr.
Karl Schneider, DDS This was not until March of 1988,
however. The time lag was explained by Ms. Rowan, "l had a
kid in between." Ms. Rowan adds that Dr. Schneider also
made a hard plastic bite splint for her, and then another
one after that, the reason being "l chewed right through
it

In regard to current symptoms, MS. Rowan states only that
she has headaches, jaw aches (only on the left), her ears
pop, but she is able to eat a normal diet. She adds,
"certain foods give me a problem . . . when you're wearing a
splint, you can't chew gun and you can't eat a steak."”

Review of the Charts and Records.

1 The Emergency Room report from Northeast Ohio General
Hospital dated 6/1/86 indicates, indeed, that Ms. Rowan
did visit that facility on that date. Her chief
complaint, however, as previously noted, was that of
"pain shoulders, neck, face, and right eye” There is
no mention of temporomandibular joint nor jaw
discomfort. There is a note that she had a redness of
the right side of the forehead, and an abrasion of the
upper right eyelid. She also had tenderness of the
muscle on the right neck, and tenderness over the
shoulders and the clavicle. Her final diagnosis was
that of corneal abrasion and multiple contusions.
Again, the X-ray report indicates that her chief
complaints to the radiologist were those of pain in the
shoulders, neck, right eye, and right knee. No X-rays
were taken of the jaw or of the temporomandibular joint,
nor is there any mention made of temporomandibular joint
or jaw distress.

2. Letters and Chart from Dr. William Koenig, DDS Dr.
Koenig's chart indicates that his office only saw Ms.
Rowan on two occasions in 1983, and not at all in 1984
and 1985. Two days after her MVA, on 6/3/86, Dr. Koenig
notes on his chart that Tooth #9 (the upper left central
incisor) had an incisal angle fracture. Dr. Koenig
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suggested bonding the tooth in order to repair it. He
did not do the bonding procedure, which he quotes as
between $65 and $75, because, as Ms. Rowan had suggested
in her history, she did not have the money up front.
However, the chart makes no mention of any injury to the
jaws or the temporomandibular joints.

A letter from Dr. Koenig dated February 6, 1987 re-
structures his statements on the chart, and negates the
notion of putting a crown on the tooth. Dr. Koenig also
believes that permanent nerve damage to the tooth is
highly unlikely because of the small amount of external
damage to the tooth. Again, Dr. Koenig makes no mention
of any temporomandibular joint injury, nor any temporo-
mandibular joint discomfiture, two days after her MVA
Instead, he talks only about the tooth. | presume this
is because Ms. Rowan talked only about the tooth.
However, Dr. Koenig suggested to Ms. Rowan that she was
informed to return to his office if she suffered any
more discomfort, which she did not do.

Charts and Letter from Dr. E David Thomas, D0, dated
November 9, 1987. Herein, Dr. Thomas indicates in his
chart that he did not see Ms. Rowan for the first time
until March 7, 1987. That i s more than nine months
after her MVA Dr. Thomas treated Ms. Rowan with
various physical therapies. In his letter, Dr. Thomas
states that Ms. Rowan's chief complaints consisted in
neck and back pain throughout the entire spine, head-
aches, and pain when chewing her food, with the center
of her pain being in the neck region. Dr. Thomas notes
that MS. Rowan had headaches after the accident, but he
also notes that she had headaches prior to the accident.
Dr. Thomas' treatments were on an interim basis, and
they extended for approximately fifteen months.

Charts and Letters of Dr. Kenneth Kosovich, DDS The
charts indicate that Dr. Kosovich did not see Ms. Rowan
until February 28, 1987. Again, that is nine months
after her MVA. In her interrogatories, which she filled
out herself, she states that she was having pain in and
around the ears. She does not agree that she had popping
or clicking or snapping noises in her jaws. |n answer

to the question about discomfort about the time of the
examination, Ms. Rowan stated that it was only
"occasionally."”
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Hereafter, Dr. Kosovich's charts turn into a murky
cryptogram. |t is, in my opinion, an attempt to
dissemble. To begin with, Dr. Kosovich states in the
same paragraph that the patient i s "four months
pregnant" and at the same time, and on the same day, he
took a full series of dental X-rays. It is my under-
standing that taking a full set of dental X-rays,
subjecting the patient to a great deal of radiation
exposure when the patient is four months pregnant, is
considered by most of us to be unacceptable practice.

It is my belief that a full set of dental X-rays on a
patient who is four months pregnant is a dental
oxymoron. Furthermore, Dr. Kosovich presents the same
chart twice. The original chart is legible enough to be
understood. Nevertheless, he has transcribed the second
chart, in which he has added a great deal of after-the-
fact information. It is my belief that that process is
called "doctoring up a chart" and | believe it is not
acceptable in any way. What he has done is add some
perjorative and advocational comments to a chart which
has already been finished. The comments were put in on
March 8, 1988, and they refer to a charting which has
already been completed on March 17, 1987. 1 simply
reject that misuse of a patient's chart, not because |
believe it to be inappropriate, but rather because |
believe it to be unlawful. Ore cannot doctor up a chart
after the fact. You can't erase from it, you can't
scratch things out, and you can't add onto it. |
should, therefore, like to approach the original chart
as it stands.

In the original chart as it stands, Dr. Kosovich notes
that he saw the patient for the first time on February
28, 1987. He did a number of silver fillings and
temporary fillings on Ms Rowan between February 28,
1987 and October 8, 1987. H notes that the patient wes
having pain, presumably in a tooth because he did a pulp
capping on the tooth (Tooth #14), and then he noted that
the patient had a possible sinus infection. H did not
note that the patient had any tempormandibular joint
complaints, nor does he make any observations in regard
to jaw or TM discomfiture or injury. In fact, he does
not mention TMJ in his chart until October 8, 1987. At
this time he notes that there is TMJ, left symptoms.
But the reader should be mindful of the fact that in

all the eight months that Or, Kosovich treated Ms
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Rowan, he had her mouth open on a great number of
occasions very widely in order to fill the teeth. She
did not complain of TMJ symptoms at that time. She only
complained of sinusitis. 1t was not until October 1987,
sixteen months after her MVA, that he notes any TMJ
symptoms. On 3/8/88, in his addendum, Dr. Kosovich
states that he now believes that the pain that the
patient suffered was due to a malocclusion from the TMJ.
I mean, give me a break! Charts are charts, and we will
take them as they are written.

A letter from Dr. Kosovich dated January 22, 1988 tells
uUs among other things, that Dr. Kosovich does "Gentle
Family Dentistry." This is in apparent contra-
distinction to the rest of us, who either do "Brutal
Family Dentistry" or perhaps do "Gentle Orphans,

Widows, Illegitimate Children Dentistry.” The rest of
the letter is made up of, in ny belief, mostly hyperbole.
Dr. Kosovich states that it is not feasible to determine
a definitive diagnosis atthistime. .."dueto the
complexity of the damage." He states that he cannot
even determine the type of TMJ damage until he restores
all the teeth. Yes, that's what it says. He has to
restore the teeth in order to tell what kind of TMJ
damage the patient has. Then he will "use additional
techniques to hone in on a specific diagnosis." As a
tangential comment, itis my belief that Dr. Kosovich
also ought to "hone in™ on what's wrong with taking a
full set of dental X-rays on a patient who is four
months pregnant, and what's wrong with doctoring up
one's charts after the facts.

Oral, Regional, and Radiographic Examination.

As was previously mentioned, this examination took place in
my office on December 2, 1988. | believe the following
physical findings are germane to Ms. Rowan's current oral
and temporomandibular joint status.

1

Ms. Rowan's panorex X-rays exhibit a normal jaw with
normal dentition.  She has seven dental restorations,
which appear to be well done. Her temporomandibular
joints appear to be normal in every way, at least on
this panorex X-ray. There is no evidence of mottling of
the bone in either the ball or the socket, and there is
no evidence of arthritic changes Or bone spurs.
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2. Ms Rowan's upﬁer left central incisor still has the
incisal edge shirred off. In 2-1/2 years, after a long
series of dental treatments, she has still not had the
incisive bonding placed on the tooth. The chip fracture
of the upper left central incisor is, of course,
accident related.

3. Ms. Rowan, who, incidentally, presented herself as most
cooperative and pleasant throughout our examination, is
able to open her mouth to an interincisive aperture of
40 millimeters. This is considered to be within the
normal limits of incisive aperture. Further, she does
so with no pain whatsoever. However, she adds that "it
bothers ny jaw when | have to open it for a long time."

4. She is able to move her jaws into lateral excursion from
side to side to a width of approximately 10 millimeters,
with no difficulty and with o pain.

5. On first examination with a stethoscope, | could hear
no click on either the right or the left temporoman-
dibular joints. However, when | listened again, | could
hear a click on the closing phase on the left side.

6. Ms. Rowan has a remarkable dental malocclusion. While |
realize that she has completed three years of ortho-
dontic treatment, the treatment has apparently produced
a certain degree of failure. She has what is called a
Class I1 bite, with an overjet of 3 millimeters. She
has, in addition to that, an anterior overbite.

7. These dental mal occl usions, or dental occlusal dishar-
monies, are frequent producers of temporomandibular joint
dysfunction.

8. At the time of my examination at least, and with the
exception of sometime clicking on the opening phase on
the left side, Ms. Rowan presents no acute signs or
symptoms of temporomandibul ar joint disease whatever. |
believe that she has had it in the past but, right now,
she is relatively symptom free.
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V.

Discussion.

1.

Temporomandibul ar joint disease, more recently termed
temporomandibular disorder or TMD, othertimes referred
to by a subset of acronyms such MPD (myofacial pain
dysfunction), or PDS (pain dysfunction syndromeg is a
remarkably common disease. |t affects approximately 30%
of all Americans, according to some reports, but
according to a rew report issued by the ADA Workshop on
T™ Disorders, November 1, 1988 recently published, 1t
occurs in up to 84%of all adult Americans. |t affects
females to the ratio of 9 to 1 over males, and it
affects younﬁ females to a ratio of 5 to 1 over older
females. While there is still some controversy over the
exact etiology and causative factors involved in TMD,
there is a general consensus among authors and lecturers
on the subject that the primary causes are dental dis-
harmonies and dental malocclusions, and the para-
functional habit of biting. Cathy Rowan fits the

erfect silhouette of the chronic TMD sufferer. She

as a remarkable dental mal occlusion, consisting in an
anterior Class 11 relationship, overjet, and overbite.
She is in the right age group, the right sex group, and
of course, while Ms Rowan denies clenching, Dr.
Kosovich's records refer not only to her malocclusion on
his entry for 3/8/88, but on 2/19/88 he notes (his
words) "Cathy had chewed and ground through the soft
splint." So | must presume that, indeed, she does
clench and grind her teeth. She stated in her history
that she chewed through Dr. Carl Schneider's splint as
well. 1t is my sincere dental opinion that if, indeed,
Ms. Rowan has TMJ disease, it arises from these two
factors.

While it is occasionally possible to suffer an injury to
the temporomandibular joint as the result of a moving
vehicle collision or other external trauma, it has been
my experience over the past thirty-three years of
treating patients with TMD, that it is a rare instance.
However, when it does happen, it has also been my
experience to observe the fact that when a patient
injures him/herself via external traumatic injury, the
patient suffers pain and discomfort immediately. H or
she sits on the bench in the Emergency Room, and is in
exquisite pain. This observation of mine 1S reinforced
by an excellent author, Dr. Harold Gelb, DMD., in his
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textbook Clinical Management of Head, Neck, and TMJ Pain
and Dysfunction (1985), page 376. Dr. Gelb states in
regard to acute trauma to the TMJ, the following, "These
conditions (TMJ injuries) may be diagnosed clinically by
noting severe tenderness or exquisite pain in the area
of the joint with minimal pressure on chin, and severe to
complete 1imitation in mandibular opening. Of course,
after all, TMJ injury is very much like any other joint
injury, perhaps the elbow or the ankle. That is, if you
injure it, it hurts very badly and it hurts right away.
We have all seen the scenario on our television screens
where a football player injures one of his joints,
perhaps the elbow, or the knee, or the ankle (Bernie
Kosar i s a good example several months ago when he
injured his elbow.) Such a player does not report the
injury nine months later. No, rather, he lies down on
the turf in a great deal of pain, and he rolls about,
and the viewing audience, and the coaches, and the
trainer all know that this man has hurt one of his
joints. This is true of TMJ injuries as well. If you
hurt it, it hurts right away and it hurts vzry badly.

Now then, consider that MS. Rowan did not report to the
Emergency Room of any TMJ injury or any TMJ pain.

What's more, when she had plenty of time to consider it,
she reported to Dr. Koenig's office in 48 hours. She
reported to him only the injury to her tooth. She did
not make any complaints vis-a-vis TMJ injury.

In an article in the Journal of ©rat amdt Maxillofacial
Surgery, which is frequently quoted, cervical extension-
flexion injury (whiplash) and internal derangement of
the temporomandibular joint, Weinberg, et al., page 653,
February 1987, the authors state that it is possible to
have a whiplash type of injury to the muscles of tne
temporomandibular joint. However, they state rather
definitively that when they discovered this whiplash
type of injury, "the onset of symptoms occurred
immediately after the accident, on the day of the
accident, or within one or two days. . .." To me,
nine months later is simply out of the question.
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More significantly, to me, is the fact that, indeed,
when Ms. Rowan went to Dr. Kosovich February 28, 1987,
she did not go because of any TMJ complaints. Rather,
she went to talk about her fractured tooth. In the
previously cited recent text TMJ Update, A Special
Report, the ADA Workshop on ™ Disorders, November 1,

, the authors state that a definition of TMD ought
to exclude specifically certain types of TMJ disorders.
Specifically excluded according to Dr. Maonl in this
ﬁaper Is "single signs such as joint clicking, which
ave not been identified by the patient as a symptom.”
That exclusion, it is ny belief, includes Kathleen
Rowan. After all, she did not discover the TMJ, Dr.
Kosovich discovered it for her.

| an not convinced that TMJ d sease or TMJ disorder
includes popping and clicking alone. It is my under-
standing that that is all Ms. Rowen presented when she
went to see Dr Kosovich. In fact, in her history, Ms
Rowan states specifically tha "the poning of her ears
shut" began sometime after the bite splint treatment by
Dr. Kosovich. Surely then, that symptom cannot be
attributed to the MvA.

In regard to Ms. Rowan's fractured anterior tooth, it
remains fractured. 1t is not going to turn dark or
discolor or die, but it needs to be repaired. The cost
of such is approximately $75.00. | believe this is
accident related.

In regard to Ms. Rowan's current and future status, it
is ny belief that, at least on the day of my exam-
ination, she did not present any remarkable TM)
symptoms. | feel sorry for Ms. Rowan inasmuch as her
orthodontic treatment has, indeed, relapsed, and it
would be nice if she had new orthodontic bands placed.
This, of course, is not going to happen, but | believe
that if she could wear the bite splint on occasion, she
will have normal ™M) function.



